
MATANUSKA-SUSITNA BOROUGH Fish & Wildlife Commission 
350 E Dahlia Ave., Palmer, Alaska 99645 

CHAIRPERSON 
Peter Probasco 

VICE CHAIR 
Andy Couch 

MSB STAFF 
Paul Clark 

BOARD MEMBERS 
Michael Bowles 
Marty Van Diest 

Gabe Kitter 
Bill Gamble 

Kendra Zamzow 
Ex officio: Jim Sykes 

Special Meeting 
January 29, 2026 

Meeting Packet – Table of Contents 

Pg. = Item: 

• 1 = Meeting Agenda
• 3 = BOF Proposal 186
• 6 = Draft 26-27 BOF Workplan
• 9 = 2024 BOF After Action Review
• 25 = NMFS Cook Inlet Salmon Prelim. SAFE Report

Assembly Chambers, DSJ Bldg, 350 E. Dahlia Ave., Palmer, AK 99645 
Remote Participation: See attached agenda on p. 1 

Planning and Land Use Department - Planning Division 
http://www.matsugov.us  planning@matsugov.us 

http://www.matsugov.us/
http://www.matsugov.us/
mailto:planning@matsugov.us


MATANUSKA-SUSITNA BOROUGH 
MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 

AGENDA 

Edna Devries, Mayor 

Peter Probasco – Chair 
Andy Couch – Vice Chair 
Gabriel Kitter 
Bill Gamble 
Kendra Zamzow 
Michael Bowles 
Vacant – Seat 3/Hunting 
Marty Van Diest 
Jim Sykes – Ex officio member 

Paul Clark – Staff  

Michael Brown, Borough Manager 

PLANNING & LAND USE DEPARTMENT 
Alex Strawn, Planning & Land Use Director 

Jason Ortiz, Planning & Land Use Deputy Director 
Wade Long, Development Services Manager 

Fred Wagner, Platting Officer 

Assembly Chambers 
Dorothy Swanda Jones Building 

350 E. Dahlia Avenue, Palmer 

January 29, 2026 
SPECIAL MEETING 

4:00 p.m. 

Ways to participate in MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission meetings: 

IN-PERSON: Back of Assembly Chambers, DSJ Building 

REMOTE PARTICIPATION VIA MICROSOFT TEAMS: 
Join on your computer: 
Join the meeting now 
Meeting ID: 230 143 734 385 99
Passcode: NH3zj6oT

Or call in (audio only): 
1-907-290-7880
Phone Conference ID: 268 436 425#

I. CALL TO ORDER

II. ROLL CALL – DETERMINATION OF QUORUM

III. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

IV. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

V. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION (three minutes per person)

VI. STAFF/AGENCY REPORTS & PRESENTATIONS

A. Staff Report
B. Chair’s Report

VII. ITEMS OF BUSINESS

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 1 of 154

https://mcas-proxyweb.mcas.ms/certificate-checker?login=false&originalUrl=https%3A%2F%2Fteams.microsoft.com.mcas.ms%2Fl%2Fmeetup-join%2F19%253ameeting_MDdmNmI0NjgtYjczYi00YWNmLWJiZTEtZjNkNzYxNGY3ZGIx%2540thread.v2%2F0%3Fcontext%3D%257b%2522Tid%2522%253a%2522870c68b8-580c-4b1b-a27e-a44623e37916%2522%252c%2522Oid%2522%253a%25227bbb7a16-ab93-4ca2-99a2-af48275bd5b2%2522%257d%26McasTsid%3D20893&McasCSRF=1ea067d23baaa326592a097ae5760e17d6564727ab9e307077fdbc445c269552


A. Board of Fisheries 2026 March Meeting Strategy
1. Comments (Deadline – March 2, 2026)
2. FWC Member Level of Participation & Tasks
3. Mayor’s Response to Governor’s Letter

B. 2026-27 Board of Fisheries UCI Cycle
1. Goals, Tasks, Budget
2. Proposals (Deadline – April 10, 2026)

C. North Pacific Fisheries Management Council Meetings
1. Feb 2-11, 8:00am -5:00pm, Anchorage – NPFMC Meetings – Comments due by

Jan 30 at 12:00pm AKST 

(a) Feb 2-3 – NPFMC SSC – Cook Inlet salmon harvest specifications
(b) Feb 10 at 1:00pm – NPFMC Council Meeting - Cook Inlet salmon harvest

         specifications 

VIII. MEMBER COMMENTS (10 minutes)

IX. NEXT MEETING DATE: Regular Meeting, February 12, 4:00-6:00 PM

X. ADJOURNMENT

Disabled persons needing reasonable accommodation in order to participate at a MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 
Meeting should contact the borough ADA Coordinator at 861-8432 at least one week in advance of the meeting. 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 2 of 154

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/index.cfm?adfg=fisheriesboard.meetinginfo&date=03-17-2026&meeting=anchorage
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2025-2026/2026-2027_call.pdf
https://www.npfmc.org/current-or-next-council-meeting/


PROPOSAL 186 
5 AAC 21.353 Central District Drift Gillnet Fishery Management Plan. 
Reduce commercial salmon fishing opportunity with drift gillnet gear in the Central District of the 
Cook Inlet Area, as follows: 

Please consider permanently reducing the amount of State cow Alaska managed commercial drift 
gillnet fishing allowed in the middle of Upper Cook inlet beyond the Expanded Kenai, Expanded 
Kasilof, and Anchor Point Sections, — Specifically when larger abundances of Kenai River 
sockeye allow additional days and hours of drift gillnet harvest— those added harvest 
opportunities should avoid the primary mixed stocks areas, and only occur closer to the rivers 
where the abundant stocks are bound, as follows: 

(c) From July 9 through July 15,
(2) at run strengths greater than 2.3000 sockeye to the Kenai River the commissioner may,

by emergency order, open one additional 12-hour fishing period in the Expanded Kenai and 
Expanded Kasilof Section of the Upper Subdistrict [AND DRIFT GILLNET AREA 1]; 
(d). From July 16 through July 31. 

(2) at run strengths of 2,300,000 - 4,600,000 sockeye salmon to the Kenai River,
(A) fishing during all [ONE] regular 12-hour fishing periods per week will be

restricted to oneor more of the following sections and areas: 
(i). Expanded Kenai Section of the Upper Subdistrict; 
(ii) Expanded Kasilof Section of the Upper Subdistrict;
(iii) Anchor Point Section of the Lower Subdistrict;
[(IV) DRIFT GILLNET AREA 1;]

(B) Additional fishing time under this subsection is allowed only in one or more of the following
sections: Expanded Kenai, Expanded Kasilof, Anchor Point. [THE REMAINING WEEKLY 12-
HOUR REGULAR FISHING PERIOD WILL BE RESTRICTED TO ONE OR MORE OF THE

FOLLOWING SECTIONS: 
(I) EXPANDED KENAI SECTION;
(II) EXPANDED KASILOF SECTION;
(III) ANCHOR POINT SECTION;]

(3) at run strengths greater than 4,600,000 sockeye salmon to the Kenai River, all [ONE] regular
12-hour fishing periods per week will be restricted to the Expanded Kenai, Expanded Kasilof, and
Anchor Point Sections;

(B) Additional fishing time under this subsection is allowed only in one or more of the following
sections: Expanded Kenai, Expanded Kasilof, Anchor Point. [THE REMAINING WEEKLY 12-
HOUR REGULAR FISHING PERIOD WIL BE RESTRICTED TO ONE OR MORE OF THE
FOLLOWING SECTIONS:

(I) EXPANDED KENAI SECTION;
(II) Expanded KASILOF SECTION;
(III) ANCHOR POINT SECTION;]

What is the issue you would like the board to address and why? Since the federal EEZ drift 
gillnet fishery has started, allowing 200 fathoms of gillnet per drift permit holder, and the State of 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 3 of 154



Alaska has attempted to harvest a larger portion of the remaining harvestable surplus Kasilof and 
Kenai River sockeye salmon offshore in the drift gillnet fishery, there has been a resulting shortage 
of Northern bound coho salmon to meet spawning escapement needs and to provide reasonable 
harvest opportunities for subsistence, commercial, sport, and personal use needs in Northern Cook 
Inlet. Those shortages have resulted in consistent sport fishing restrictions and closures — in 
particular at Deshka River and Little Susitna River over the past three years — however even with 
these inriver restrictions and closures too many salmon had already been harvested and not enough 
remained to even come close to ADF&G established coho salmon SEGs at both rivers. Adaptive 
Management Changes need to be made. A more precautionary management approach as outlined 
in 5 AAC 39.222 is clearly required. 

Did you develop your proposal in coordination with others, or with your local Fish and Game 
Advisory Committee? Explain.  

PROPOSED BY: Andy Couch                                                                    (ACR-F26-005) 
******************************************************************************  

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 4 of 154



Mayor Edna DeVries 
Matanuska-Susitna Borough 
350 East Dahlia Avenue 
Palmer, AK 99645 
[Date] 

The Honorable Mike Dunleavy 
Governor of Alaska 
Office of the Governor 
P.O. Box 110001 
Juneau, AK 99811-0001 

Honorable Governor Dunleavy, 

Thank you for your November 14 letter regarding Chinook and coho salmon returns to the 
Mat-Su Borough and Northern Cook Inlet. I appreciate your acknowledgment of the 
concerns raised by the Borough and your direction to the Alaska Department of Fish and 
Game to continue improving assessment efforts in these areas. I am also grateful for the 
consistent communication that ADF&G leadership, managers, and biologists have 
maintained with the Mat-Su Borough Fish and Wildlife Commission. Their ongoing dialogue 
is essential for identifying challenges, gathering and analyzing data, and finding workable 
strategies to support sustainable salmon populations. 

The Borough is eager to continue this collaboration, starting with the Board of Fisheries 
meeting in March. Our Commission members are prepared to be engaged in the discussion 
on Proposal 186 and the management topics identified in your letter regarding the Upper 
Cook Inlet Drift Net Fishery, with the goal of strengthening the efficacy of the conservation 
corridor in Cook Inlet.  Other matters important to the Mat-Su Borough include exploring 
the need to list several Chinook and coho salmon stocks at the appropriate stock of concern 
level based on the criteria for listing stocks, as well as maintaining the investment in fish 
weirs & sonar, genetic testing, and staffing needed to inform management actions, even in 
the face of challenging state budgets. Reflecting the importance of salmon to our way of life, 
the Mat-Su Borough Assembly identified fishery management actions as our top legislative 
priority this year. 

We continue to be optimistic that our shared commitment to sustainable fisheries 
management and constructive engagement will result in the return of stronger salmon 
populations to Mat-Su fisheries. Thank you again for your continued support and for 
recognizing the importance of sustainable fisheries to our residents. 

Sincerely, 

Edna DeVries 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 5 of 154



2026-27 FWC Board of Fisheries Strategy 

2024 FWC Goals – What changes need to be made to the goals?  

1 Long-term salmon conservation and protection of salmon habitat. 
  
2 Maintain and enhance the Conservation Corridor in the drift gillnet fishery management plan. 
  
3 Clarify or strengthen conservative management practices which provide protection for current and formerly identified   

Stocks of Concern. 
 

4 Increase inriver returns of coho and sockeye salmon to Northern Cook Inlet river systems. 
  
5 Adjust existing king salmon management plans and strategies to more adequately address conservation concerns for 

king salmon returning to Northern Cook Inlet drainages. 
  
6 Maintain or extend personal use fishing opportunity for Alaskan residents fishing Northern Cook Inlet drainages. 
 

FWC Workplan (based on workplan for 2024 Board of Fisheries) 

2026-27 MSB Fish & Wildlife Commission Workplan       
Task FWC / MSB 

Lead 
Target 
Date 

Budget Notes Note 2 Complete Date 

Develop Initial FWC Goals 
 

Nov 2025 - 
Jan 2026 

   
January 2026 

Secure FWC BOF Budget 
for FY26-27 

 
Dec 2025 - 
Feb 2026 

 
Currently (as of 
Nov 26) - 
$22,378 

Submit budget 
request to MSB 
Planning. 

Final request to 
MSB by 2/1/26 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 6 of 154



Identify Allied Groups 
 

Dec 2025 – 
Feb 2026 

 
Participate in 
Salmon 
Symposium 

 
Ongoing 

Develop FWC Strategy for 
off-cycle ACR 

 
Dec 2025 - 
Feb 2026 

    

Participate in BOF Session   March 2026 $2,000        
Develop FWC BOF 
Proposals 

 
Dec 2025 – 
March 2026 

   
Submit April 10, 
2026 

Submit FWC BOF 
Proposals 

  NLT April 
10, 2026 

      10-Apr-26 

Extend BOF Project Funds 
 

April – May 
2026 

 
Current project 
expires 
6/30/26. 

Extend current 
project to 
6/30/27. 

6/1/2026 

BOF Member Education 
 

Summer 
2026 

 
Develop/offer 
field trips for 
BOF and 
stakeholders 

Involve Salmon 
Habitat 
Partnership 

Aug-26 

FWC BOF Media 
Development 

 
June 2026 – 
Feb. 2027 

 
Update 
Booklet / 
Website / 
StoryMap 

Need a FWC 
Work Group 
Prior to 6/1/26 

Dec-26 

BOF Consultant Hired 
 

July – Aug. 
2026 

$30,000  RFP 
developed, 
publicized, 
consultant 
hired. 

 
Aug-26 

BOF Outreach Plan 
 

Develop 
June – Oct. 
2026; 
Deliver 

 
Identify key 
target groups; 
develop 
content 
messaging; 

Print Social 
media 
Presentations 
Workshops 

Ongoing 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 7 of 154



Nov. 2026-
Feb. 2027 

deliver 
program. 

ID Partners for sharing 
onsite resources 

 
Summer 
2026 

 
Onsite meeting 
room; printing 
resources. 

 
May 2026 FWC 
reso in support. 

BOF Proposal Review & 
Recommendations 

 
Fall 2026 

 
FWC 
Committee 

 
Dec. 2026 

FWC Participates in BOF 
Work Session 

 
October 
28-29, 
2026 

  Anchorage - 
Egan Civic & 
Convention 
Center 

ACRs, cycle 
organization, 
Stocks of 
Concern 

 

FWC Participates in BOF 
Meeting 

  March 4-15, 
2027 

$5,000  Anchorage - 
Egan Civic & 
Convention 
Center 

    

After Action Summary 
Report 

 
Mar-27 

 
Internal report Community 

summary 
press releases 

Mar-27 

Strategy Reflection for 
BOF ‘27 

 
April – May 
2027 

   
May-27 

Next Steps 
   

Communicate 
successes, 
gratitude for 
partner 
support, 
identify next 
steps, 
implementing 
changes 

  

 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 8 of 154



MSBFWC After Action Report 2024 – Alaska Board of Fisheries Page 1 

Matanuska Susitna Borough 

Fish and Wildlife Commission 

Alaska Board of Fisheries 

After Action Report 

February 23 – March 6, 2024 

Submitted by 

Mac Minard 

Northwestern Natural Resource Consultants 

I. Meeting Outcome Goals

There were six Matanuska Susitna Borough Fish Wildlife Commission (MSBFWC) 

outcome goals identified for the 2024 Board of Fish Meeting: 

1) Long-term salmon conservation and protection of salmon habitat.

2) Maintain and enhance the Conservation Corridor in the drift gillnet fishery

management plan.

3) Clarify or strengthen conservative management practices which provide

protection for current and formerly identified Stocks of Concern.

4) Increase inriver returns of coho and sockeye salmon to Northern Cook Inlet

systems.

5) Adjust existing king salmon management plan and strategies to more

adequately address conservation concerns for king salmon returning to

Northern Cook Inlet drainages.

6) Maintain or extend Personal Use fishing opportunity for Alaskan residents

fishing Northern Cook Inlet drainages.

II. Preparations and Coordination

In the months prior to the Board of Fish meeting the nine-member Mat/Su Borough Fish 

and Wildlife Commission (MSBFWC) met frequently to produce the central document It 

Takes Fish to Make Fish. This 30-page publication effectively communicated the 

Borough concerns, priorities and prior accomplishments.  Many positive comments were 

received from Board of Fish members and staff as to the utility of this publication. 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 9 of 154



MSBFWC After Action Report 2024 – Alaska Board of Fisheries Page 2 

Additionally, the fisheries work group and Commission reviewed and developed 

positions for proposals affecting fisheries within the Mat Su.  Leadership was provided 

by the Commission members, included several former ADF&G biologists and managers, 

two former Board of Fisheries members, professional fishing guides and individuals with 

local expertise.   Coordination with Department staff was included to the extent we were 

able and open discussions with Board of Fisheries members and Kenai River Sportfishing 

Association (KRSA) helped to inform the preparations by the MSBFWC.   These position 

statements were sent in as part of the on time written comments to the Board. 

Planning and Communications 

1) On July 28, 2023 Stefen Hinman produced a Facebook post Fish Creek Personal

Use.

This post reached an extraordinary number of folks (79k) and elevated the important 

results of the MSBFWC in the Board process.   Follow up reporting such as this makes 

the actions at prior Board of Fish meetings relevant and elevates the importance of 

coming meetings.   

2) A report titled It Takes Fish to Make Fish 2024 was developed as a supporting

document for the Mat Su by Commission members and staff members Maija 
DiSalvo and Stefan Hinman.

The graphics, maps and easy to use format made the material highly effective and was 

used extensively in preparing Board members and Commission members concerning the 

issues and priorities.  This report tells a compelling story that established a level of 

understanding and credibility necessary to gain Board of Fish member’s confidence. 

Planning and Public Affairs staff deserve a great deal of credit for their work. This 

booklet was distributed as part of the on-time comments and as PC 138.   

3) MSBFWC members Larry Engel, Pete Probasco and chairman Andy Couch all

participated in several separate radio programs informing the public about the

upcoming Board of Fisheries meeting and issues.

4) Three members of the MSBFWC along with borough staff hosted a public

workshop on participation in the Board of Fisheries process days prior to the state

of the Upper Cook Inlet Board of Fish meeting.

5) Commission members Howard Delo and Andy Couch also published informative

newspaper columns prior to the start of the Upper Cook Inlet Board of Fish

meeting.

6) On social media, prior to the Board of Fisheries Meeting, Public Affairs staff

posted an explanation characterizing why residents should go and participate. A

copy of the Mat Su fish booklet was posted drawing in 11k people (That’s high).

7) A letter from the MSBFWC was drafted and sent to Board chairman John Wood

requesting the order of the Group work be arranged in such a manner as to allow

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 10 of 154

https://www.facebook.com/MatSuBorough/posts/pfbid02VZbn2etcJq1nHKDGXowR6kNVUKjwAPrNLiijhbMpUaBhVA5g2px7TLZxNz3FKHaVl
https://www.facebook.com/MatSuBorough/posts/pfbid02VZbn2etcJq1nHKDGXowR6kNVUKjwAPrNLiijhbMpUaBhVA5g2px7TLZxNz3FKHaVl


MSBFWC After Action Report 2024 – Alaska Board of Fisheries Page 3 
 

big issues like the Federal EEZ and Central District Drift Fishery could be 

discussed and deliberated on prior to moving into the Northen District issues.  

That letter, although sent, never reached the chairman, and no action or response 

on his part was taken.   

 

8) Report detailing the Matanuska Susitna positions on Board of Fisheries proposals. 

This 17-page report (Comments on 2024 Upper Cook Inlet Finfish Proposals) was 

submitted as part of the on time public comments and was entered as RC025 and 

RC026. 

 

9) Andy Couch, Mat-Su Anglers Column for Friday February 23, 2024 

Frontiersman. 

 

10) Mac Minard participated in a radio interview on 650am Kenai Radio with Amy 

Demboski on 2.26.24 at 7:30 am. 

 

11) Mac Minard briefed the Alaskan Legislative Sportsmen’s Caucus via zoom at the 

request of the caucus advisory council on 2.28.24 at 5:15 pm. 

 

12) Stefan Hinman worked diligently to document the Board meeting with video 

snippets which were posted to the Borough Facebook page. His included seven 

different posts on BOF, including a link to our Booklet for people to thumb 

through virtually.  In addition all the testimony given by the FWC was posted to 

the social media platform. 

 

13) Submission of Record Copies (RCs). The MSBFWC submitted thirteen RCs that 

supported positions and informed the Board on issues.  These were generally 

prepared by Mac Minard and submitted on behalf of the Commission.  We also 

supported the Matanuska Valley AC when the positions were aligned with the 

Commission.  RCs may be viewed in Appendix A. 

 

All documents for the meeting may be viewed here: 

 

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/index.cfm?adfg=fisheriesboard.meetinginfo&date=02-23-

2024&meeting=anchorage  

 

 

III. Logistics: Work Room and Equipment: 

 

MSBFWC combined logistical efforts with KRSA.  Access to internet, copy machine, 

and office space made for an optimal mix of support and coordinated interaction.   This 

coordinated effort reduced costs for both organizations and increased our overall 

effectiveness.   

 

Housing the Commission and Borough members and Advisory Committee 

representatives at both the Captain Cook and Hilton was also a strong tactical decision.  

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 11 of 154

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-2024/uci/rcs/RC025_Matanuska-Sustina_Borough_F&W_Commission_Comments_on_2024_UCI_Finfish_Proposals%20-%20Copy.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-2024/uci/rcs/RC026_Matanuska-Sustina_Borough_F&W_Commission_Comments_on_2024_UCI_Finfish_Proposals.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/index.cfm?adfg=fisheriesboard.meetinginfo&date=02-23-2024&meeting=anchorage
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/index.cfm?adfg=fisheriesboard.meetinginfo&date=02-23-2024&meeting=anchorage


MSBFWC After Action Report 2024 – Alaska Board of Fisheries Page 4 

Board of Fish members stay in both locations and we had reasonable access to Board 

members in the mornings and evenings.  Regular contact provided for effective 

communications. 

The combined effort produced an organized and coordinated approach that proved to be 

a formidable coalition and served the interests of the in-river users of the Mat-Su 

Borough very well. 

Kenai River Sportfishing Association (KRSA) covered all of Mac Minard’s lodging and 

incidentals at the Captain Cook Hotel and saved the Borough significantly.   

IV. Live Streaming and Email Updates

While the Board was in session, visitors were able to stream live audio from the Board of 

Fisheries home page.  This afforded real time opportunity to remain up to date while 

operating in a remote location.   

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=oEb1p1JBPh8 

At the close of each day, Mac Minard, Maija DiSalvo, and/or members of the Mat Su 

Committee would outline the content of a daily email summary sent to members of the 

Borough Assembly and members of the Mat Su FWC as well as interested parties.  These 

updates kept those who were unable to attend the meeting informed and up to date.  

Approximately 11 Commission Updates were issued throughout the run up to and during 

the meeting.  

V. Staff Reports

ADF&G presented two written reports and seven oral reports.  Presentations were made 

in timely manner.  Some published products were available only after the cut off for 

public comment making the timeframe for us to incorporate into our comments 

impossible.  Reports can be viewed here: 

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/index.cfm?adfg=fisheriesboard.meetinginfo&date=02-23-

2024&meeting=anchorage 

VI. Public Testimony Saturday - Sunday

Approximately 106 people (153 testified in 2020) testified before the Board of Fisheries.  

Matanuska Susitna Borough coordinated nine presentations/testimonies and submitted 14 

RCs as supporting documentation during this phase of the meeting.  When coupled with 

KRSA testimony we produced a very concise and coordinated effort.    Several Board 

members commented on the effectiveness of our team.  RCs are listed in Appendix A. 

ORDER WHO WHAT Related 
Goal(s) 

BOOKLET 
PAGES 

RC 

1 Maija 
DiSalvo 

Introduce the Mat-Su Borough 
Fish & Wildlife Commission, 
Booklet, Topics 

All All RC054 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 12 of 154

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=oEb1p1JBPh8
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=oEb1p1JBPh8
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/index.cfm?adfg=fisheriesboard.meetinginfo&date=02-23-2024&meeting=anchorage
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/index.cfm?adfg=fisheriesboard.meetinginfo&date=02-23-2024&meeting=anchorage
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-2024/uci/rcs/RC054_Matanuska_Susitna_Borough_Maija_DiSalvo_Public_Testimony.pdf


MSBFWC After Action Report 2024 – Alaska Board of Fisheries Page 5 

2 Andy 
Couch 

The Conservation Corridor 2 5 RC065 

3 Larry Engel History and Efficacy of the 
Conservation Corridor 

2 6 - 8 RC056 

5 Pete 
Probasco 

Mixed Stock Fishery Complexity 1, 3 9 - 13 RC049 

4 Howard 
Delo 

Stocks of Concern 19 RC047 

6 Kendra 
Zamzow 

Federal Fisheries Management 3 14 - 17 RC055 

7 Gabe 
Kitter 

Habitat in the Mat Su 1 23 - 24 RC046 

8 Jim Sykes Fish Habitat Improvements in 
the Mat Su 

1 25 - 26 RC048 

9 Mac 
Minard 

Wrap Up/ Takeaways All 27 - 28 

VII. Committee Work

The Board established a Committee of the Whole with eight Groups.  We detailed a 

Public Testimony schedule involving key representatives from the Mat Su Borough.  

Each testifier was armed/briefed with relevant materials and supporting RCs and 

Commission positions.   Support material was very helpful and allowed full and 

complete participation by assigned committee members.  In the future, MSBFWC must 

continue to develop this work product. 

Committee work was conducted in a New England Town Hall format and was civil and 

provided an opportunity to get key information on the record.  MSBFWC representation 

was excellent and there was an obvious coordination with most AC testimony as well. 

Highlighted below are Board Actions concerning proposals that the MSBFWC 

commented on or had an interest. 

Committee of the Whole – Group 1: Kenai River Late-Run King Salmon Action Plan 

This committee and topic took up a lot of the meeting energy.  MSBFWC did not 

participate directly in this committee.  The following summary is for information only.  

Public Testimony 

• The Board took 7 hours of public testimony regarding the late run Kenai King

Salmon management plan.

Board Deliberations on the Action Plan 

• A draft action plan was brought to consideration by Marit Carlson-Van Dort. Her

plan established rebuilding goals based on the current Optimum Escapement Goal

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 13 of 154

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-2024/uci/rcs/RC065_Matanuska_Susitna_Borough_Andy_Couch_Public_Testimony.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-2024/uci/rcs/RC056_Matanuska_Susitna_Borough_Larry_Engle_Public_Testimony.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-2024/uci/rcs/RC049_Matanuska_Susitna_Borough_Peter_Probasco_Public_Testimony.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-2024/uci/rcs/RC047_Matanuska_Susitna_Borough_Howard_Delo_Public_Testimony.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-2024/uci/rcs/RC055_Matanuska_Susitna_Borough_Kendra_Zamzow_Public_Testimony.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-2024/uci/rcs/RC046_Matanuska_Susitna_Borough_Gabe_Kitter_Public_Testimony.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-2024/uci/rcs/RC048_Matanuska_Susitna_Borough_Jim_Sykes_Public_Testimony.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-2024/uci/soa_uci-2024.pdf


MSBFWC After Action Report 2024 – Alaska Board of Fisheries Page 6 
 

(OEG) and equitable sharing of the conservation burden among all fisheries 

consistent with a plan proposed by KRSA.  

 

Board chair John Wood and members Mike Wood and Gerad Godfrey led the 

effort to reduce the Kenai River late-run king salmon Optimial Escapement Goal 

(OEG) in order to increase opportunities in the set gill net fishery at low run sizes.  

This effort ignored clear direction from the Commissioner that managing for a 

lower goal would reduce the likelihood of recovery. 

• An amendment from Mike Wood to reduce 15,000 to 13,500 failed 3-4 

(Carpenter, Carlson-Van Dort, Zuray, Svendsen opposed). A subsequent 

amendment to change 15,000 to 14,250 passed 4-3 (Wood, Wood, Carpenter, 

Godfrey in favor). Carlson-Van Dort, Zuray, and Svendsen opposed plan adoption 

due to reduction in goal.  

 

Assessment of Action 

• The Board of Fisheries adopted a stock-of-concern action plan for Kenai late-run 

kings that reduced fishery impacts to low levels until such time as the stock is 

delisted. This is one of the most conservative action plans ever adopted for a 

stock-of-concern in Alaska. The action plan will remain in effect for a minimum 

of three years until the next in-cycle Upper Cook Inlet (UCI) Board of Fish 

meeting. 

 

• The Kenai River sport fishery for kings was closed by regulation. 

 

• The commercial set gillnet fishery was closed when escapement is not projected 

to achieve minimum goals. Up to eight, 8-hour fishing periods may be allowed 

when the minimum goal is projected to be achieved. There is no opportunity for 

liberalization beyond eight periods for the duration of this plan unless the 

commissioner chooses to exercise his authority to go outside the plan. 

 

• The limited setnet fishery also included a series of innovations focused on units of 

gear allowed, as well as net length and depth intended to increase selectivity for 

sockeye and reduce interception of kings. 

 

• The Board reduced the escapement goal from the current OEG of 15,000 to 

30,000 to a recovery goal of 14,250-30,000. 

 

• The setnet fishery will fish even when the sport fishery for kings is closed. 

 

• The Board also created a provision for a NEW commercial gear type to include 

dip nets in leu of set gillnets in an effort to test the concept and reduce king 

bycatch.  This fishery could be used in the 2024 season. 

 

• It is difficult to reconcile a reduction in the escapement targets in order to increase 

commercial fishing opportunity with the stock of concern listing and critical low 

levels of abundance and productivity of Kenai kings. 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 14 of 154



MSBFWC After Action Report 2024 – Alaska Board of Fisheries Page 7 
 

 

  

Committee of the Whole – Group 2: Northern Cook Inlet Subsistence, Northern 

District Commercial, Smelt, and Susitna River Sport and Personal Use Fisheries (29 

proposals). MSBWFC members Pete Probasco, Andy Couch, Larry Engel, Howard Delo, 

Kendra Zamzow Maija DiSalvo and Mac Minard participated. 

 

Committee met on 2.28.24.  Mat Su Borough developed RC 151 to amend Proposal 207 

to clarify king salmon management targets and establish a historically appropriate king 

salmon target of 1,500 in the Northern District Set net fishery. 

 

On Thursday 2.29.24 the Board deliberated Group 2: Northern Cook Inlet Subsistence, 

Northern District Commercial, Smelt, and Susitna River Sport and Personal Use 

Fisheries. Outcomes on all deliberated proposals are listed below. 

 

Assessment of Actions  

• The MSBFWC submitted an amendment to Proposal 207, suggesting changes to 

the Northern District King Salmon Management Plan that was not considered due 

to procedural issues with the board member submitting the amendment.  

 

• On Proposal 206, the Board voted to lower the Northen District Setnet king 

salmon cap from 12,500 to 4,500 king salmon.  MSBFWC recommended a cap of 

1,500 based on evaluation of 30-year and recent 10-year average harvests.  The 

4,500 fish cap, selected by the Board, had no basis in prior performance and will 

be applicable between May 25 through June 24.  

 

• For the 2024 season the Susitna River drainage sport king salmon fishery, Little 

Susitna River sport king salmon fishery, and the northern District commercial 

king salmon seasons will all likely be closed before the season starts, because of a 

poor projected 2024 king salmon return. 

 

Committee of the Whole – Group 3: Cook Inlet Areawide Sport Fisheries, Knik River 

Area Sport Fisheries, and Anchorage Area Sport and Personal Use Fisheries (24 

Proposals). 

 

Committee met on Monday 2.26.24 and Mat Su Commission members and Mac Minard 

participated based on the submitted comments. 

 

Deliberation on Proposals for the Committee of the Whole Group 3. Cook Inlet Areawide 

Sport fisheries took place on Tuesday 2.27.24. 

 

Assessment of Actions 

The Board of Fish made decisions concerning 23 of the approximately 186 fishing 

regulation proposals.  Highlighted below are actions concerning proposals that the 

MSBFWC commented on or had an interest.  

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 15 of 154

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-2024/uci/rcs/RC151_%20Matanuska-Susitna_Fish_and_Wildlife_Commission__Proposal_207_Amended.pdf


MSBFWC After Action Report 2024 – Alaska Board of Fisheries Page 8 
 

• Proposal 237 - Bow Fishing for Northern Pike in Palmer - Wasilla Zone flowing 

waters.  This allows bow and arrow and spear fishing for northern pike and 

blackfish year-round in Palmer - Wasilla Zone flowing waters.  

• Proposal 245 - Additional Days of Fish Creek Salmon Fishing.  The portion of 

Fish Creek near Knik Goose-Bay Road, and open to sport salmon fishing, will 

now be open 7 days per week starting June 15 — July 14, and from the second 

Saturday in August - December 31.    

• Proposal 234 - With substitute language, updated the boundaries of the Palmer - 

Wasilla Zone and allows northern pike fishing year-round in flowing waters 

between the Little Susitna River and Susitna River.    

• Proposal 236 — Adds six lakes to the stocked lakes list where anglers may 

harvest larger limits of stocked fish.    

• Proposal 246 — Will expand the list of waters where anglers may use 5 lines 

when ice fishing for northern pike.    

• Proposal 250 — Sport fishing for king salmon will now be allowed year-round in 

the portion of Ship Creek open to salmon fishing.    

• Proposal 251 - Closes Eklutna River drainage to coho and sockeye salmon fishing 

until populations can rebound to sustainable levels.   

• Proposal 247 - Will prohibit the practice of chumming in Big, Mirror, and Flat 

Lakes from November 1 - April 30.   

• Proposal 248 - Restricts Big Lake Arctic char to catch-and-release year-round in 

the Fish Creek drainage.   

• Proposal 244 - Redefined Fish Creek near Knik Goose-Bay Road to include all 

waters within 1/4-mile radius of its confluence with Knik Arm.   

• Proposal 249 — by ADF&G removed outdated regulation language. 

 

 

Committee of the Whole – Group 4: Stock of Concern – Kenai River Late Run King 

Salmon Management Plan, Kenai River King Salmon, Upper Cook Inlet Salt Water King 

Salmon Sport Fishery Plan (46 Proposals) 

 

• The MSBFWC elected to not address this group of proposals. 

 

Committee of the Whole – Group 5: Sockeye Salmon Management Plans (8 Proposals) 

 

• The MSBFWC elected to not address this group of proposals. 

 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 16 of 154



MSBFWC After Action Report 2024 – Alaska Board of Fisheries Page 9 
 

Committee of the Whole - Group 6: Central District Drift Gillnet Fishery Management 

Plan, Fishing Districts and Gillnet Specifications and Operations, Pink Salmon 

Management Plan, Hatchery Production, Upper Cook Inlet Management Plan, West 

Cook Inlet Salmon (25 Proposals) – Pete Probasco, Andy Couch, Larry Engel, Howard 

Delo, Kendra Zamzow and Mac Minard participated. 

 

The Board deliberated Group 6 on Monday March 4, 2024.  The Mat Su effort to bring 

forward a super exclusive registration area RC200 and remand the drift gillnet fishery to 

the expanded harvest corridors stimulated some very good discussions.  

 

Assessment of Actions 

• No repeal of intent language placing sport and guided sport as priority fisheries 

for king and coho salmon. (Proposals 121, 125). 

  

• No loss in the 1% rule and affirmation by the Commissioner to use harvest 

number from the EEZ in calculating the application of the 1% rule. (Proposals 

122, 123, 124). 

 

• No increase in drift fishing opportunity in drift area 1 or 2, all proposals to do so 

were defeated. We are thankful to Commissioner Vincent-Lang for his assurance 

that he will not allow commercial fishing in those areas at least for the next two 

years. This assurance on the record effectively guarantees the utility of the 

Conservation Corridor at least for the next two or three years, this can be 

considered a temporary “win”. 

 

• Proposal 125 was amended by Board Chair John Wood, to allow additional 

fishing time and area in Drift Area 3 (west side) for coho.  MSBFWC opposed 

this action. 

 

• Proposal 136 closed areas to commercial fishing by prohibiting commercial drift 

fishing within 1 mile of mouth of Silver Salmon and Shelter creeks.  MSBFWC 

supported this proposal.  

 

Committee of the Whole – Group 7: Kasilof King Salmon Sport Fisheries, Vessel and 

Habitat Restrictions, and Guides (15 Proposals) 

The Committee of the whole met on March 3, 2024 and was deliberated on March 4, 

2024. 

 

• The MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission elected to not address this group of 

proposals. 

 

Committee of the Whole- Group 8: Kenai, Kasilof, and Russian River – Sport and 

Personal Use (39 Proposals) 

The Committee of the whole met on March 3, 2024 and was deliberated on March 4, 

2024. 

 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 17 of 154

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-2024/uci/rcs/RC200_MatSu_Borough_Proposed_Amendment_to_Central_District_Drift_Gillnet_Management_Plan.pdf


MSBFWC After Action Report 2024 – Alaska Board of Fisheries Page 10 
 

• The MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission elected to not address this group of 

proposals. 

 

 

VIII. Evaluation of Goals 

 

The MSBFWC team went into the Board meeting with six goals that guided their policy 

and involvement.  The overarching goal was to protect all previous gains that had been 

achieved in the past and particularly those related to passage of fish to the Northen 

District.   

 

The looming and unknown impacts of the Federally managed Exclusive Economic Zone 

(EEZ) are real and informed the MSBFWC comments and involvement.    

 

The following is an assessment of those goals. 

 

1) Long-term salmon conservation and protection of salmon habitat. 

The MSBFWC were the leaders in the discussion of the threat that the EEZ presents to 

state managed fisheries.  Having Commission member Kendra Zamzow attending the 

Council meetings, and bringing her knowledge to the topic, was cornerstone in our 

communication on this issue.  The MSBFWC members wove the uncertainty and call for 

conservative management due to the threats posed by federal management of the EEZ 

into all the positions the MSBFWC took.  With the exception of late-run Kenai River 

king salmon action plan, there were no changes in regulations that would have a negative 

affect on long term salmon conservation and protection of salmon habitat.   

   

2) Maintain and enhance the Conservation Corridor in the drift gillnet fishery 

management plan. 

The Conservation Corridor was maintained —  There were 17 proposals that sought 

to diminish or eliminate the conservation corridor in one form or another and the 

MSBFWC defeated them all.  MSBFWC introduced RC228 to confine the Drift Gillnet 

fleet to the Expanded Kenai and Expanded Kasilof terminal harvest areas which did not 

pass, however, assurances from the Commissioner to not fish outside those terminal 

harvest areas may effectively protect/enhance the Conservation Corridor for the next two 

to three years.  Overall, we protected the important gains made in previous Board of 

Fisheries meetings and by so doing continued the process of elevating the Northen 

District fishery issues. 

    

3) Clarify or strengthen conservative management practices which provide 

protection for current and formerly identified Stocks of Concern. 

This Goal was Met. We defeated several proposals that would have increased 

exploitation on Northern District king, coho, and sockeye salmon.  Additionally, the 

MSBFWC elevated awareness that king and coho salmon depressed and ought to be 

listed as stocks of concern. This clearly informed Board member decisions.    

 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 18 of 154

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-2024/uci/rcs/RC228_Mat_Su_Borough_Amendment_to_Proposal_127.pdf


MSBFWC After Action Report 2024 – Alaska Board of Fisheries Page 11 
 

4) Increase inriver returns of coho and sockeye salmon to Northern Cook Inlet 

systems. 

There was little progress on this goal — as measured by board action.  The 

MSBFWC softly supported-in-concept Northern District Salmon Management Plan 

proposals 212, 213, 214 — each of which sought to adjust shared surplus salmon 

harvest opportunities between commercial and inriver users of Northern Cook Inlet.   

All were rejected by the board with votes of 0-5 for 212, 1-4 for 213, and 1-4 for 214. 

 

MSBFWC also supported Proposal 137 which would establish one-statue mile 

commercial fishing closure areas from the terminus of Susitna River and Little 

Susitna River.  ADF&G comment was opposed as was Board vote 1-5. 

 

MSBFWC softly supported Proposal 210 requiring the Northern District commercial 

fishery be managed partially based on the abundance of king salmon, coho salmon, 

and sockeye salmon counted through Little Susitna River Weir — with stipulations 

concerning when the commercial fishery could fish within one state mile of the Little 

Susitna River channel and terminus with saltwater.    This proposal was amended to 

remove management based on sockeye salmon and also to remove king and coho 

salmon abundance stipulations as to when the commercial fishery could fish within 

one mile of Little Susitna River.   After amendment the proposal was adopted 

unanimously 5-0-0.   

 

Although the MSBFWC proposed closure of Drift Area 1 and Drift Area 2 did not 

pass, the Commissioner committed to not fishing in the Expanded Kenai and 

Expanded Kasilof areas for the next two or more years.  Additionally, the MSBFWC 

effectively argued against any increases in commercial fishing time that would have 

impacted Northen bound salmon.   

 

5) Adjust existing king salmon management plan and strategies to more 

adequately address conservation concerns for king salmon returning to 

Northern Cook Inlet drainages. 

Little Significant Progress.    MSBFWC softly supported Northern District King 

Salmon Management Plan Proposal 205 (closured waters from the Wood Chip Dock 

to Susitna River), 206 (Reduce king salmon cap to 2,000 fish), 208 (Adjusted paired 

harvest closures of sport / commercial fisheries), and supported-in-concept 207 (% 

harvest cap and adjusted paired sport / commercial restrictions). 

 

The Board passed proposal 206 with a 4,500 fish cap (John Wood Amendment) rather 

than the 2,000 fish cap called for in the proposal or the 1,500 fish cap suggested by 

MSBFWC (substitute language RC 151 —procedurally not allowed).    Wood 

Amendment passed 5-0. 

 

The only proposals addressing the Northen District Salmon Management plan, that 

would have affected king salmon were ones to remove/repeal management plan 

language that affirms the need to provide for sport and guided sport uses and allow 

additional fishing time in the Northen District setnet fishery.  The MSBFWC found 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 19 of 154



MSBFWC After Action Report 2024 – Alaska Board of Fisheries Page 12 
 

these proposals to be in contradiction with sound management practices and opposed 

them.  Ultimately the Board voted each of them down and in doing so acknowledged 

the depressed condition of Northen District king salmon stocks. 

 

6) Maintain or extend Personal Use fishing opportunity for Alaskan residents 

fishing Northern Cook Inlet drainages. 

This Goal was Met.  There was no loss in personal use opportunity.  MSBFWC had 

submitted proposal 231 would have shifted dates of the Susitna PU fishery and 

afforded additional PU opportunity.  This proposal failed 0-6 and given the 

conservative posture the Mat Su had taken on other proposals we did not press this 

issue.   

 

 

A full summary of Board of Fish action can be found at: 

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdf

s/2023-2024/uci/soa_uci-2024.pdf 

  

 

 

IX. Summary and Recommendations 

 

Summary 

The Mat Su was well represented by the members of the MSBFWC and others who made 

the time to attend.  On numerous occasions, Alaska Board of Fisheries members and 

ADFG staff, commented positively on the informed quality of your collective 

involvement.  You maintained open and honest communications with Board members, 

staff, stakeholders and members of the public.   

 

This was a particularly difficult meeting given the challenges of sick or absent Board of 

Fisheries members. An erratic agenda that presented small items first and addressing the 

larger issues (EEZ) and Central District Drift Gillnet Plans later, made for a challenging 

and dynamic schedule.  Additionally, the public involvement process involving the 

submission of Record Copies (RC) was new and turned out to be untimely and 

cumbersome for the public and Board members alike. 

 

The lack of detailed discussion and strategic planning for the issue of Federal 

management within the EEZ was surprising.  The Board adopted a wait and see attitude 

that was not shared by the MSBFWC.  The uncertainty that combined management 

(Federal and State) presents was central to the Mat Su message.   

 

A positive outcome of this meeting was the Commissioner’s pledge that the commercial 

drift gillnet fishery will be confined to the terminal harvest areas is very significant.  This 

means that the Conservation Corridor will remain an open pipeline for Northen bound 

salmon, which was a top tier priority for the MSBFWC.  

 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 20 of 154

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-2024/uci/soa_uci-2024.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-2024/uci/soa_uci-2024.pdf


MSBFWC After Action Report 2024 – Alaska Board of Fisheries Page 13 
 

Maintaining the orderly termination of the sockeye fishery driven by the one-percent rule 

in the drift fisheries along with the use of the Conservation corridor will permit more 

coho salmon to reach the Northern district waters.  

 

 

Recommendations 

There are three principal areas of execution that make for successful Board of Fisheries 

outcomes.  These are:  

 

Policy – you must have a solid statement of the problem and the policy 

outcomes to attain them.  The MSBFWC is very good at developing policy 

that is both necessary and sufficient to attain their stated goals and based on 

decades of fisheries experience.   

 

Politics – it is essential that the “right” Board members are appointed to the 

Board.  These would be people who are interested in addressing the Borough 

residents’ concerns and willing to work with the MSBFWC to attain stated 

policy goals.  Oddly we did not see this in action at this meeting, there was no 

clear champion among Board members, for the policy the MSBFWC was 

advocating.  This area also includes political leaders that represent the 

Borough and fully embrace the policy positions being advocated.  

 

Public Relations (PR) – it is essential that a consistent drip of information be 

released in a well-planned and executed PR program.  This effort generally 

begins long before the meeting and continues throughout the meeting.  

Establishing support for the desired policy outcomes and being recognized as 

the subject matter experts helps drive the media narrative and gain support.  

This is an essential part of a successful campaign. 

 

1) Policy  

a. Begin preparations for the next Board meeting now.  The focus must be to 

advance conservation and management efforts that lead to viable and 

robust fisheries in the Northen District waters, sufficient that all users may 

enjoy historical levels of participation. 

 

b. Seek stock of concern status for king and coho salmon status for the 

Northen District where appropriate.  This action is governed by the Policy 

for the Management of Sustainable Fisheries (5 AAC 39.222) and requires 

the Department to provide the status of salmon stocks and identify any 

salmon stock that present a concern.  Currently there are four king salmon 

stocks listed as stocks of management concern and no coho stocks listed.  

It can be argued that while they are not stocks of management concern, 

multiple coho stocks in the Northern District would qualify as stocks of 

yield concern.  Gaining designations for stock of concern status will 

require a focused effort with the Department and getting them to advance 

a recommendation to the Board.   If this can be done off-cycle (Statewide 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 21 of 154



MSBFWC After Action Report 2024 – Alaska Board of Fisheries Page 14 
 

finfish meeting) that would open the door to address the Stock of Concern 

Action Plan (this is where the gains can be made) at the next UCI Board 

meeting. 

 

c. Prepare Action Plan Recommendations.  The MSBFWC is experienced in 

this area having successfully navigated the sockeye stock of concern in the 

past.  The Action Plan is the vehicle to institutionalize the conservative 

measures in fisheries directly impacting Northen bound stocks and to 

identify key assessment tools that need to be developed or better 

supported. 

 

d. Remain focused and involved in the Federal Management program of the 

EEZ.  It cannot be overstated how dangerous this new element can be to 

the sustainability of Northen district stocks.  Maintaining involvement and 

seeking to influence policy decisions by the Feds and the State remains 

vitally important. 

 

e. Develop proposals that advance the Northen District interests in getting 

fish into the watershed with the overarching goal of rebuilding sustainable 

fisheries at historical levels and accompanying opportunity for personal 

use and sport fisheries.   

 

2)   Politics 

a. Actively work for Board of Fisheries appointments that will be sensitive 

and supportive of the Borough policy positions.  This requires engagement 

in the process early and working with policy makers and people of 

influence to accomplish the task.  Success at the Board of Fisheries 

requires four votes and it is important to actively cultivate that level of 

support. 

  

b. Engage with local leaders and legislators to make them aware of and 

supportive of the policy positions of the MSBFWC.  Developing the 

fairness and economic arguments would be logical topics to build from. 

 

c. Seek out partnerships with others to grow the political support needed to 

advance policy. For example, maintain/increase the frequency of 

communications with KRSA and the Mat Su AC over the interim to 

ensure that policies and proposals are in sync with each other.  A mutually 

supportive coalition is critical to maintaining the gains in salmon 

conservation and advancing new policy. 

 

3) Public Relations 

a. Continue to budget for and commit resources to a “right-sized” Public 

Relations (PR) effort. This effort continues to addresses the lead up to the 

meeting, coverage during the meeting, and the follow up to the meeting.  

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 22 of 154



MSBFWC After Action Report 2024 – Alaska Board of Fisheries Page 15 
 

This effort would logically start six to nine months in advance and be used 

to garner support for the policy direction the MSBFWC seeks to advance.  

 

b. A strategic PR campaign that positions MSBFWC as the subject matter 

and policy experts will allow you to manage the messaging and gain 

public support.  This campaign should cover all outlets of media coverage. 

 

c. Cultivate relations with leaders of the business community.  Businesses 

within the Borough will benefit from the goals of the Commission and 

would logically support the Mat Su positions relative to the fisheries.  

Having representatives of the business community as part of the team 

going forward will demonstrate the broad positive impacts that additional 

fish in the Northern district provide. 

 

d. Develop stories of locals satisfying their food budgets without having to 

travel long distances.  These are powerful and links the importance of the 

MSBFWC efforts to real outcomes and people.  An example is the 

coverage that was given to the Susitna dipnet fishery last summer.  

Positive examples linked back to the MSBFWC successful efforts before 

the Board of Fisheries.   

 

e. Continue to report out Borough efforts to protect, enhance and improve 

habitat.  Habitat preservation and restoration is a hallmark of the Mat Su 

Borough.  It is powerful testimony to a long-term commitment to healthy 

fisheries and sets the MSBFWC apart from other advocacy groups in a 

very positive manner. 

 

f. Consider another field trip to the Susitna hosted by the Borough.  This can 

be incredibly important in laying a foundation for Board members to 

understand the area the issues and the people and to develop personal 

relationships with MSBFWC members.  I believe this was done prior to 

the 2020 meeting and paid dividends.  Perhaps a forum with affected 

business owners (guides, hotels, restaurants, sporting goods) could be 

worked in to such a trip.    

 

 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 23 of 154



MSBFWC After Action Report 2024 – Alaska Board of Fisheries Page 16 
 

 

 

 
Appendix A 

RCs Submitted on Behalf pf Mat Su Fish and Wildlife Commission 
 

RC 
Number Submitted By Subject    

PC 138 Mat Su 
It Takes Fish to Make 
Fish    

RC 25 & 
26 Mat Su Proposal Comments    

RC065 Andy Couch Public Testimony    

RC046 Gabe Kitter Public Testimony    

RC047 Howard Delo Public Testimony    

RC048 Jim Sykes Public Testimony    

RC055 Kendra Zamzow Public Testimony    

RC056 Larry Engle Public Testimony    

RC054 Maija DiSalvo Public Testimony    

RC049 Pete Probasco Public Testimony    

RC 144 
Andy Couch 

Cook Inlet North 
District June King 
Fishery Policy    

RC200 Mat Su Mat Su Borough Proposed Amendment to   
  Central District Drift Gillnet Management Plan 

RC228 Mat Su Mat Su Borough Amendment to Proposal 127 

 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 24 of 154

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-2024/uci/rcs/RC026_Matanuska-Sustina_Borough_F&W_Commission_Comments_on_2024_UCI_Finfish_Proposals.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-2024/uci/rcs/RC026_Matanuska-Sustina_Borough_F&W_Commission_Comments_on_2024_UCI_Finfish_Proposals.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-2024/uci/rcs/RC065_Matanuska_Susitna_Borough_Andy_Couch_Public_Testimony.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-2024/uci/rcs/RC046_Matanuska_Susitna_Borough_Gabe_Kitter_Public_Testimony.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-2024/uci/rcs/RC047_Matanuska_Susitna_Borough_Howard_Delo_Public_Testimony.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-2024/uci/rcs/RC048_Matanuska_Susitna_Borough_Jim_Sykes_Public_Testimony.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-2024/uci/rcs/RC055_Matanuska_Susitna_Borough_Kendra_Zamzow_Public_Testimony.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-2024/uci/rcs/RC056_Matanuska_Susitna_Borough_Larry_Engle_Public_Testimony.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-2024/uci/rcs/RC054_Matanuska_Susitna_Borough_Maija_DiSalvo_Public_Testimony.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-2024/uci/rcs/RC049_Matanuska_Susitna_Borough_Peter_Probasco_Public_Testimony.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-2024/uci/rcs/RC200_MatSu_Borough_Proposed_Amendment_to_Central_District_Drift_Gillnet_Management_Plan.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-2024/uci/rcs/RC228_Mat_Su_Borough_Amendment_to_Proposal_127.pdf


Stock Assessment and Fishery Evaluation Report 

for the  

Salmon Fisheries 

of the 

Cook Inlet Exclusive Economic Zone Area 

2026 Preliminary Salmon SAFE 

Compiled by 

The NMFS Cook Inlet Salmon SAFE Team 

Contributions by 

L. DeFilippo, R. Brenner, J. Russell, B. Ferriss, A. Zaleski, and T. Sebens

January 2026

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 25 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026 1 

Table Contents 

1 Executive Summary ..................................................................................................................................... 6 

2 2025 Recommendations from the SSC ....................................................................................................... 13 

2.1 SSC recommendations for the 2024 harvest specifications. ................................................................... 13 

2.1.2 For Tier 1 stocks: ............................................................................................................................... 14 

2.1.3 For Tier 3 stocks: ............................................................................................................................... 15 

2.2 General Recommendations for all Assessments ..................................................................................... 16 

3 Background ................................................................................................................................................ 17 

3.1 Definitions for Status Determination Criteria and Harvest Specifications ............................................. 20 

3.2 Status Determination Criteria ................................................................................................................. 22 

3.3 Three-Tier System .................................................................................................................................. 23 

3.3.1 Accountability Measures ................................................................................................................... 23 

3.3.2 Tier 1 ................................................................................................................................................. 24 

3.3.3 Tier 2 ................................................................................................................................................. 25 

3.3.4 Tier 3 ................................................................................................................................................. 26 

4 2025 Stock Assessments ............................................................................................................................ 31 

4.1 Data and assessments for all stocks ........................................................................................................ 31 

4.2 Kenai River Late Run Sockeye Salmon ................................................................................................. 32 

4.2.1 Retrospective assessment of fishery information relative to status determination criteria, 

including overfishing and overfished designations ........................................................................... 32 

4.2.2 Data and assessment methodology .................................................................................................... 33 

4.2.3 Stock size and recruitment trends ...................................................................................................... 34 

4.2.4 Tier determination and resulting OFL and ABC determination for 2026 ......................................... 34 

4.3 Kasilof River Sockeye Salmon ............................................................................................................... 43 

4.3.1 Retrospective assessment of fishery information relative to status determination criteria, 

including overfishing and overfished designations ........................................................................... 43 

4.3.2 Data and assessment methodology .................................................................................................... 44 

4.3.3 Stock size and recruitment trends ...................................................................................................... 45 

4.3.4 Tier determination and resulting OFL and ABC determination for 2025 ......................................... 45 

4.4 Aggregate “Other” Sockeye Salmon, stock complex ............................................................................. 54 

4.4.1 Retrospective assessment of fishery information relative to status determination criteria, 

including overfishing and overfished designations ........................................................................... 54 

4.4.2 Data and assessment methodology .................................................................................................... 55 

4.4.3 Stock size and recruitment trends ...................................................................................................... 56 

4.4.4 Tier determination and resulting OFL and ABC determination for 2025 ......................................... 57 

4.5   Aggregate Chinook Salmon, stock complex ........................................................................................ 65 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 26 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              2 

4.5.1 Retrospective assessment of fishery information relative to status determination criteria, 

including overfishing and overfished designations ........................................................................... 65 

4.5.2 Data and assessment methodology .................................................................................................... 66 

4.5.3 Stock size and recruitment trends ...................................................................................................... 67 

4.5.4 Tier determination and resulting OFL and ABC determination for 2026 ......................................... 68 

4.6 Aggregate Coho Salmon, stock complex ............................................................................................... 75 

4.6.1 Retrospective assessment of fishery information relative to status determination criteria, 

including overfishing and overfished designations ........................................................................... 75 

4.6.2 Data and assessment methodology .................................................................................................... 76 

4.6.3 Federal data and assessments ............................................................................................................ 76 

4.6.4 Stock size and recruitment trends ...................................................................................................... 77 

4.6.5 Tier determination and resulting OFL and ABC determination for 2026 ......................................... 77 

4.7 Aggregate Chum Salmon, stock complex .............................................................................................. 86 

4.7.1 Retrospective assessment of fishery information relative to status determination criteria, 

including overfishing and overfished designations ........................................................................... 86 

4.7.2 Data and assessment methodology .................................................................................................... 87 

4.7.3 Stock size and recruitment trends ...................................................................................................... 87 

4.7.4 Tier determination and resulting OFL and ABC determination for 2026 ......................................... 88 

4.8   Aggregate Pink Salmon, stock complex ............................................................................................... 94 

4.8.1 Retrospective assessment of fishery information relative to status determination criteria, 

including overfishing and overfished designations ........................................................................... 94 

4.8.2 Data and assessment methodology .................................................................................................... 95 

4.8.3 Stock size and recruitment trends ...................................................................................................... 96 

4.8.4 Tier determination and resulting OFL and ABC determination for 2026 ......................................... 96 

5 Summary of NMFS SAFE Team Recommendations to the SSC for the 2026 CI EEZ Stock 

Assessment cycle. ............................................................................................................................... 101 

6 References ................................................................................................................................................ 102 

Appendix A.  Preliminary Draft COHO Risk Table ....................................................................................... 107 

o Assessment-related ............................................................................................................................... 107 

o Population Dynamics ........................................................................................................................... 107 

o Ecosystem ............................................................................................................................................. 108 

o Fishery Performance ............................................................................................................................. 109 

Appendix B.  Bayesian AR-1 Models ............................................................................................................. 111 

o Preseason run size forecast ................................................................................................................... 111 

o Preseason state harvest (𝑭𝒔𝒕𝒂𝒕𝒆) forecast ........................................................................................... 111 

o OFL to ABC buffers ............................................................................................................................. 112 

Appendix C. Equations from the Salmon FMP .............................................................................................. 115 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 27 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              3 

o Tier 1: Salmon stocks with escapement goals and stock-specific harvest estimates ............................ 115 

▪ Overfishing ...................................................................................................................................... 115 

▪ Overfished ....................................................................................................................................... 115 

▪ Overfishing Limit (OFL), Acceptable Biological Catch (ABC), and Annual Catch Limit (ACL) . 116 

o Tier 2: Salmon stocks managed as a complex ...................................................................................... 116 

▪ Overfishing ...................................................................................................................................... 116 

▪ Overfished ....................................................................................................................................... 117 

o Tier 3: Salmon stocks with no reliable estimates of escapement ......................................................... 117 

▪ Overfishing ...................................................................................................................................... 117 

▪ Overfished ....................................................................................................................................... 117 

Appendix D. SSC Comments from February 2025 Council Meeting ............................................................ 119 

o General Comments ............................................................................................................................... 119 

o Tier 1 General Topics ........................................................................................................................... 120 

▪ SMSY vs Lower Bound of the State’s Scientifically-based Escapement Goals ............................. 120 

▪ MSST scaling .................................................................................................................................. 120 

▪ SDC and Harvest Specifications Methods/Buffer Calculations ...................................................... 120 

o Kenai River Sockeye ............................................................................................................................ 121 

o Kasilof River Sockeye .......................................................................................................................... 121 

o Tier 3 Stocks ......................................................................................................................................... 122 

Appendix E. Social and Economic Considerations ........................................................................................ 124 

● Economic and Community Considerations .............................................................................................. 124 

o Cook Inlet EEZ Estimates of Salmon Fisheries Revenue in 2024 and 2025 ........................................ 124 

▪ Harvest and Participation in 2024 and 2025 .................................................................................... 124 

▪ Impacts of the Alternatives on Fishery Revenues ........................................................................... 126 

o Number and Description of Small Entities Regulated by This Proposed Rule (Regulatory 

Flexibility Act Considerations) .................................................................................................. 127 

o Impacts of the Alternatives on Communities ....................................................................................... 128 

 

 

Figures 

Figure 1. An illustration of the FOFL control rule for Tier 1 and 2 salmon stocks. ............................................ 28 

Figure 2. Map showing the CI EEZ and the Kenai River watershed located in Upper Cook Inlet. .................. 32 

Figure 3. Ricker model fit to Kenai River late-run sockeye salmon. ................................................................ 36 

Figure 4. Kenai River Late Run sockeye salmon preseason Bayesian AR-1 model output.............................. 37 

Figure 5. 2025 Kenai River Late Run sockeye salmon CI EEZ catch. ............................................................. 38 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 28 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              4 

Figure 6. Map showing the CI EEZ and the Kasilof River watershed located in Upper Cook Inlet. ............... 43 

Figure 7. Ricker Spawner-recruit curve for Kasilof River sockeye salmon. ..................................................... 47 

Figure 8. Kasilof River Late Run sockeye salmon preseason Bayesian AR-1 model output. .......................... 48 

Figure 9. 2025 Kasilof River sockeye salmon CI EEZ catch. ........................................................................... 49 

Figure 10. Map showing the CI EEZ and AOSOCK watersheds located in Upper Cook Inlet. ....................... 54 

Figure 11. Time-series of aggregate “other” sockeye salmon stock complex harvests in the CI EEZ ............. 59 

Figure 12. 2025 aggregate “other” sockeye salmon CI EEZ catch. .................................................................. 60 

Figure 13. Map showing the CI EEZ and watersheds with Chinook salmon in Upper Cook Inlet................... 65 

Figure 14. Time-series of aggregate Chinook salmon harvest in the EEZ for years 1999 - 2025 relative to 

proposed 2026 OFL and ABC .............................................................................................................. 70 

Figure 15. 2025 aggregate Chinook salmon stock complex CI EEZ catch ....................................................... 71 

Figure 16. Map showing the CI EEZ and the watersheds with coho salmon located in Upper Cook Inlet. ..... 75 

Figure 17. Time-series of aggregate coho salmon stock complex harvest in the CI EEZ for years 1999 - 

2025 relative to the proposed 2026 OFL and ABC .............................................................................. 80 

Figure 18. 2025 aggregate coho salmon CI EEZ catch.. ................................................................................... 81 

Figure 19. Map showing the CI EEZ and the watersheds with chum salmon located in Upper Cook Inlet. .... 86 

Figure 20. Time-series of aggregate chum salmon harvest in the CI EEZ for years 1999 - 2025 relative to 

the proposed 2026 OFL and ABC. ....................................................................................................... 89 

Figure 21. 2025 aggregate Chum salmon CI EEZ catch. .................................................................................. 90 

Figure 22. Map showing the CI EEZ and the watersheds with pink salmon located in Upper Cook Inlet. ...... 94 

Figure 23. Time-series of pink salmon harvest in the CI EEZ for years 1999 - 2025 relative to the 

proposed 2026 OFL and ABC .............................................................................................................. 97 

Figure 24. 2025 aggregate odd-year pink salmon CI EEZ catch. ..................................................................... 98 

 

Tables 

Table 1.NMFS SAFE Team recommendations for the 2026 CI EEZ salmon fishery ........................................ 8 

Table 2. Preliminary stock status in relation to postseason status determination criteria following the 

2025 CI EEZ salmon fishery. ............................................................................................................... 11 

Table 3. 2025 preseason harvest specification in relation to catch for the 2025 CI EEZ salmon fishery ......... 11 

Table 4. The UCI EEZ salmon stocks within this SAFE and review dates. ..................................................... 19 

Table 5. Three-Tier System for setting OFLs, ABCs, and ACLs for salmon stocks. ....................................... 29 

Table 6. Status and recommended catch specifications for Tier 1 Kenai River Late Run sockeye salmon...... 39 

Table 7. Historical data for Tier 1 Kenai River Late Run sockeye salmon used to inform the SDC and 

harvest specifications. .......................................................................................................................... 40 

Table 8. Tier 1 Kenai River Late Run sockeye salmon preseason SDC. .......................................................... 42 

Table 9. Kenai River late-run sockeye salmon observed escapements and current escapement targets. .......... 42 

Table 10. Status and catch specifications for Tier 1 Kasilof River sockeye salmon. ........................................ 50 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 29 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              5 

Table 11. Historical data for Tier 1 Kasilof River sockeye salmon used to inform the SDC and harvest 

specifications. ....................................................................................................................................... 51 

Table 12. Tier-1 Kasilof River sockeye salmon preseason SDC. ..................................................................... 53 

Table 13. Kasilof River sockeye salmon observed escapements and current escapement targets .................... 53 

Table 14. Aggregate “Other” sockeye salmon indicator stocks escapement information. ................................ 61 

Table 15. Status and catch specifications for Tier 3 Aggregate “Other” sockeye salmon stock complex. ....... 62 

Table 16. 2026 recommended Tier 3 SDC for the aggregate “Other” sockeye salmon stock complex and 

a range of buffers to reduce the preseason OFL to ABC. .................................................................... 64 

Table 17. Status and catch specifications for Tier 3 Aggregate Chinook salmon stock complex (ACHIN). ... 72 

Table 18.Kenai River late-run large Chinook salmon observed escapements and escapement goals. ............. 74 

Table 19. 2026 recommended Tier 3 SDC for the aggregate Chinook salmon stock complex and a range 

of buffers to reduce the preseason OFL to ABC. ................................................................................. 74 

Table 20. Status and catch specifications for Tier 3 Aggregate coho salmon stock complex. .......................... 82 

Table 21. Coho salmon escapement goals and observed escapements in the Deshka and Little Susitna 

rivers..................................................................................................................................................... 84 

Table 22. 2026 Tier 3 SDC for aggregate Coho salmon stock complex with a range of buffers to reduce 

the preseason OFL to ABC. ................................................................................................................. 85 

Table 23. Status and catch specifications for Tier 3 Aggregate chum salmon stock complex. ........................ 91 

Table 24. 2026 recommended Tier 3 SDC for the Aggregate chum salmon stock complex and a range of 

buffers to reduce the preseason OFL to ABC. ..................................................................................... 93 

Table 25. Tier 3 status and catch specifications for the Aggregate pink salmon stock complex.. .................... 99 

Table 26. 2026 recommended Tier 3 SDC for the Aggregate even-year pink salmon stock complex and a 

range of buffers to reduce the preseason OFL to ABC. ..................................................................... 100 
 

Table A 1. Aggregate coho salmon stock complex risk table assessment. ..................................................... 107 

Table A 2. Risk table scoring criteria. ............................................................................................................. 110 
 

Table B 1. Buffers and associated ABC values associated with a given target probability of the true OFL 

being below a given ABC value for Kenai sockeye salmon. ............................................................. 113 

Table B 2. Buffers and associated ABC values associated with a given target probability of the true OFL 

being below a given ABC value for Kasilof sockeye salmon. ........................................................... 114 
 

Table E 1. 2024-2025 CI EEZ commercial drift gillnet salmon harvests (number of fish). ........................... 126 

Table E 2. CI EEZ commercial drift gillnet salmon harvests value (U.S. $) and the proportional value 

(%) of drift gillnet harvests that occurred in Federal CI EEZ Area waters. ....................................... 126 

 

  

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 30 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              6 

 

1 Executive Summary 

This is the third Stock Assessment and Fishery Evaluation (SAFE) report for the Federal salmon fishery 

in Cook Inlet Area exclusive economic zone (CI EEZ). This CI SAFE provides the necessary 

information for the North Pacific Fishery Management Council’s (Council) Scientific and Statistical 

Committee (SSC) to assess the status of the salmon stocks harvested in the CI EEZ during the 2025 CI 

EEZ salmon fishery and recommend status determination criteria (SDC), buffers, and the resulting 

acceptable biological catch (ABC) for the 2026 fishing season. 

Under the terms of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act (MSA), the 

National Standard 1 Guidelines (50 CFR 600.310), and amendment 16 to the Fishery Management Plan 

for the Salmon Fisheries in the EEZ off Alaska (Salmon FMP), this SAFE uses the tier system and 

harvest specifications process described in the Salmon FMP to calculate SDC and recommend ABC. As 

allowed by the Salmon FMP and National Standard Guidelines, this SAFE incorporates changes to 

assessment methods that were recommended by the SSC during 2025, as well as a modeling workshop 

that convened in 2025 (Section 2.1). The National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) prepared this 

SAFE as part of the process to federally manage the salmon fisheries in the CI EEZ.  

Proposed harvest specifications for the 2025 CI EEZ salmon fishery were published on April 4, 2025 (90 

FR 14771); NMFS received 11 public comment letters on the proposed harvest specifications before the 

end of the comment period on May 5, 2025. Public comments pertaining to the 2025 CI SAFE were 

responded to in the final 2025 harvest specifications published on June 17, 2025 (90 FR 25508). The 

2025 salmon fishing season in the CI EEZ began on June 19, 2025 and closed by regulation on August 

15, 2025. 

 

Summary of Changes for the 2026 SAFE 

Based upon recommendations made by the SSC during the February 2025 Council meeting (Section 2; 

Appendix D), the NMFS SAFE Team made the following changes to the data and assessment 

methodology used to assess stock status and recommend SDC and ABC for the 2026 CI EEZ salmon 

fishing season: 

1. 2024-2025 CI EEZ harvests are known, as opposed to past harvests (1999 – 2023) that were 

estimated as referenced in section 4.1 of this SAFE.  

2. Autoregressive forecast models for Tier-1 stocks are implemented via Bayesian estimation using 

the same structure (AR-1) as in previous assessments. This approach allows greater stability in 

model structure as opposed to the previous methods using the auto.arima package (which can 

update model structure over time based on performance), and allows expanded consideration of 

options for OFL to ABC buffers, including explicitly relating buffers to overfishing risk as has 

been requested by the SSC. 

3. OFL to ABC buffers are calculated using metrics of retrospective forecast skill, as in previous 

assessments. However, the historical window used to estimate retrospective forecast skill has been 

expanded from ten years to twenty-five years as recommended by the SSC 

4. Additionally, we also present a new approach for calculating OFL to ABC buffers based on the 

probability of exceeding the OFL under a given ABC value using the posterior predictive 

distribution of preseason OFL 

5. Where applicable, years with missing data for Tier-3 indicator stocks are omitted when calculating 

cumulative escapement and escapement-based targets (e.g., MSST) over a generation time 

2026 Tier, SDC, and Buffer Recommendations 

For the 2026 assessment, Table 1 provides the 2026 SAFE Team recommendations for the OFL, the 

preseason OFL (OFLPRE), the buffer to account for scientific uncertainty, and the resulting ABC. 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 31 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              7 

This 2026 SAFE report contains discussion of the approach used for establishing potential yield for Tier 

1 stocks, which is the basis for SDC and the resulting harvest specifications (See response to SSC 

comments in Section 2.1). For the 2026 SAFE, based on a recommendation from the SSC, SMSY-POINT 

(the point estimate of the number of spawners to result in maximum sustainable yield) was used for 

calculating potential yield (potential yield = available CI EEZ harvest after the achievement of spawning 

escapement at SMSY-POINT, and, harvests that are likely to occur outside of the CI EEZ), which, in turn, is 

the basis for SDC (including the OFLPRE) and the resulting harvest specifications.  

The NMFS SAFE Team recommended SDC and harvest specifications based on sources of uncertainty 

and the biological attributes of the species being assessed; however, additional sources of uncertainty 

were not factored into the 2026 SAFE recommendations, including the inability to confirm historical 

estimates of salmon harvests in the CI EEZ prior to 2024 (which are a substantial basis for the 2024-

2026 recommendations); the level of participation in the EEZ salmon fishery prior to 2024; the spatial 

distribution of fishing effort within the CI EEZ prior to 2024 and effects of that effort on harvests of 

weaker stocks (Chinook and coho salmon in particular); and harvests and harvest rates for individual 

stocks and species given the new management structure of having both State of Alaska (State) and 

Federal salmon fisheries in CI. To the extent practicable, the NMFS SAFE Team aims to incorporate 

additional sources of uncertainty and include risk tables (see Appendix A) into future assessments and 

welcomes input on assumptions, estimates, and analyses used in this 2026 SAFE.

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 32 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              8 

Table 1.NMFS SAFE Team recommendations for the 2026 CI EEZ salmon fishery. Values for Tier 1 

stocks are based on the point estimate of SMSY (SMSY-POINT) as the escapement target for SDC and resulting 

harvest specifications (MFMT, MSST, OFL, recommended buffers, and the resulting ABC/ACL). Buffers 

for the Tier 1 stocks are calculated based on the methods described in the SAFE and account for 

uncertainty in the preseason forecast and estimated harvests in fisheries outside the CI EEZ.   

 

Stock Tier MFMT MSST OFL OFLPRE Buffer ABC/ACL 

Kenai River Late-

Run Sockeye 

(KNSOCK)** 

1 0.265 3,030,000 NA 1,284,478 53.9% 591,509 

Kasilof Sockeye 

(KASOCK)** 
1 0.538 555,000 NA 617,006 41.2% 362,866 

Aggregate 

“Other” Sockeye 

(AOSOCK) 

3 NA NA* 906,757 181,351 15% 154,149 

Aggregate 

Chinook 

(ACHIN) 

3 NA 45,000 2,237 373 30% 261 

Aggregate Coho 

(COHO) 
3 NA NA* 268,053 67,013 75% 16,753 

Aggregate Chum 

(CHUM) 
3 NA NA 390,030 97,508 20% 78,006 

Aggregate Pink 

(even-year) 

(PINK-EVEN) 

3 NA NA 282,813 141,406 10% 127,266 

*While MSST may be used to assess overfished status for these stocks, determining MSST for 2026 will 

depend on the availability/number of indicator stocks with escapement data and thus cannot be reliably 

determined as a preseason quantity 

** MFMT, OFLPRE, and ABC were calculated using preliminary sport and personal use harvest estimates. 

Final values will be presented in future CI SAFE reports pending finalized data from ADF&G. 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 33 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              9 

Summary of Buffers to Account for Scientific Uncertainty in Reducing the Preseason 

Overfishing Limits (OFLPRE) to the Acceptable Biological Catch (ABC) 

Full assessments for Federal salmon stocks harvested in the CI EEZ are provided in Section 4 of this 

SAFE, with the following summaries for each stock intended to provide considerations for the buffers 

that are recommended by the SSC for reducing the OFLPRE to the resulting ABCs. 

Tier 1 Kenai River late run sockeye salmon, Section 4.2:  The NMFS SAFE Team recommends a buffer 

of 53.9%. The buffers account for uncertainty associated with the predicted total run size, harvests in 

State fisheries, and the achievement of the spawning escapement target (SMSY-POINT based on SSC 

recommendation). Kenai late run sockeye salmon harvested in the CI EEZ during 2025 made up 

approximately 11% of the overall (State + Federal) drift gillnet harvest of this stock in Upper Cook Inlet 

(262,415 of 2,394,846). 

Tier 1 Kasilof River sockeye salmon, Section 4.3: The NMFS SAFE Team recommends a buffer of 

41.2%. The buffers account for uncertainty associated with the predicted total run size, harvests in State 

fisheries, and the achievement of the spawning escapement target (SMSY-POINT based on SSC 

recommendation). Kasilof sockeye salmon harvested in the CI EEZ during 2025 made up approximately 

11% of the overall (State + Federal) drift gillnet harvest of this stock in Upper Cook Inlet (30,872 of 

281,747). 

Tier 3 Aggregate Other sockeye salmon, Section 4.4:  The NMFS SAFE Team recommends a buffer of 

15%. The NMFS SAFE Team recommendation that the Aggregate sockeye salmon stock complex is 

healthy given the degree to which this stock has achieved spawning escapement goals concomitant with 

historical estimates of harvests.  While sockeye salmon are considered vulnerable to harvest with gillnets 

in the CI EEZ based on their size, State data suggests there are many sockeye salmon spawning 

locations throughout Upper Cook Inlet, with an estimated total run size for the AOSOCK stock complex 

believed to be as large or larger than KASOCK. The AOSOCK stock complex could be considered for a 

Tier 2 designation in the future if additional escapement data were available to estimate total run size, 

which would be necessary to calculate a harvest rate from the CI EEZ portion of the fishery. Kasilof 

sockeye salmon harvested in the CI EEZ during 2025 made up approximately 11% of the overall (State 

+ Federal) drift gillnet harvest of this stock in Upper Cook Inlet (92,617 of 844,350). 

Tier 3 Aggregate Chinook salmon, Section 4.5:  The NMFS SAFE Team recommends a buffer of 30%. 

This recommendation reflects a heightened level of concern given that there are several Chinook salmon 

stocks listed as “Stocks of Concern” by the State of Alaska, including the Kenai Late Run large Chinook 

salmon indicator stocks for the ACHIN stock complex. In addition, Chinook salmon are currently at a 

low state of abundance throughout the eastern North Pacific. However, there were only 46 Chinook 

salmon harvested during the CI EEZ salmon fishery during 2025. Chinook salmon are considered 

vulnerable to harvest in gillnets based on their size, but historical harvest estimates suggest they may be 

infrequently encountered in the CI EEZ relative to all other salmon species. The NMFS SAFE Team is 

not aware of any available genetic data to support stock of origin for Chinook salmon harvested in the 

CI EEZ, but historically such harvests were not included in the State’s stock assessments for Chinook 

salmon stocks in Northern Cook Inlet (e.g., Susitna River stocks). There are few available length data 

for CI EEZ harvests with which the harvested Chinook salmon harvests could be attributed to the Kenai 

Late Run Large Chinook salmon stock, but, for 2024, available weight data (average delivered weight of 

7.9 lbs) suggests that few if any of the Chinook salmon harvested in the CI EEZ were of sufficient size 

(greater than 75 cm mid-eye to tail fork length, MEFT) to attribute them to the Kenai Late Run Large 

indicator stock.  Chinook salmon harvested in the CI EEZ during 2025 made up approximately 36% of 

the overall (State + Federal) commercial harvest of Chinook salmon in Upper Cook Inlet (46 of 128). 

Tier 3 Aggregate coho salmon, Section 4.6: The NMFS SAFE Team recommends a buffer of 75%. This 

recommendation reflects the highest level of concern for any salmon stock harvested in the CI EEZ. 

Coho salmon are vulnerable to harvest based on their size and historical estimates of harvest in the CI 

EEZ. Coho salmon harvests throughout Upper Cook Inlet were at historically low levels during 2024-

2025 and, while weir data was incomplete during 2025, it is unlikely that spawning escapement targets 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 34 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              10 

were achieved for the indicator stocks. The 75% buffer recommendation is viewed by the NMFS SAFE 

Team as an attempt to ensure that this stock does not approach or enter an overfished condition. Coho 

salmon harvested in the CI EEZ during 2025 made up approximately 13% of the overall (State + 

Federal) commercial harvest of coho salmon in Upper Cook Inlet (15,444 of 116,351). 

Tier 3 Aggregate chum salmon, Section 4.7:  The NMFS SAFE Team recommends a buffer of 20%. 

This recommendation reflects that chum salmon are vulnerable to harvest in gillnets based on their size 

combined with State data suggesting there are few chum salmon spawning locations throughout Upper 

Cook Inlet relative to spawning locations for all other salmon species. Currently, no chum salmon stocks 

are listed as “Stocks of Concern” by the State of Alaska. Chum salmon harvested in the CI EEZ during 

2025 made up 23% of the overall (State + Federal) commercial harvest of chum salmon in Upper Cook 

Inlet (27,236 of 116,501). 

Tier 3 Aggregate pink salmon (even-year), Section 4.8: The NMFS SAFE Team recommends a buffer of 

10%. This recommendation reflects the lowest level of concern for any salmon stock harvested in the CI 

EEZ. The NMFS SAFE Team recommends that the small size of pink salmon makes them less 

vulnerable to harvest using gillnets than other salmon species. State data indicates that there are many 

pink salmon streams throughout Upper Cook Inlet and pink salmon are thought to be in a relatively high 

state of abundance throughout the North Pacific.  Pink salmon harvested in the CI EEZ during 2025 

made up approximately 15% of the overall (State + Federal) commercial harvest of pink salmon in 

Upper Cook Inlet (6,080 of 40,358). 

2025 Preliminary Postseason Summary of Stock Status in Relation to SDC and Catch relative 

to Harvest Specifications  

Table 2 and Table 3 of this SAFE include the 2025 tiers, maximum fishing mortality threshold (MFMT), 

minimum stock size threshold (MSST), OFLPRE, buffers, ABC, annual catch limits (ACLs), TACs, and 

the actual catch that occurred during the 2025 Federal salmon fishery in the CI EEZ. 

For the 2025 salmon fishing season in the CI EEZ, preliminary catch data indicate that harvests for all 

stocks were less than the preseason values for TAC, ABC/ACL, and OFLPRE set in the final 2025 harvest 

specifications (90 FR 25508). Also, for Tier 1 stocks, since the preliminary postseason estimates of 

fishing mortality rates in the CI EEZ for the most recent generation (FEEZ) were lower than the MFMT, it 

is the NMFS SAFE Team recommendation that overfishing did not occur for those stocks during 2025. 

Similarly, for the Tier 1 stocks, since the preliminary postseason estimates of cumulative escapement for 

the most recent generation (‘Cum. Esc.’ in Table 2) were substantially greater than the MSSTs, it is the 

NMFS SAFE Team recommendation that these stocks are not in or approaching an overfished condition. 

For Tier 3 stocks, since postseason estimates of cumulative harvests across the most recent generation 

(‘Cum. Harv.’ in Table 2) are less than the postseason OFLs, it is the NMFS SAFE Team 

recommendation that overfishing did not occur during 2025. 

  

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 35 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              11 

 

Table 2. Preliminary stock status in relation to postseason status determination criteria following the 

2025 CI EEZ salmon fishery. For bolded stocks, MFMT and cumulative escapements (Cum. Esc.) were 

calculated using preliminary 2025 run size and escapement values, derived using estimated 2025 sport 

and personal use harvest, and will be updated in future CI SAFE reports pending final harvest counts 

from ADF&G. 

Stock Tier MFMT FEEZ 
MSST 

(000’s) 

Cum. Esc. 

(000’s) 
OFL 

(000’s) 

Cum. Harv. 

(000’s) 

KNSOCK 1 0.263 0.065 3,030 10,495 NA NA 

KASOCK 1 0.531 0.027 555 4,664 NA NA 

 

AOSOCK 3 NA NA 100 557 907 537 

ACHIN 3 NA NA 45 75 2.237 0.371 

COHO 3 NA NA NA NA 268 68 

CHUM 3 NA NA NA NA 390 146 

PINK-

ODD 
3 NA NA NA NA 116 30 

 

Table 3. 2025 preseason harvest specification in relation to catch for the 2025 CI EEZ salmon fishery. 

Stock level sockeye salmon catch was estimated from the total CI EEZ sockeye salmon catch using 

ADF&G 2025 genetic mixed stock analysis. 

Stock Tier OFLPRE 
ABC/ 

ACL 
TAC Catch 

Sockeye 

Catch 

KNSOCK 1 514,761 360,332   262,415 

KASOCK 1 664,294 285,646 800,126* 385,905* 30,872 

AOSOCK 3 181,351 154,148   92,617 

ACHIN 3 373 261 261 46 NA 

COHO 3 67,013 16,753 16,753 15,444 NA 

CHUM 3 97,058 78,006 78,006 27,236 NA 

PINK-ODD 3 58,174 52,357 52,357 6,080 NA 

* Combined TAC and catch for Kenai Late-Run, Kasilof, and Aggregate “Other” sockeye salmon

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 36 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              12 

2026 Stock Assessment and Fishery Evaluation for the Cook Inlet EEZ Salmon Fishery:  Overall 

Assessment Summary 

The NMFS SAFE Team assesses that, based on SDC that are compliant with the MSA, National 

Standard Guidelines, and the approved Salmon FMP, there is available yield of Tier 1 sockeye salmon 

stocks that could reasonably be harvested in the Cook Inlet EEZ salmon fishery while still allowing 

harvests in all other (i.e., State) fisheries and achieving spawning escapement goals that have the highest 

probability of producing maximum sustainable yield (MSY) over the long term. The estimated amount 

of available yield that could be harvested in the CI EEZ is dependent upon estimates of the total run size 

and State harvests and applies conservative buffers recommended by the SSC. In addition, the estimated 

available yield also accounts for the deterministic value of a spawning escapement target (SSMSY-POINT, 

SSC recommendations).  

In order to prevent overfishing the Federal COHO stock complex, the NMFS SAFE Team recommends 

that for the 2026 fishing season, a 75% precautionary buffer is warranted to reduce the preseason OFL to 

the resulting ABC. The NMFS SAFE Team recommends research to estimate the total run size of the 

COHO stock complex in order to estimate harvest rates in the CI EEZ. 

Within this 2026 SAFE, the NMFS SAFE Team has prioritized and implemented the vast majority of 

SSC recommendations following their review of the 2025 assessment, as well as feedback from the 2025 

stock assessment modeling workshop, and intends to implement remaining SSC recommendations and 

make other improvements on the CI EEZ during future years.  

 

  

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 37 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              13 

2 2025 Recommendations from the SSC 

2.1  SSC recommendations for the 2024 harvest specifications. 

2.1.1 General: 

‘Reviewing the SAFE methodology for the first time at the same meeting where harvest specifications 
are set - without the benefit of independent review - poses a significant challenge. Last year, the SSC 
highlighted the value of long-format Plan Team meetings for reviewing groundfish and crab stock 
assessments. These meetings serve as a critical forum for in-depth discussions, allowing for substantive 
progress in improving processes and models that support management decisions, as well as reviewing 
proposed methodological changes prior to harvest specifications. The SSC reiterates its 
recommendation from last year that a workshop, or series of workshops, focused on further developing 
Cook Inlet Salmon harvest specification and status determination methods’… 

● NMFS SAFE Team response: NPFMC staff arranged a workshop in May 2025 to discuss Feb 2025 

SSC recommendations for the UCI stock assessment modeling methodology. All SSC members were 

invited to participate, and the meeting was available to the public. No report was generated from the 

workshop but there were discussions on how to best respond to SSC feedback from Feb 2025 on 

assessment model developments and long-term objectives for improving methodology. The NMFS 

SAFE Team greatly appreciated this additional opportunity for long-format feedback, and would 

support continuation of these workshops, or the creation of a Salmon Plan Team. A brief summary of 

the workshop provided by council staff is provided below:  

‘A technical workshop was held in Juneau, AK., May 19-20, 2025 to address assessment related 

feedback from the SSC during the 2024 and 2025 Cook Inlet Salmon assessment cycles to assist the 

SAFE report authors to prepare for the 2026 assessment cycle. The workshop eAgenda 

(https://meetings.npfmc.org/Meeting/Details/3069) contains additional information on presentations 

given during the workshop and background materials including the 2024 and 2025 SAFE reports and 

the SSC report from February 2025. The primary assessment author Dr. Lukas DeFilippo provided an 

overview presentation which focused on the following: 1) Overview of Cook Inlet EEZ Assessment 

methods and pre/post season status determination criteria for Tier 1 stocks and 2025 SDC summary 

and Tier 3 stocks and 2025 SDC summary; 2) 2025 SSC recommendations and proposed or in-

progress SAFE team responses and 3) Additional considerations for future stock assessment 

development. The primary SSC recommendations and proposed responses were focused on the 

proposed Bayesian Tier 1 approach for 2026 preseason forecast and OFL-ABC buffer determination, 

EEZ sampling and in-season information, Socioeconomic considerations, Default buffers for Tier 3 

stocks, addressing missing data and consideration of risk tables. Participants provided feedback and 

discussion on the proposed approaches. Participants agreed that in lieu of a detailed workshop report, 

where comments received during the workshop provided guidance on approaches, they would be 

addressed as needed in the stock assessment produced for 2026.’ 

 

‘The SSC appreciates the draft risk table for the aggregate coho salmon complex. While the risk table 

served to highlight the serious concerns regarding the status of Cook Inlet coho, the scoring was 

elevated compared to how the risk table has been used for groundfish. Attributes that are typical of Tier 

3 stocks should not result in an elevated risk score as they are reflected in the default buffer. The SSC 

looks forward to further refinement of risk tables for the aggregate salmon stocks in the Cook Inlet 

EEZ.’ 

  

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 38 of 154

https://meetings.npfmc.org/Meeting/Details/3069


Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              14 

• NMFS SAFE Team response: The SAFE Team appreciates the SSC’s feedback and revised the risk table 

to better distinguish uncertainty inherent to Tier 3, stocks from indicators of elevated biological or fishery-

related risk. In response, the assessment-related and population dynamics categories were revised to Level 

1 (Normal), as uncertainty associated with limited escapement information and historical EEZ harvest 

estimates is explicitly addressed through the Tier 3 harvest control rule and precautionary buffers, and 

there is no evidence of anomalous population dynamics. The ecosystem category retained a Level 2 

(Increased Concern) score based on multiple consistent adverse indicators related to marine survival 

conditions documented in recent Gulf of Alaska Ecosystem Status Reports. The fishery performance 

category was clarified and revised to Level 2 (Increased Concern) to reflect vulnerability of coho salmon 

to harvest in a mixed-stock drift gillnet fishery, while recognizing that realized EEZ coho harvests in recent 

years have remained below preseason ABC and postseason OFL values and that there is no evidence of 

chronic overages or fishery-driven population decline.  

 

‘The SSC looks forward to the SAFE incorporating a summary of scientific information on the most  

recent social and economic condition of the relevant fishing interests, fishing communities, and the fish 

processing industries. The SSC recognizes the capacity challenges facing the analysts in the absence of 

a plan team. However, it is important in the context of NS8 to capture the differential distribution of 

impacts associated with the change to federal management in the early years, especially if there are 

substantial changes in patterns of engagement or dependency for fishing communities, fishery sectors, 

and/or fishery support sectors. It is difficult in general to capture information on correlation or 

causation of changes seen in retrospect, especially with respect to those who exit the fishery. Further, it 

is important to capture changes in participation across commercial, sport, personal use, and subsistence 

fisheries, as well as the potential for new or returning entrants, including those represented in evolving 

Tribal fishery initiatives.’ 

 

• NMFS SAFE Team response: Appendix E of this SAFE contains social and economic considerations 

that are presented within the environmental assessment (EA) for the CI EEZ harvest specifications. 

Specifically, Appendix E contains an excerpt from a preliminary draft of Section 4 of the harvest specs 

EA. In the future, the NMFS SAFE Team may consider the format of existing State publications (e.g., 

Annual Management Reports and Commercial Fishery Entry Commission reports) to refine the social and 

economic data presented for the Federal fishery. The NMFS SAFE Team welcomes feedback on the 

format and content of the information presented in future SAFE reports.  

2.1.2 For Tier 1 stocks: 

‘The SAFE team also provided a Bayesian approach that retrospectively evaluated the probability that 

an ABC exceeded the post-season OFL under different buffers on the preseason OFL. The SSC 

appreciates the SAFE team’s work on this analysis, and supports further efforts to develop this model, 

including consideration of a longer time series where available. The SSC further recommends the SAFE 

team consider whether the magnitude of the buffer could be scaled relative to the cumulative probability 

of a preseason OFL<0 under the posterior distribution for this quantity, rather than the proportion of 

years in which the ABC was over forecasted.’ 

● NMFS SAFE Team response: The NMFS SAFE team initially responded to this recommendation 

for improvements to the Bayesian modeling approach, and presented updates at the May 2025 

workshop. Analyses were presented evaluating the retrospective performance of the buffer method 

suggested in the above comment (buffer scaled relative to the cumulative probability of a preseason 

OFL<0) with respect to frequency of resulting in an overfishing or overfished designation. Feedback 

was provided by workshop attendees, including a request to produce a buffer that was based on the 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 39 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              15 

probability of exceeding the OFL under a given ABC value rather than the probability that the OFL 

<0 as recommended in the above comment. It was further requested that, for consistency with existing 

assessment methodology, we also provide a default buffer based on retrospective forecast accuracy 

associated with the Bayesian approach (using a longer time-series as recommended above). For 2026, 

we have followed these recommendations and present autoregressive models for Tier-1 stocks 

estimated in a Bayesian approach (model structure is the same as the latest auto.arima selected models 

from 2025), and present buffers based on both (1) retrospective forecast skill (over 25 years as opposed 

to the 10 year window used in previous assessments), and (2) a specified level of overfishing risk 

(p(ABC>OFL)) based on the posterior distribution of preseason OFL. 

2.1.3 For Tier 3 stocks: 
Overall, the SSC is concerned that a 15% default buffer does not adequately recognize the severe 

limitations of basing harvest specifications on historical catch statistics. These specifications do not 

respond to changes in the stock abundance due to varying environment conditions, and their 

relationship to sustainable yield is highly uncertain. In some cases, there is no adequate basis for 

determining overfished status. These limitations are the same as for Tier 6 groundfish, implying that the 

default 25% buffer to obtain the ABC for these stocks would be applicable to Tier 3 salmon stocks to 

maintain a consistent approach to uncertainty across FMPs. The SSC therefore requests the SAFE team 

adopt a default 25% buffer for developing harvest recommendations next year. Departures from the 25% 

buffer (both higher and lower) should be justified based on specific issues for each aggregate stock 

complex such as data availability and quality.’ 

● NMFS SAFE Team response: The NMFS SAFE Team requests additional guidance on how to 

implement this recommendation. While it is straightforward to change the default buffer from 15% to 

25% for stocks with an existing 15% buffer (e.g., aggregate ‘other’ UCI sockeye), we request 

additional details on the SSC’s recommendation for how to apply this guidance for other stocks. i.e., 

how should this change affect stocks previously assigned buffers that were not at the default (15%) 

value. For consistency, in 2026, our recommended tier-3 buffers remain at their 2025 levels, pending 

additional guidance from the SSC on how to implement this recommendation. 

● ‘The SAFE team requested input from the SSC on how to treat overfished determinations with missing 

or incomplete weir data. The SSC recommends that the calculation of the cumulative escapement goal 

omit the indicator goal in years when the index is missing or incomplete. For example, when a weir 

count is missing, the escapement goal for that site in that year is not counted towards the cumulative 

escapement target over a generation.’ 

● NMFS SAFE Team response: The NMFS SAFE Team has implemented this change for the 2026 

assessment cycle and SAFE report. Years in which the escapement count for a given indicator stock 

are missing are no longer counted towards aggregate escapement, and the escapement goal for that 

stock is not counted towards combined escapement targets and MSST. 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 40 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              16 

2.2 General Recommendations for all Assessments 

This section is intentionally left blank and serves as a placeholder for general recommendations from the 

SSC or from a Salmon Plan Team, if such a group is formed in the future. 

  

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 41 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              17 

3 Background 

This Stock Assessment and Fishery Evaluation (SAFE) report includes assessments of five Oncorhynchus 

spp. (Pacific salmon) harvested in the CI Exclusive Economic Zone (EEZ) Area. The following species 

and stocks are assessed in this SAFE: 

● 1 Chinook salmon, O. tshawytscha, stocks (Aggregate Chinook salmon stock complex); 

● 3 sockeye salmon, O. nerka, stocks (Kenai River Late-Run, Kasilof River, and Aggregate “Other” 

sockeye salmon stock complex);  

● 1 coho salmon, O. kisutch, stock (Aggregate coho salmon stock complex); 

● 1 chum salmon, O. keta, stock (Aggregate chum salmon stock complex); and 

● 1 pink salmon, O. gorbuscha, stock (Aggregate pink salmon stock complex- divided into even- and 

odd-year broodlines). 

This SAFE report is for the federally managed salmon fishery in the CI EEZ under the Fishery 

Management Plan for the Salmon Fisheries in the EEZ off Alaska (Salmon FMP), and a Federal 

requirement (50 CFR part 600). This SAFE provides the best current scientific information available on 

the biological condition of salmon stocks in CI and builds on previous SAFE documents and the 

information and analysis in the Environmental Assessment/Regulatory Impact Review (EA/RIR) prepared 

for amendment 16 and the implementing regulations. The EA/RIR also provides information on the social 

and economic condition of the sport, subsistence, personal use, and commercial fisheries, the fish 

processing industries, and communities in CI and is incorporated here by reference. 

The SAFE report summarizes the current biological status of fisheries, reference points, and analytical 

information used for the Federal assessment. Additional information on CI Salmon fisheries is available 

on the National Marine Fisheries Service web page at: https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/action/amendment-

16-fmp-salmon-fisheries-alaska. Information pertaining to the adjacent Upper Cook Inlet (UCI) 

commercial and recreational salmon fisheries managed by the State of Alaska is available on the ADF&G 

website at: https://www.adfg.alaska.gov. 

The Salmon FMP defines those salmon stocks with evidence of historical harvests in the CI EEZ and this 

SAFE recommends classifying these stocks as belonging to one of three “tiers” based on the information 

available for the stock. Under the terms provided in the Salmon FMP and as further detailed in this SAFE, 

the tier level for each stock determines the methods used to set Federal status determination criteria (SDC) 

and harvests specifications. Each year, the SAFE Report will recommend the salmon stocks that belong in 

each tier for consideration by the Science and Statistical Committee (SSC) of the North Pacific Fishery 

Management Council (Council). 

Currently, there are 28 salmon stocks with spawning escapement goal that are defined by the State for its 

management of UCI salmon fisheries (McKinley et al. 2024; Munro and Gatt 2025). Broadly, the State 

has defined salmon stocks throughout Alaska, including UCI, based on the availability and specificity of 

spawning escapement, harvest, and other data and considerations; and manages for the achievement of 

long-term sustainable yields for each stock. When sufficient data are available to define stock recruitment 

characteristics, and it is practical and achievable to do so, the State’s management approach also attempts 

to implement and manage for spawning escapement goals that have the greatest potential to result in 

maximum sustainable yield in future generations1,2. For the State’s salmon management, escapement goal 

committees—consisting of fisheries scientists, biometricians, biologists, and other fisheries professionals 

from ADF&G—review data, model estimates, and associated escapement goal recommendations for all 

                                                      

1 https://www.akleg.gov/basis/aac.asp#5.39.222 

2 https://www.akleg.gov/basis/aac.asp#5.39.223 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 42 of 154

https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/action/amendment-16-fmp-salmon-fisheries-alaska
https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/action/amendment-16-fmp-salmon-fisheries-alaska
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/index.cfm?adfg=commercialbyareauci.salmon
https://www.akleg.gov/basis/aac.asp#5.39.222
https://www.akleg.gov/basis/aac.asp#5.39.223


Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              18 

defined stocks, every three years; a schedule that aligns with the State’s Board of Fisheries (BOF) cycle 

for each State management area. In recommending SDC and harvest specifications for salmon stocks in 

the CI EEZ for management under the scope of the MSA, this SAFE also considered data, analyses, and 

determinations from other sources. After thorough review by the National Marine Fisheries Service 

(NMFS) SAFE Team and for the purposes of recommending status determination criteria and harvest 

specifications, this SAFE adopts (with some aggregation) the stock definitions used by the State for its 

management in UCI. In its review, the NMFS SAFE Team found the State’s stock definitions and the 

data, estimates, and analyses used to conduct stock assessment analyses: 

● to be accurate, thorough, and complete (including documenting when escapement estimates 

were partial or missing due to various circumstances); 

● to be based upon the best scientific information available, including a rigorous scientific 

stock assessment and review process;  

● that, given the stock assessment results, the resulting escapement targets represent ranges that 

were likely to result in sustainable returns for all stocks, and maximum yield (at the stock 

level) for the Tier 1 stocks;  

● and, as used within equations to propose SDC and harvest specifications for this SAFE, that 

these escapement targets conform to the intent of applicable Federal National Standards.  

The Federal stock definitions are based on several considerations, including the availability and 

specificity of preseason forecasts (DeCino 2022; Erickson and Lipka 2023; Gatt and Erickson 2025; Gatt 

and Erickson 2024); the practical limitations—including current genetics limitations—of monitoring and 

accounting for the harvest of specific stocks of the same species in a mixed-stock fishery; the relative 

quality of the historical harvest records estimated to have occurred in the CI EEZ during previous years; 

and other considerations. Assumptions of the analyses within this SAFE include:  that Federal stock 

definitions align with the State’s definitions for Kenai River Late Run sockeye salmon and Kasilof River 

sockeye salmon; that the Federal stock definitions are aggregations of the State stock definitions for 

Aggregate “Other” sockeye salmon, Aggregate Chinook salmon, and Aggregate coho salmon, with the 

Federal definitions including the harvest of salmon bound for many minor tributaries and drainages, for 

which the State may not have established escapement goals and does not monitor escapements. There is a 

single State chum salmon escapement goal in UCI and no State escapement goals for pink salmon; given 

that there are known to be many streams in UCI that contain chum and pink salmon (Giefer 2024), the 

Federal definitions for chum and pink salmon stocks also represent aggregations of many freshwater 

drainages and tributaries spread throughout the area. Annually, NMFS will review data and analyses 

available for each stock and, as determined by NMFS or as recommended by the SSC, propose new 

stocks, tier determinations, SDC, and harvest specifications for the SSC to consider.  

The Salmon FMP and this SAFE describes the criteria and considerations used to propose assignments of 

the Federal salmon stocks to “tier” levels that determine the methods used to set SDC and harvest 

specifications. Some of the methods described to set these values propose the use of ADF&G’s preseason 

forecasts for CI salmon stocks. However, due to the required time for ADF&G to collect and process 

samples for age composition and genetic stock composition estimates used to construct their preseason 

forecasts, at this time it is necessary for the SSC to recommend SDC and harvest specifications presented 

within this SAFE that rely on preliminary estimates and other forecast approaches in the absence of 

ADF&G’s forecasts. 

Based upon the assessment frequency described in Table 4, NMFS provides recommendations on the 

OFL, acceptable biological catch (ABC), annual catch limits (ACL), and stock status specifications for 

review by the SSC in February. Additional information on the OFL and ABC determination process are 

contained in this report. The justification and options associated with each tier are intended to provide the 

SSC with the best scientific information available to inform their recommendations of appropriate tier 

placement and the methods used for the values for OFL and ABC. 

 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 43 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              19 

Table 4. The UCI EEZ salmon stocks within this SAFE and review dates. Included are the current 

schedule for review by NMFS and SSC and the assessment frequency. The schedule of future review 

dates will be adjusted as the Council’s schedule is finalized. Recommendations for tier determination 

can be found within the Stock Status Summary for each stock. 

Stock NMFS review and 
recommendations 

to SSC 

SSC review and 
recommendations 

to Council 

Assessment 
frequency 

Year of the next 
Assessment* 

Kenai 
River Late 

Run Sockeye 
Salmon 

(KNSOCK) 

January February Annual 2027 

Kasilof 
River Sockeye 

Salmon 
(KASOCK) 

January February Annual 2027 

Aggregate 
“Other” 
Sockeye 
Salmon 

(AOSOCK) 

January February Annual 2027 

Aggregate 
Chinook 
Salmon 
(ACHIN) 

January February Annual 2027 

Aggregate 
Coho Salmon 

(COHO) 
January February Annual 2027 

Aggregate 
Chum Salmon 

(CHUM) 
January February Annual 2027 

Aggregate 
Pink Salmon 

(PINK) 
January February Annual 2027 

*The 2026 Preliminary SAFE report will be provided to the SSC and Council at the 2027 February 

Council meeting.

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 44 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              20 

3.1 Definitions for Status Determination Criteria and Harvest 
Specifications 

ABC Control Rule is the specified approach in the three-tier system for setting the maximum 

permissible ABC for each stock as a function of the scientific uncertainty in the estimate of the 

preseason OFL (OFLPRE) and any other specified scientific uncertainty. 

Acceptable biological catch (ABC) is a level of catch of a stock that accounts for the scientific 

uncertainty in the estimate of the OFLPRE and any other specified scientific uncertainty. The preseason 

ABC is set at or below the OFL and, similar to the OFL, represents potential yield in the EEZ for the 

current year.  

Annual catch limit (ACL) is the level of annual catch of a stock that serves as the basis for invoking 

accountability measures. For all federally managed salmon stocks in the CI EEZ, the ACL will be set at 

or below the ABC. 

Escapement goal (G) is the recommended spawning escapement goal for each stock of salmon.  

FOFL control rule is the method for making an overfishing determination (Tier 1 and 2 stocks). Should 

stock-specific actual harvest rate (FEEZ) in the CI EEZ exceed the MFMT in any year, it will be 

determined that a stock is subject to overfishing (Figure 1).  

FEEZ is the realized fishing mortality rate in the EEZ for Tier 1 and 2 stocks, expressed as an exploitation 

rate, assessed over one generation [(sum of actual harvest for a generation)/ (sum of total run size for a 

generation)]. Preseason estimates of FEEZ are based on actual harvests for the first T-1 years of the 

generation time plus maximum potential EEZ harvests for the coming fishing season; final, postseason 

estimates of FEEZ are based on actual harvests for all years of the most recent generation. 

Generation time (T) is the average total number of years in the life cycle of a salmon (from fertilized 

eggs until post-spawning morality) and is used in several equations to set SDC. The following average 

generation times are used in the SDC equations:  sockeye salmon (5 yrs.), Chinook salmon (6 yrs.), coho 

salmon (4 yrs.), chum salmon (4 yrs.), pink salmon (2 yrs.). 

Maximum Fishing Mortality Threshold (MFMT) is the maximum potential fishing mortality rate in the 

EEZ above which overfishing occurs for Tier 1 and 2 stocks, expressed as an exploitation rate, assessed 

over one generation [(sum of maximum potential harvest for a generation)/(sum of total run size for a 

generation)]. MFMT is the residual yield available to be harvested in the CI EEZ after accounting for 

non-EEZ harvests and the escapement target). MFMT is compared with the actual fishing mortality rate 

(FEEZ) to assess whether overfishing has occurred (postseason estimates) or is approaching overfishing 

(preseason estimates). 

Minimum stock size threshold (MSST) is defined for stocks with escapement goals as one half of the 

sum of the stock’s spawning escapement target summed across a generation. MSST is compared with 

cumulative actual escapement summed across the most recent generation to assess whether a stock has 

been overfished (postseason estimates) or is approaching an overfished condition (preseason estimates). 

See “Overfished” definition. 

OFL is the overfishing limit and the preseason basis for establishing ABC. For Tier 1 and 2 stocks, the 

preseason OFL (OFLPRE) is based on the preseason total run size forecast and projected harvest in State 

waters (FSTATE) and is defined as the maximum stock-specific EEZ harvest (number of fish) that could 

occur during the coming fishing season while still achieving the spawning escapement target. For Tier 1 

and 2 stocks, the OFLPRE is not used to assess overfishing postseason (see “Overfishing” definition). For 

Tier 3 stocks, OFLPRE is the basis for setting the preseason ABC while the OFL is the postseason basis 

for the assessment of overfishing. For Tier 3 stocks, the NMFS SAFE Team recommends that the OFL 

is the largest cumulative CI EEZ harvest (number of fish; rolling sum) across a generation in the 

timeseries under consideration and the OFLPRE is the average harvest for the same years used to 

calculate the OFL. Overfished status is determined postseason by comparing annual spawning estimates 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 45 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              21 

to the established MSST. For stocks where MSST (or proxies) are defined, should a stock’s realized 

spawning escapement(s) summed across a generation fall below the MSST in any year, the stock would 

be declared overfished. Preseason projections of MSST are used to assess if a stock is approaching an 

overfished condition. For stocks or stock complexes without escapement goals or reliable estimates of 

escapement, it is not feasible to establish or assess the overfished status. 

Overfishing is defined for Tiers 1 and 2 stocks as occurring when the final, postseason estimate of the 

actual fishing mortality rate (FEEZ) exceeds the maximum fishing mortality rate (MFMT), with both FEEZ 

and MFMT calculated across the most recent generation of the species being assessed (e.g., for sockeye 

salmon, the most recently completed five fishing seasons). For tier 3 salmon stocks, overfishing is 

defined as occurring when the sum of the stock’s postseason EEZ harvests across a generation exceeds 

the Tier 3 OFL for that stock (See the OFL definition above), also calculated across a generation. 

Preseason projections are used to assess whether a stock is approaching a harvest rate (Tiers 1-2) or 

harvest level (number of fish; Tier 3) for which overfishing may occur. 

Total allowable catch (TAC) is the annual catch target for the directed fishery for a stock, set to prevent 

exceeding the ACL(s) for a stock or stocks in accordance with the Salmon FMP.

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 46 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              22 

3.2 Status Determination Criteria 

The Salmon FMP defines the following SDC and the methods by which these are set. 

SDC for salmon stocks are calculated using a three-tier system that accommodates varying levels of 

uncertainty and information. The three-tier system incorporates new scientific information and provides 

a mechanism to continually improve the SDC as new information becomes available. Under the three-

tier system, overfishing and overfished criteria and ABC levels for stocks are annually formulated. As 

described below, the ACL for each stock is set at or below the ABC. Each salmon stock is annually 

assessed to determine its status and whether (1) the catch has exceeded the ABC/ACL, (2) overfishing is 

occurring or the rate or level of fishing mortality for the stock is approaching overfishing, and (3) the 

stock is overfished, or the stock is approaching an overfished condition. 

For salmon stocks, the OFLPRE provides a reference for managers to monitor overfishing in-season, 

while overfishing is officially assessed postseason in order to account for realized escapement and 

harvest in all fisheries. The OFLPRE is derived through the annual assessment process, under the 

framework of the tier system. For Tiers 1 and 2, the OFLPRE equals the stock-specific amount of 

maximum potential harvest available in the EEZ (number of fish) after accounting for the spawning 

escapement goal and likely harvests outside of the EEZ. For Tier 3 stocks, the OFLPRE equals the largest 

average EEZ catch across a generation in the timeseries under consideration, unless an alternative catch 

value is recommended by the SSC on the basis of the best scientific information available. For all tiers, 

overfishing is officially assessed postseason when final harvest and escapement data are available to 

calculate stock level harvest, FEEZ, and MFMT. For Tier 1, overfishing is assessed using FEEZ, and 

MFMT for each stock, and for Tier 3 overfishing is assessed using the OFL (largest cumulative harvest 

for a stock across a generation time in the timeseries). 

Overfished status for each stock is determined using the spawning escapement estimate, available 

following the end of each fishing year, and compares those with MSST. For stocks considered to have 

reliable estimates of escapements, MSST is defined. If the number of spawners drops below the MSST 

then the stock is considered to be overfished. For stocks without reliable estimates of escapement, MSST 

is not defined and overfished status cannot be assessed. 

If overfishing has occurred or the stock is overfished, section 304(e)(3)(A) of the MSA requires the 

Council to immediately end overfishing and rebuild affected stocks. 

The MSA requires that FMPs include accountability measures to prevent ACLs from being exceeded. 

TACs are the principal accountability measures to prevent ACLs from being exceeded for the 

management of the salmon fisheries in the CI EEZ. These are described in the Salmon FMP and below.  

Annually, the Council, SSC, and NMFS will review (1) the stock assessment documents, (2) the OFLs, 

ABCs, ACLs, and TACs (3) NMFS’s determination of whether overfishing occurred in the previous 

salmon fishing year, (4) NMFS’s determination of whether any stocks are overfished and (5) NMFS’s 

determination of whether catch exceeded any ACL or TAC in the previous salmon fishing year.

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 47 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              23 

3.3 Three-Tier System 

As described in the Salmon FMP and this SAFE, SDC, OFLPRE,and ABC, are set prior to each fishing 

season using the three-tier system, detailed in Table 5. A stock is assigned to one of the three tiers based 

on the availability of information for that stock and model selection choices are made. Tier assignments 

and model choices are recommended by the NMFS SAFE Team to the SSC. The SSC recommends tier 

assignments, the stock assessment and model structure, including whether the best scientific information 

available is used for calculating the proposed OFLPRE and ABC/ACLs based on the three-tier system, the 

buffers used to reduce OFLPRE to proposed values of ABC and, if applicable, buffers considered for 

proposed values of ACL. 

The NMFS SAFE Team prepares the stock assessment and calculates the proposed preseason OFLs 

(OFLPRE). For Tier 1 and 2 stocks, OFLPRE is calculated from the preseason total run size forecast and 

projected harvest in State waters. For Tier 3 stocks, the OFLPRE is calculated from estimated historical 

harvests in the EEZ. The ABCs are set by applying a buffer to the OFLPRE to account for scientific 

uncertainty. 

Stock assessment documents shall: 

● specify how the OFLPRE is calculated for each stock; and 

● specify the factors influencing scientific uncertainty that are accounted for in calculation of the 

preseason ABC. 

The NMFS SAFE Team will annually review stock assessment documents, the most recent abundance 

estimates, the proposed OFLPRE, ABCs, ACLs, and compile the SAFE. The NMFS SAFE Team then 

makes recommendations to the SSC on the OFLPRE, ABCs, ACLs, and any other issues related to the 

salmon stocks. 

The SSC annually reviews the SAFE report, including the stock assessment documents, 

recommendations from the NMFS SAFE Team, and the methods to address scientific uncertainty. In 

reviewing the SAFE, NMFS and the SSC shall evaluate and make recommendations, as necessary, on: 

● the assumptions made for stock assessment models and estimation of OFLPRE; and, 

● the methods to appropriately quantify scientific uncertainty in the OFLPRE when setting the ABC 

and ACL. 

The SSC will then set the final OFLPRE, ABCs, and ACLs for the upcoming salmon fishing year. 

3.3.1 Accountability Measures 

Section 4.2.8 of the Salmon FMP describes accountability measures and provides preseason and 

postseason measures that could be implemented. If total harvest is determined to be above the 

postseason ACL, NMFS will report on the harvest overages in the SAFE report and make any 

recommendations on accountability measures to the SSC. If it is necessary to improve the science used 

in the assessment or methods used to manage TAC in the EEZ, such changes can be considered during 

the SSC and Council review process. Repeated overages of ACL will trigger NMFS to evaluate and 

address any systemic bias for the overages. Possible accountability measures could include increasing 

the buffer of the OFLPRE (to result in a lower ABC and resulting ACL and TAC) to account for scientific 

or management uncertainty. If implementation error is important in causing the overages, a review and 

revision of in-season management procedures may also be warranted.

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 48 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              24 

3.3.2 Tier 1 

Tier 1 is applicable to salmon stocks that have reliable estimates of annual spawning escapements and 

stock-specific harvests. Stocks assigned to Tier 1 also have data that is of high quality and complete, 

with reliable estimates of the spawners and associated brood-year recruits to inform spawning 

escapement goals; age estimates for harvest and escapement components; and, preseason forecasts of 

total run size. 

The Salmon FMP (summarized in Appendix C), Table 5, and the text below provide description and 

equations for the calculations of MSST, MFMT, FEEZ, FOFL, OFL, OFLPRE, ABC, and ACL for Tier 1 

stocks. 

For Tier 1, whether a stock is approaching or in an overfished state is assessed by comparing realized 

spawning escapements with the MSST. The MSST reference point is calculated as half of the 

escapement target multiplied by the generation time. If a stock’s total EEZ harvest summed across a 

generation time is less than the MSST, the stock will be determined to be overfished. 

For Tier 1 stocks, overfishing is assessed by comparing the stock-specific fishing mortality rate in the 

EEZ (FEEZ) with MFMT. The MFMT reference point is established based on stock-specific potential 

yield available in the CI EEZ after accounting for required spawning escapement and harvest of salmon 

from that stock in non-EEZ (State managed) fisheries. For this tier, overfishing is assessed with 

postseason estimates and deemed to occur if FEEZ exceeds MFMT. As described in the Salmon FMP, 

SDC are established based on estimates of harvest and escapement across the most recent generation. 

For example, for sockeye salmon, the generation time is the most recent 5 years. 

Preseason harvest estimates ( 𝐹̂𝐸𝐸𝑍 and  𝐹̂𝑆𝑇𝐴𝑇𝐸): The NMFS SAFE Team recommends to the SSC 

that the preseason estimate of likely harvests in State waters ( 𝐹̂𝑆𝑇𝐴𝑇𝐸) in the coming fishing season be 

based on the posterior predictive distribution of a Beta distribution conditioned on historical state 

harvest rates. The potential harvest rate in the EEZ (FEEZ) in the upcoming season can then be estimated 

by subtracting expected State harvest from the forecasted run size (minus the escapement target) and 

dividing by the total forecasted run size. OFLPRE: The preseason OFL (OFLPRE) in the EEZ is the 

estimated maximum harvest that could occur in the EEZ during a single season while still meeting the 

spawning escapement target and allowing for harvests in other fisheries. The OFLPRE is calculated from 

the preseason total run size forecast and accounts for likely harvests in other fisheries (i.e. those 

occurring in State waters) and the escapement target. OFLPRE = (forecasted run size) - (escapement 

target) - (non-EEZ harvest estimate). 

ABCPRE: Similar to the OFLPRE, the preseason ABC represents predicted potential yield in the EEZ for 

the coming fishing season after accounting for scientific uncertainty. The sources of uncertainty in the 

current model include the positive errors (over-forecasting) in one-year-ahead forecasts of run size and 

non-EEZ harvests. Additionally, we present an alternative approach for considering uncertainty based on 

the probability that the true OFL is below the forecasted estimate of OFLPRE using the estimated 

posterior distribution of predicted preseason yield  

Scientific buffers: In reducing OFLPRE for the purpose of setting ABC, the buffer acknowledges the 

uncertainty in preseason values for SDC. In the case of Tier 1 stocks, the buffer takes into consideration 

the retrospective positive error (over-forecasting) in OFLPRE (based on preseason run size forecasts and 

predicted State harvests) relative to realized postseason values. Specifically, the median symmetric 

accuracy (Morley et al. 2018) is calculated for preseason estimates of OFL/potential yield relative to 

postseason (realized) values over a 25-year window. The median symmetric accuracy is interpretable as 

a measure of percent error in preseason estimates relative to postseason values. Thus, in setting 

preseason management targets, OFLPRE is reduced by the percentage indicated by the median symmetric 

accuracy to result in the ABC and ACL.  Additionally, we present an alternative approach for the 

interpretation, and possible specification, of buffers based on the probability of exceeding the OFL 

under a given ABC value using the estimated posterior distribution of OFLPRE.  

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 49 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              25 

The NMFS SAFE Team has presented the following options to calculate SDC and harvest specifications 

for Tier 1 stocks. 

Tier 1, Option 1 (T1): The T1 approach assumes the availability of the ADF&G sibling model-based 

preseason total run size forecasts to be used in this SAFE with SDC and harvest specifications as 

described in the Salmon FMP and this SAFE. However, as ADF&G’s preseason salmon forecasts were 

not available in time to be used in this SAFE, this option will not be considered for this SAFE. 

Tier 1, Option 2 (Bayesian AR): This approach assumes that an ADF&G preseason total run size 

forecast will not be available in time to set SDC and harvest specifications. Thus, total run size for the 

coming fishing season is based on lag-1 autoregressive (AR-1) models fitted to available adult return 

data. AR forecasts are fit using RStan (Stan Development Team 2024), a Bayesian probabilistic 

programming language. Preseason forecasted state harvest (FSTATE) is estimated via the posterior 

predictive distribution of a Beta distribution conditioned on historical state harvest rates. Buffers are 

determined based on the median symmetric accuracy of OFLPRE estimates relative to postseason values 

over a 25-year retrospective period. Additionally, a range of buffers is presented based on the posterior 

probability distribution of OFLPRE. The benefit of this approach is that uncertainty associated with the 

preseason run size and State harvest forecasts are directly incorporated when calculating the OFL by 

using the posterior distributions of probable run sizes ( 𝑅̂𝑦) and state harvest rates ( 𝐹̂𝑠𝑡𝑎𝑡𝑒,𝑦) in year 𝑦, 

where:  

𝑂𝐹𝐿̂𝑦 = 𝑅̂𝑦 − 𝐺𝑦 − (𝐹̂𝑠𝑡𝑎𝑡𝑒,𝑦 ∗ 𝑅̂𝑦). 

This process results in a distribution of OFL values with associated relative probabilities of occurring 

given the uncertainty associated with the aforementioned forecasts. We present a range of buffers that 

would result in ABC values that have a 1-49% chance of exceeding the true OFL based on the estimated 

posterior distribution of OFLPRE. We present these values (1) as a tool to provide context and 

interpretation of the buffers generated based on retrospective forecast skill (i.e., this allows one to 

determine the approximate probability of exceeding the OFL under the buffer value/ABC generated 

using the retrospective approach that has been used in previous assessments, and is recommended for 

2026), and (2) to give the SSC and NPFMC the option to discuss setting buffers based on an acceptable 

risk tolerance. 

3.3.3  Tier 2 

Tier 2 is for salmon stocks managed as a complex, with specific tributaries or drainages as indicator 

stocks and stock-specific estimates of harvests. Indicator stocks are stocks for which sufficient data 

exists to allow for the development of measurable and objective SDC and can be used as a proxy to 

manage and evaluate data poor stocks within the stock complex. 

For Tier 2 stock complexes, FEEZ, MFMT, FOFL, and MSST for indicator stocks will be set using the 

same equations as Tier 1 stocks with overfishing and overfished determinations also assessed in the 

same way as Tier 1 stocks. 

For Tier 2 stocks, the OFLPRE, ABC, ACL, and the buffer to reduce OFLPRE and potential yield will be 

set for a stock complex in the same way as Tier 1 stocks.  

ACL < or = ABC. 

At present, the NMFS SAFE Team does not recommend designating any CI EEZ salmon stock as Tier 2. 

An additional consideration for setting SDC and harvest specifications for stock complexes is that, while 

there is assumed to be a relatively thorough accounting of all harvests for the stock, there may be many 

tributaries for which spawning escapements are not assessed or are assessed with methods for which the 

total numbers of spawners cannot be estimated with high precision. As such, the escapement goals and 

annual spawning escapement estimates for stock complexes may represent an index of spawners that is 

an unknown portion of the overall escapements. Because of this, compared to Tier 1 stocks, the 

calculated MFMT value for Tier 2 stocks may be inflated relative to FEEZ and an overfishing 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 50 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              26 

determination may be less likely to occur (vs. a Tier 1 stock) as a result, meaning, an overfishing 

designation may not be triggered for Tier 2 stock complexes, even if such a designation were warranted. 

Explained in more detail at the equation level, the numerator of MFMT represents maximum potential 

yield after subtracting non-EEZ harvests and the lower bound of the escapement goal. However, since 

the escapement goals for Tier 2 stocks are only indices of abundance, and not actual numbers of fish, 

subtracting this index value (and non-EEZ harvests) from the total run size would result in potential 

yield that would necessarily be larger than the actual yield available. Therefore, applying Tier 1 methods 

for SDC and harvest specifications to Tier 2 stock complexes may be less precautionary with respect to 

overfishing than using these methods to assess Tier 1 stocks. 

An alternative consideration for stock complexes, is that, if there is incomplete monitoring of indicator 

stocks, then an overfishing or overfished determination could be made when it is not warranted for the 

larger stock complex. 

As was recommended previously, for the 2026 assessment, the NMFS SAFE Team again recommends 

that, because the estimates of overall total escapement and associated total run size estimates are not 

“reliable,” these stocks be classified as Tier 3 for establishing SDC and harvest specifications until 

sufficient information is available to form consensus on the tradeoffs associated with a Tier 2 vs. Tier 3 

determination. 

Note that, compared with Tiers 1 and 2, the method for establishing ABC and ACL for Tier 3 stocks 

(below) also provides a larger range of buffers for the SSC to consider. 

Recommendation:  The NMFS SAFE Team recommends additional research to refine estimates of 

total run sizes and associated components (escapements and mortality) for CI salmon stocks; particularly 

for stocks where such estimates do not currently exist. These estimates will facilitate improved 

management. 

3.3.4 Tier 3 

Tier 3 is for salmon stocks without reliable estimates of escapement. Stocks in this tier may have at least 

one tributary monitored to assess spawning escapements, but, relative to Tier 1 and 2 stocks, any 

escapement goals or associated inseason assessment of escapement represent a coarse and/or unknown 

index of abundance rather than a true number of fish. For stocks in this tier, because there are no reliable 

estimates of the total number of spawners, total run size, FEEZ, and MFMT for Tier 3 stocks cannot be 

verifiably estimable and the FOFL control rule is not applicable. As described in the Salmon FMP, 

historical harvest data is used to set the OFL and OFLPRE for this tier. To assess an overfished 

determination, MSST is only estimable if the stock or stock complex has at least one tributary with a 

spawning escapement goal, in which case an overfished determination would be the same as for Tier 1 

stocks. 

OFL: The OFL is the largest cumulative EEZ catch of the stock in the timeseries under consideration 

across a generation of the species (T years), unless an alternative catch value is recommended by the 

SSC on the basis of the best scientific information available. This definition of overfishing assumes that 

the maximum catch in the historical record is analogous to the Tier 1 definition of MSY for the stock. 

As such, any harvest greater than the maximum historical catch represents harvest in excess of 

maximum potential yield in the EEZ (harvest in excess of that necessary to achieve adequate spawning 

escapement and harvests in other fisheries). Similar to the Tier 1 definition, if harvest of a Tier 3 stock 

was in excess of maximum potential yield for an entire generation, then the stock would be subject to 

overfishing. 

OFLPRE: The OFLPRE is the largest average harvest from the stock that occurred in the EEZ across a 

generation in the timeseries under consideration. 

ABC: The preseason ABC is the OFLPRE reduced by a buffer to account for uncertainty. ABC would be 

set each year during the annual stock status determination process based on the best available 

information. 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 51 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              27 

Scientific buffer: Stocks assigned a Tier 3 designation lack sufficient data for a scientifically-informed 

buffer such as that used for Tier 1 stocks. As such, a range of naive buffers from 0.1 to 0.9 will be 

applied and the resulting management quantities under each buffer value will be presented and 

compared for SSC consideration. The range of buffers available for Tier 3 stocks provides additional 

flexibility for the SSC to consider, with recommendations by the NMFS SAFE Team based on 

comparisons of the buffered ABC values with past EEZ harvests and other stock attributes relative to 

status quo harvests under State management. For stocks that are considered to be a management, yield, 

or conservation concern by the SSC, a more conservative buffer could be recommended in order to 

reduce OFLPRE by a larger amount. 

ACL: The preseason ACL is equal to ABC for Tier 3 stocks. For Tier 3 stocks, because the OFL is 

based solely on historical harvests, there is limited data on which to base uncertainty estimates for a 

buffer. The NMFS SAFE Team recommends that no distinction be made between ABC and ACL.

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 52 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              28 

 

 
Figure 1. An illustration of the FOFL control rule for Tier 1 and 2 salmon stocks. SDC will allow for 

acceptable biological catch of a stock in the EEZ until the actual fishing mortality rate (FEEZ) reaches 

parity with the maximum fishing mortality threshold (MFMT), the largest amount of EEZ harvest that 

the stock can sustain over a generation while still achieving the spawning escapement target. At parity 

with MFMT, FEEZ = FOFL. Overfishing occurs when the actual fishing mortality rate exceeds the 

maximum fishing mortality rate (above a FEEZ:FMFMT ratio of 1), the spawning escapement goal is not 

being achieved across a generation. FEEZ and MFMT are normalized to total run size and assessed over a 

generation using postseason (final) estimate

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 53 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              29 

 

Table 5. Three-Tier System for setting OFLs, ABCs, and ACLs for salmon stocks. The tiers are listed in 

descending order of information availability. 

Tier 
Information 

Available 
FOFL 

ABC control 

rule* 

Buffers 

considered 
ABC 

1 

Escapement 

goal 

 

Spawning 

escapement  

 

Stock-

specific 

harvests 

across 

fisheries 

 

Total run 

size 

estimates 

 

FOFL:  harvest rate such that 

FEEZ = MFMT; 

where: 

𝐹𝐸𝐸𝑍,𝑡

=
∑𝑡

𝑖=𝑡−𝑇+1 𝐶𝐸𝐸𝑍,𝑖

∑𝑡
𝑖=𝑡−𝑇+1 𝑅𝑖

 

𝑀𝐹𝑀𝑇𝑡

=
∑𝑡

𝑖=𝑡−𝑇+1 𝑌𝐸𝐸𝑍,𝑖

∑𝑡
𝑖=𝑡−𝑇+1 𝑅𝑖

; 

 

 

𝐴𝐵𝐶
≤ 𝑂𝐹𝐿𝑃𝑅𝐸  

  Median 

Symmetric 

Accuracy buffer 

based on positive 

errors (over-

forecasting of 

OFLPRE) and 

based on a given 

probability of the 

ABC being below 

the true OFL 

based on the 

posterior 

distribution of 

OFLPRE 

𝐴𝐵𝐶𝑡 = [(𝑅𝑡
̂ − 𝐶̂𝑠𝑡𝑎𝑡𝑒,𝑡 − 𝐺𝑡) ∗ (1 − 𝐵𝑡)  

2 

Escapement 

goal for 

indicator 

stock(s) 

 

Spawning 

escapements 

for indictor 

stock(s) 

 

Stock-

specific 

harvests 

across 

fisheries 

 

Total run 

size 

estimates 

FOFL:  harvest rate such that 

FEEZ = MFMT; 

where: 

𝐹𝐸𝐸𝑍,𝑡

=
∑𝑡

𝑖=𝑡−𝑇+1 𝐶𝐸𝐸𝑍,𝑖

∑𝑡
𝑖=𝑡−𝑇+1 𝑅𝑖

 

𝑀𝐹𝑀𝑇𝑡

=
∑𝑡

𝑖=𝑡−𝑇+1 𝑌𝐸𝐸𝑍,𝑖

∑𝑡
𝑖=𝑡−𝑇+1 𝑅𝑖

; 

 

𝐴𝐵𝐶
≤ 𝑂𝐹𝐿𝑃𝑅𝐸  

 Median Symmetric 

Accuracy buffer 

based on positive 

errors (over-

forecasting) of 

OFLPRE 

 

𝐴𝐵𝐶𝑡 = [(𝑅𝑡
̂ − 𝐶̂𝑠𝑡𝑎𝑡𝑒,𝑡 − 𝐺𝑡) ∗ (1 − 𝐵𝑡)  

 

 

3 

Harvests 

 

Any 

escapement 

goals 

Overfishing assessed with 

the OFL 

𝐴𝐵𝐶
≤ 𝑂𝐹𝐿𝑃𝑅𝐸  

(1) range of 0.1 

0.9 considered 

 

(2) Additional 

buffer 

considerations for 

“weak” stocks 

𝐴𝐵𝐶𝑡 = 𝑂𝐹𝐿𝑃𝑅𝐸,𝑡 ∗ (1 − 𝐵𝑡) 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 54 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              30 

 

The following descriptions are associated with the equations provided in Table 5: 

● FEEZ 

▪ T = generation time expressed as years 

▪ t = run year 

▪ Rt = annual run size 

▪ CEEZ = annual EEZ catch of stock in year t 

● MFMT 

▪ 𝑌𝐸𝐸𝑍,𝑡 = 𝑚𝑎𝑥(0, 𝑅𝑡 − 𝐺𝑡 − 𝐶𝑠𝑡𝑎𝑡𝑒,𝑡) 

● YEEZ,i  = potential yield in the EEZ 

▪ Rt = annual run size 

▪ Cstate,t = realized harvest in State waters in year t 

▪ G = escapement target for stock 

● ABC 

▪ 𝑅̂𝑡  = total run size 

▪ 𝐶̂𝑠𝑡𝑎𝑡𝑒,𝑡 = harvest in State waters 

▪ G = escapement target for stock 

▪ Buffer (B) = Tier 1&2: median symmetric accuracy/probabilistic approach, Tier 3: 

range of 0.1-0.9 

● OFL 

▪ 𝑂𝐹𝐿𝑃𝑅𝐸 =  𝑅̂𝑡 − 𝐶̂𝑠𝑡𝑎𝑡𝑒,𝑡 − 𝐺𝑡 (Tier 1) 

▪ 𝑅̂𝑡 = preseason total run size forecast 

▪ 𝐶̂𝑠𝑡𝑎𝑡𝑒,𝑡 =  State harvest forecast 

▪ 𝐺𝑡 = escapement target for stock 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 55 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              31 

4 2025 Stock Assessments 

4.1 Data and assessments for all stocks 

Existing estimates of escapement and stock assessments used for this SAFE originate from the State of 

Alaska with data available through its website (www.adfg.alaska.gov) and associated publications 

(https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/sf/publications/); additional details are provided below in the assessments 

for each stock. 2024-2025 salmon harvests in the EEZ were obtained from eLandings/EEZ landed fish 

tickets. The most recent stock assessments and escapement goal recommendations for Kenai River late-

run sockeye salmon (Hasbrouck et al. 2022), Kenai Late Run Large Chinook salmon (Fleischman and 

Reimer 2017), Susitna River Chinook salmon (Reimer and DeCovich 2020), and assessments for other 

stocks (Mckinley et al. 2024) can be found through the ADF&G publications page (ADF&G 2026a) and 

the State’s Board of Fisheries website (ADF&G 2026b). Additional data, estimates, and other relevant 

information can be found within, or referenced in, annual management reports (Lipka and Stumpf 

2025a; Lipka and Stumpf 2024), season summaries (Lipka and Stumpf 2025b; Lipka and Stumpf 2024), 

preseason forecasts (Gatt and Erickson 2025; Gatt and Erickson 2024), the Sport Fish harvest survey 

website (ADF&G 2026c), the statewide escapement goal reports (Munro and Gatt 2025; Munro 2023), 

the CI Area commercial salmon fishing regulations (ADF&G 2026d), and other publications.  

Future SAFEs may incorporate some or all of the ADF&G’s UCI preseason salmon forecasts; however, 

whether this occurs is largely determined by the extent to which such forecasts are available in time to 

be reviewed by NMFS and the SSC. 

Methods used by the NMFS SAFE Team to estimate historical harvests within the CI EEZ are described 

in the EA/RIR prepared for amendment 16 and the implementing regulations (NOAA Fisheries 2024). 

Of note is that, while there is now a Federal salmon fishery in the CI EEZ, these historical estimates 

continue to be used in SDC for the stocks. In summary, these estimates were made by considering the 

geographical overlap between the Federal CI EEZ and the State statistical areas where salmon landings 

were reported by fishers to have occurred, combined with professional judgment of managers regarding 

the distribution of the drift fleet. Because there was not a wholly-Federal salmon fishery confined to the 

CI EEZ prior to 2024, the accuracy of the historical EEZ harvest proportion estimates are unknown and 

treated deterministically in this SAFE. At the discretion of the SSC, future analyses could incorporate 

some measure of agreed-upon uncertainty into the historical EEZ estimates from stock composition 

studies (Barclay 2020, 2024; Barclay and Chenowith 2021; Barclay et al. 2019) and other sources.  

The analyses and data estimates used for the stock status summaries in this SAFE, including versions of 

model updates, are available through the following GitHub repository:  https://github.com/afsc-

assessments/Cook-Inlet-SAFE.  

The NMFS SAFE Team welcomes feedback on the analyses, either through GitHub or by contacting 

the NMFS SAFE Team authors directly via e-mail or phone.

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 56 of 154

http://www.adfg.alaska.gov/
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/sf/publications/
https://github.com/afsc-assessments/Cook-Inlet-SAFE
https://github.com/afsc-assessments/Cook-Inlet-SAFE


Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              32 

4.2    Kenai River Late Run Sockeye Salmon 

 
Figure 2. Map showing the CI EEZ and the Kenai River watershed located in Upper Cook Inlet. 

Definition: As described in the Salmon FMP, the Kenai River Late Run sockeye salmon (KNSOCK) 

stock is defined as the Kenai Late Run sockeye salmon harvest in the CI EEZ. The Federal definition for 

this stock also includes spawning escapements and associated spawning escapement targets that are 

necessary to produce sustainable yields in future years. 

4.2.1 Retrospective assessment of fishery information relative to status determination criteria, 

including overfishing and overfished designations 

The 2025 estimated total harvests, spawning escapements, and total run size of the KNSOCK are still 

preliminary (Table 6 and Table 7). Based on ADF&G’s genetic mixed stock analysis, approximately 

68% of the sockeye salmon harvested in the overall drift gillnet fishery were from the KNSOCK stock. 

Using this mixed stock analysis, during 2025, an estimated 262K fish from this stock were harvested in 

the CI EEZ; which was less than the 2025 preseason OFL (515K), ABC/ACL (360K), and the KNSOCK 

proportion of TAC (360K; Table 3).  

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 57 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              33 

Because the estimated KNSOCK harvest rate in the EEZ over the most recent generation (FEEZ) of 0.065 

was substantially lower than the estimated MFMT of 0.263 and the cumulative escapement (10.50M) 

over the most recent generation was larger than MSST (3.03M) (Table 2), it is the recommendation of 

the NMFS SAFE Team that overfishing did not occur during 2025 and that the stock is not overfished. 

4.2.2 Data and assessment methodology 

4.2.2.1 Data input changes for 2026 

The 2026 SAFE includes catch data from the 2024-2025 federally managed CI EEZ fishery. These data 

represent the first and second years during which the catch from the EEZ was known, as opposed to 

being estimated during previous years in the timeseries (Table 7).  

Additionally, ADF&G provided the NMFS SAFE Team with estimates of the 2025 genetic mixed stock 

analysis proportions of KNSOCK sockeye salmon stock contributions to the UCI drift gillnet fishery. 

These data allow for more accurate estimates of the individual stock contributions to the harvest in the 

EEZ, compared to the 2024 SAFE that used a historical average genetic mixed stock analysis proportion. 

4.2.2.2 Changes in assessment methodology for 2026 

As described previously, the 2026 assessment relies on the same time-series-based approach for 

forecasting run sizes for tier-1 stocks as has been used in previous assessments (2024, 2025). These 

models are now estimated in Bayesian context to allow broader consideration of buffer approaches, and 

to respond to the SSC’s request in both 2024 and 2025 that buffers be explicitly related to a given 

probability of overfishing (i.e., exceeding the OFL). Preseason estimates of State harvest are now based 

on the posterior predictive distribution of a Beta distribution conditioned on historical State harvest data 

(Appendix B). This change is implemented to reflect (1) lack of temporal structure in State harvest rates, 

and (2) to propagate uncertainty in state harvest rates given the evolving nature of the joint State and 

Federal fisheries in Cook Inlet. For 2026, similar to the 2025 SAFE, OFLPRE to ABC buffers are based 

on an estimate of retrospective forecast skill (positive errors/over-forecasting, as in 2025) of OFLPRE. 

The historical period in which this performance is assessed has been expanded from 10 years to 25 years 

based on SSC recommendations. Additionally, we also provide a preliminary approach to evaluating and 

determining buffers based on the probability of exceeding the true OFL under a given value of ABC 

using the posterior distribution of OFLPRE (Appendix B, Table B1). 

4.2.2.3 Changes in assessment results for 2026 

The 2026 SAFE calculates the Tier 1 buffer using positive errors (over-forecasting) over a 25 year time 

period (in contrast to the 10 year window used in 2024-2025), which resulted in a KNSOCK buffer of 

0.539. Based on the percentile method presented in Table B1 of Appendix B, this buffer value is 

associated with an approximate risk of the true OFL being below the resulting ABC (i.e., exceeding the 

OFL if the ABC is harvested) of between 25-26%. 

4.2.2.4 Existing data and assessment 

The ADF&G data and stock assessment sources used for the Federal assessment of the KNSOCK are 

described in this section (Section 4.2), with the additional consideration that Appendix 14 of the A16 

EA/RIR includes an examination of density-dependent effects for this stock. 

The data used to assess KNSOCK are considered to be complete and of high quality with estimates of 

stock-specific harvests, spawning escapements, the resulting recruits from those spawners, and age 

estimates for harvests and escapements. Historical juvenile (freshwater) and smolt data also exists for 

this stock. 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 58 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              34 

The complete spawner and recruitment data for this stock enabled the use of Ricker models and yield 

analyses to evaluate spawner-recruitment relationships and inform the bounds of the State spawning 

escapement goal range. 

Sibling model relationships for the dominant age classes inform ADF&G’s pre-season estimates of total 

run size, with forecasted returns of minor age classes based on recent average returns. 

4.2.2.5 Federal data and assessments 

After review by NMFS and unless otherwise stated, this SAFE incorporates ADF&G data and associated 

estimates of harvest (2024-2025 harvest in State waters and 1999 – 2023 harvest estimates from the 

EEZ), escapement, age, sex, and other data (Table 7). However, because of the timeline necessary to 

produce this SAFE and prosecute the Federal salmon fishery in the CI EEZ in 2026, this SAFE 

estimated inriver harvests (e.g., sportfish and personal use) for 2025.  

To inform SDC and harvest specifications, the Federal stock assessment relied on the method described 

previously for Tier 1 stocks. In the absence of ADF&G’s preseason run size forecast, the NMFS SAFE 

Team recommends using the Bayesian AR-1 approach to predict run size and State harvest levels, and 

the resulting buffers to account for scientific uncertainty in reducing the preseason OFL to the 

recommended ABC. The annual Federal assessment of stocks in the CI EEZ salmon fishery may, in the 

future, incorporate some or all of the ADF&G’s UCI preseason salmon forecasts; however, whether this 

occurs is largely determined by whether they are available in time to be reviewed by NMFS and the SSC 

and be incorporated into the annual SAFE report.  

4.2.3 Stock size and recruitment trends 

Stock overview: Based on historical estimates, KNSOCK is the dominant stock of sockeye salmon 

harvested in the CI EEZ drift gillnet fishery and the largest stock of any salmon species harvested in the 

CI EEZ. During the most recent five-year period (2021 – 2025), an average of ~68% of the drift gillnet 

sockeye salmon harvested in the CI EEZ is estimated to have been from KNSOCK, with a range of drift 

gillnet EEZ harvests of ~234 – 362K during this period (Table 7). Total run size during the 2021 – 2025 

period ranged from 2.93 –8.07M fish. As such, the recent CI EEZ harvest rate, FEEZ, has been a minor 

portion of the overall run size (0.06–0.08) and well below the MFMT (0.15 – 0.26).  

Escapement goals:  The State of Alaska’s KNSOCK spawning escapement goals (2012–2019: 

700,000–1.2M; 2020–present: 750,000–1.3M) have been consistently achieved or exceeded during 

recent years. From 2021 – 2025, an average of approximately 2.1 million sockeye salmon were 

estimated to have spawned in the Kenai River system with a range of ~1.2 – 3.8M).  

Spawner-recruitment and yield trends: When examining data from the 1979 – 2012 brood years, 

spawner-recruitment analyses conducted by ADF&G suggest that approximately 1.2M spawners would 

result in the point estimate of SMSY (SMSY-POINT) for this stock, with a range of 774,000 – 1.74M resulting 

in 90% of MSY. The ADF&G point estimate of SMSY (SMSY-POINT; 1.212M) was corroborated by an 

analysis in Appendix 14 of the EA/RIR. KNSOCK has poorly defined density dependent characteristics 

(Figure 3), which also result in estimates of SMSY (SMSY-POINT) that are imprecise and variable across 

modeling methods. Possible reasons for poorly defined density dependence and the large range of 

escapements to result in SMSY-POINT could include: (1) the paucity of large escapements during past years 

to parameterize spawner-recruitment models, combined with the dynamic nature of (2) harvests in other 

areas across years (Shedd et al. 2016); (3) the productive capacity for the Kenai River and ocean 

environment to spawn and rear sockeye salmon (i.e., time-varying productivity); and/or (4) the variability 

of inriver and marine survival trends across years. 

 

4.2.4 Tier determination and resulting OFL and ABC determination for 2026 

Consistent with the 2025 SAFE, the NMFS SAFE Team recommends a Tier 1 determination for 

KNSOCK during 2026. This recommendation is based on the availability of a long history of escapement 

data believed to represent actual numbers of spawners (rather than an index), spawner-recruitment model 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 59 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              35 

estimates and yield analyses that inform the State’s escapement goal range, stock-specific harvest data, 

age composition data for all stock components, complete brood tables, and a preseason forecast of total 

run size that is informed by sibling model relationships. 

This SAFE uses the Bayesian AR-1 approach to predict the preseason OFL and the resulting ABC. An 

AR-1 model was fit to past (1979 – 2025) Kenai River total run sizes, and a Beta distribution of historical 

(2015-2025) state harvest rates was estimated, the posterior predictive distribution of which was used to 

predict the preseason State harvest rate. Unless stated otherwise, predictions represent median posterior 

values. The AR-1 model forecasts a 2026 Kenai River total run size of 4,767,278 sockeye salmon (Figure 

4A), and predicts a State harvest rate of 0.468, meaning that approximately half of the total run is 

predicted to be harvested in State fisheries during 2026. The forecasted run size and State harvest rate are 

used to estimate preseason values of SDC and potential yield (which is the OFLPRE for the coming 

fishing season). The NMFS SAFE Team recommendations for OFLPRE, buffer (the median symmetric 

accuracy buffer described previously in Section 3.3.2) and the resulting ABC are in Table 8). The 

recommended ABC incorporates the achievement of the biologically-based spawning escapement target, 

is reduced from a level that represents maximum potential yield for a single year, and is buffered to 

account for scientific uncertainty.  

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 60 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              36 

 

 
Figure 3. Ricker model fit to Kenai River late-run sockeye salmon. Spawner-recruit data from 1979–

2015 (solid line) and 1979–2012 (dashed line). From Mckinley et al. (2024), the most recent ADF&G 

stock assessment for Kenai Late Run sockeye salmon. Vertical lines represent SMSY-POINT for each model. 

The shaded area is the current State escapement goal (750,000–1,300,000).

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 61 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              37 

 

 
Figure 4. Kenai River Late Run sockeye salmon preseason Bayesian AR-1 model output. Panel A shows 

historical model fits (red) to Kenai River sockeye salmon run size data (black), with posterior median 

values indicated by the solid line, and 50% and 95% credible intervals indicated by dark and light 

shaded boundaries respectively. Panel B shows the retrospective forecast performance of the AR-1 

model (orange), relative to the state’s sibling model approach (teal), with realized run size levels shown 

in black. The mean absolute percentage error (MAPE) of both the AR-1 approach and the state’s sibling 

approach is also presented. Panel C shows retrospective model-based forecasts of preseason OFL 

(blue) relative to true postseason values (black). Panel D shows the historical time-series of EEZ catch 

relative to the recommended OFL and ABC for 2026. EEZ harvest estimates prior to 2024 are based on 

methods and assumptions described in section 4.1 of this SAFE report. The Kenai River late run sockeye 

salmon stock catch is estimated from the total CI EEZ catch using genetic mixed stock analysis. 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 62 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              38 

 

 
Figure 5. 2025 Kenai River Late Run sockeye salmon CI EEZ catch. Panel A depicts catch by day and 

panel B shows cumulative daily catch compared to the 2025 TAC. Note that the Kenai River Late Run 

sockeye salmon catch is estimated from the total CI EEZ sockeye salmon catch using genetic mixed 

stock analysis.

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 63 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              39 

 

Table 6. Status and recommended catch specifications for Tier 1 Kenai River Late Run sockeye salmon. 

For 2026, the NMFS SAFE Team recommends a buffer of 0.539 be used to reduce the preseason OFL 

(potential yield in the CI EEZ) to the recommended ABC of 591,509 sockeye salmon. Values for 

MSST, MFMT, OFL, and ABC have been presented to reflect the recommendation by the SSC to 

use SMSY-POINT (1,212,000 spawners) as the escapement target. An overfished determination is 

assessed postseason by comparing the minimum stock size threshold (MSST), one half of the sum of the 

stock’s spawning escapement target summed across a generation, with actual cumulative escapement 

summed across a generation (Cum. Escap.). For Tier 1 stocks, overfishing is assessed postseason by 

comparing the maximum fishing mortality threshold (MFMT), the largest potential harvest rate in the 

EEZ while still achieving the spawning escapement target and non-EEZ harvests, with the actual 

estimated harvest rate assessed over a generation (FEEZ). Rates are normalized to total run size. Shaded 

values are new estimates or projections based on the current assessment. Note that estimates for EEZ 

harvests prior to 2024 were calculated as described in section 4.1. Note that bolded values were 

calculated using preliminary estimates of run size and escapement which include the five-year average 

harvest above the river mile 19 sonar station, and will be updated in future CI SAFE reports when final 

estimates are available from ADF&G. 

Esc. 

Target 
Year MSST 

Cum. 

Escap. 
 MFMT FEEZ 

Total 

Run 

EEZ 

Harvest 
OFLPRE ABC 

SMSY-PT          

 2021 3,030 7,024 0.145 0.061 3,992 256 NA NA 

 2022 3,030 7,156 0.160 0.068 2,929 330 NA NA 

 2023 3,030 8,155 0.203 0.076 3,638 362 NA NA 

 2024 3,030 8,252 0.206 0.074 3,705 234 901.9 431 

 2025 3,030 10,495 0.263 0.065 8,068 262 514.8 360 

 2026 3,030      1284 592 

 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 64 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              40 

 

Table 7. Historical data for Tier 1 Kenai River Late Run sockeye salmon used to inform the SDC and harvest specifications. The table includes 

year of the salmon run, the estimate of total run size (000’s), the spawning escapement (000’s), the Federal spawning escapement target (SMSY-

POINT; 000’s), the total catch across all fisheries (000’s), the estimate State waters catch (000’s), the fraction of the catch estimated to have 

occurred in State waters across a generation, the estimated EEZ catch (000’s), the fraction of the total catch estimated to have occurred in the 

EEZ across a generation, the maximum fishing morality threshold, and the potential yield in the EEZ (000’s), cumulative escapement (000’s), 

and minimum stock size threshold (MSST; 000’s). For this SAFE, MFMT and Potential Yield in the EEZ reflect the 2024 SSC recommendation 

that these be based on a point estimate of SMSY (SMSY-POINT) for this stock of 1,212,000 spawners. The lower bound of the State escapement goal is 

750K sockeye salmon (2017 - 2025). For this table, MFMT and Potential Yield in the EEZ reflect the 2024 SSC recommendation that these be 

based on a point estimate of SMSY (SMSY-POINT) for this stock of 1.212 million spawners. Note that EEZ harvest prior to 2024 is estimated as 

described in section 4.1. 

Year Run size Esc. 

Esc. 
Target 
(SMSY-

POINT)   

Total catch  State 
catch FSTATE EEZ Catch FEEZ MFMT Potential 

Yield EEZ 
Cum. 
Esc. MSST 

1999 2985 949 1212 2055 1715 0.575 341 NA NA 58 NA NA 

2000 1815 697 1212 1118 937 0.516 181 NA NA 0 NA NA 

2001 2190 738 1212 1451 1230 0.562 221 NA NA 0 NA NA 

2002 3467 1127 1212 2340 1980 0.571 360 NA NA 274 NA NA 

2003 4440 1402 1212 3037 2606 0.587 431 0.103 0.064 622 4893 3030 

2004 5705 1691 1212 4015 3298 0.578 716 0.108 0.119 1195 5655 3030 

2005 6109 1654 1212 4455 3598 0.589 857 0.118 0.155 1299 6612 3030 

2006 2849 1892 1212 957 850 0.298 107 0.109 0.185 787 7766 3030 

2007 3602 964 1212 2638 1863 0.517 774 0.127 0.195 526 7603 3030 

2008 2082 709 1212 1374 1154 0.554 220 0.131 0.187 0 6910 3030 

2009 2430 848 1212 1582 1255 0.516 328 0.134 0.153 0 6067 3030 

2010 3596 1038 1212 2558 1886 0.524 672 0.144 0.124 499 5451 3030 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 65 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              41 

Year Run size Esc. 

Esc. 
Target 
(SMSY-

POINT)   

Total catch  State 
catch FSTATE EEZ Catch FEEZ MFMT Potential 

Yield EEZ 
Cum. 
Esc. MSST 

2011 6263 1281 1212 4982 3842 0.613 1140 0.174 0.124 1209 4840 3030 

2012 4770 1213 1212 3557 2343 0.491 1214 0.187 0.153 1214 5088 3030 

2013 3628 980 1212 2648 1965 0.542 683 0.195 0.163 451 5360 3030 

2014 3404 1218 1212 2186 1682 0.494 504 0.194 0.179 510 5730 3030 

2015 3819 1400 1212 2419 2181 0.571 238 0.173 0.174 426 6092 3030 

2016 3712 1120 1212 2592 2192 0.591 400 0.157 0.15 308 5931 3030 

2017 2596 1071 1212 1525 13237 0.51 202 0.118 0.102 61 5790 3030 

2018 1566 887 1212 679 582 0.372 97 0.095 0.086 0 5696 3030 

2019 3542 1457 1212 2085 1833 0.517 252 0.078 0.085 497 5935 3030 

2020 2394 1606 1212 788 738 0.308 50 0.073 0.095 444 6140 3030 

2021 3992 2003 1212 1989 1733 0.434 256 0.061 0.145 1047 7024 3030 

2022 2929 1203 1212 1726 1396 0.477 330 0.068 0.160 321 7156 3030 

2023 3638 1885 1212 1752 1391 0.382 362 0.076 0.203 1035 8155 3030 

2024* 3705 1555 1212 2150 1916 0.517 234 0.074 0.206 576 8252 3030 

2025* 8068 3849 1212 4219 3957 0.49 262 0.065 0.263 2899 10495 3030 

*Note that run size, escapement (Esc.), total catch, FSTATE, MFMT, potential yield EEZ, and cumulative escapement (Cum. Esc.) calculations 
include preliminary estimates of total run size, escapement, and State harvest, which were calculated using the five-year historical average 
harvest occurring above RM19 sonar station. Final values will be presented in future CI SAFE reports pending finalized estimates from ADF&G. 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 66 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              42 

Table 8. Tier 1 Kenai River Late Run sockeye salmon preseason SDC. Includes the 2026 AR-1 model 

forecasted run size, State harvest proportion ( 𝐹̂𝑆𝑇𝐴𝑇𝐸), and resulting OFL, buffer, ABC, forecasted FEEZ, 

and MFMT.  Note that OFLPRE  and Potential yield are calculated using the full posterior distributions of 

run size (R̂) and state harvest (𝐹̂𝑆𝑇𝐴𝑇𝐸) rather than the point estimates (posterior medians) of these 

quantities presented here. 

Run 

Size (𝑅̂) 
𝐹̂𝑆𝑇𝐴𝑇𝐸 

Potential 

yield EEZ 
Buffer OFLPRE ABC 

Forecasted 

FEEZ 
MFMT 

4,767,278 0.468 1,284,478 0.539 1,284,478 591,509 0.107 0.265 

        

*Note that values presented in this table were calculated using preliminary 2024-2025 run size and 

escapement estimates, which include estimated in-river harvest occurring above the river mile 19 sonar 

station using the five-year historical average. 

 

Table 9. Kenai River late-run sockeye salmon observed escapements and current escapement targets.  

Year 
Federal escapement target 

(SMSY-POINT) (thousands) 
 Escapement (thousands) 

2014   1,218 

2015   1,400 

2016   1,120 

2017   1,071 

2018   887 

2019   1,457 

2020   1,606 

2021   2,003 

2022   1,203 

2023   1,885 

2024 1,212  1,555 

2025 1,212  3,849* 

*Estimated using five-year average of in-river harvests occurring above Kenai River RM19 sonar 

station. 

  

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 67 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              43 

4.3 Kasilof River Sockeye Salmon 

 
Figure 6. Map showing the CI EEZ and the Kasilof River watershed located in Upper Cook Inlet. 

 

Definition: As described in the Salmon FMP, the Kasilof River sockeye salmon stock (KASOCK) is 

defined as the Kasilof River sockeye salmon harvest in the CI EEZ. The Federal definition for this stock 

also includes spawning escapements and associated spawning escapement targets that are necessary to 

produce sustainable yields in future years. 

4.3.1 Retrospective assessment of fishery information relative to status determination criteria, 

including overfishing and overfished designations 

The 2025 estimated total harvests, spawning escapements, and total run size of the KASOCK are still 

preliminary (Table 10 and Table 11). Based on preliminary data provided by ADF&G for the 2025 

fishery, approximately 8% of the drift gillnet harvest was composed of sockeye salmon from the Kasilof 

stock, resulting in an EEZ harvest estimate of 30,872 fish from this stock; which was less than the 2025 

preseason OFL (664K), ABC/ACL (286K), and the KASOCK proportion of the TAC (286K; Table 3).  

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 68 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              44 

Because the estimated harvest rate in the EEZ over the most recent generation (FEEZ) of 0.027 was 

substantially lower than the estimated MFMT of 0.531 and the cumulative escapement over the most 

recent generation (4.7M) was larger than MSST (555K), it is the recommendation of the NMFS SAFE 

Team that overfishing did not occur during 2025 and that the stock is not in or approaching an 

overfished condition. 

4.3.2 Data and assessment methodology 

4.3.2.1 Data input changes for 2026 

The 2026 SAFE includes catch data from the 2024-2025 federally managed UCI fishery. These data 

represent the first and second years during which the catch occurring in the EEZ are known, as opposed 

to the estimated to have occurred for years prior to 2024 (Table 11). 

Additionally, ADF&G provided the NMFS SAFE Team with preliminary 2025 estimates of proportions 

of KASOCK salmon stock contributions to the UCI drift gillnet fishery based on genetic mixed stock 

analysis. These data allow for more accurate estimates of the individual stock contributions to the 

harvest in the EEZ compared to the 2024 SAFE that used a historical average genetic mixed stock 

analysis proportion. 

 

4.3.2.2 Changes in assessment methodology for 2026 

As described previously, the 2026 assessment relies on the same time-series-based approach for 

forecasting run sizes for tier-1 stocks as has been used in previous assessments. These models are now 

estimated in Bayesian context to allow broader consideration of buffer approaches, and to respond to the 

SSC’s request in both 2024 and 2025 that buffers be explicitly related to a given probability of 

overfishing (i.e., exceeding the OFL). Preseason estimates of State harvest are now based on the 

posterior predictive distribution of a Beta distribution conditioned on historical State harvest data. This 

change is implemented to reflect (1) lack of temporal structure in State harvest rates, and (2) to 

propagate uncertainty in State harvest rates given the evolving nature of the joint State and Federal 

fisheries in Cook Inlet. For 2026, similar to the 2025 SAFE, OFLPRE to ABC buffers are based on an 

estimate of retrospective forecast skill (positive errors/over-forecasting, as in 2025) of OFLPRE. The 

historical period in which this performance is assessed has been expanded from 10 years to 25 years 

based on SSC recommendations. Additionally, we also provide a preliminary approach to evaluating and 

determining buffers based on the probability of exceeding the true OFL under a given value of ABC 

using the posterior distribution of OFLPRE (Appendix B, Table B2). 

4.3.2.3 Changes in assessment results for 2026 

The 2026 SAFE calculates the Tier 1 buffer using positive errors (over-forecasting) over a 25-year time 

period, which resulted in a KASOCK buffer of 0.412.  Based on the percentile method presented in 

Table B2 of Appendix B, this buffer value is associated with an approximate risk of the true OFL being 

below the resulting ABC (i.e., exceeding the OFL if the ABC is harvested) of between 17-18%. 

4.3.2.4 Existing data and assessment 

The ADF&G data and stock assessment sources used for the Federal assessment of the KASOCK are 

described in this section (Section 4.3), with the additional consideration that the amendment 16 EA/RIR 

includes an examination of density-dependent effects for this stock. 

The data used to assess KASOCK is considered to be complete and of high quality with estimates of 

stock-specific harvests, spawning escapements, the resulting recruits from those spawners, and age 

estimates for harvests and escapements. Smolt data also exists for the Kasilof River system. 

The complete spawner and recruitment data for this stock enabled the use of Ricker models and yield 

analyses to inform the bounds of the State spawning escapement goal. 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 69 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              45 

Historically, sibling model and smolt-to-adult survival relationships for the dominant age classes inform 

ADF&G’s pre-season estimates of total run size, with forecasted returns of minor age classes based on 

recent average returns. 

4.3.2.5 Federal data and assessments 

After review by NMFS and unless otherwise stated, this SAFE incorporates ADF&G data and associated 

estimates of harvest (2024 harvest in State waters and 1999 – 2023 harvest), escapement, age, sex, and 

other data (Table 11).  

To inform SDC and harvest specifications, the Federal stock assessment relied on the method described 

previously for Tier 1 stocks. In the absence of ADF&G’s preseason run size forecast, the NMFS SAFE 

Team recommends using the Bayesian AR-1 approach to predict run size and State harvest levels, and 

the resulting buffers to account for scientific uncertainty in reducing the preseason OFL to the 

recommended ABC. The annual Federal assessment of stocks in the CI EEZ salmon fishery may, in the 

future, incorporate some or all of ADF&G’s UCI preseason salmon forecasts; however, whether this 

occurs is largely determined by whether they are available in time to be reviewed by NMFS and the SSC 

and be incorporated into the annual SAFE report. 

4.3.3 Stock size and recruitment trends 

Stock overview: During the most recent five-year period (2021 – 2025), an average of 8% of the EEZ 

drift gillnet sockeye salmon harvest is estimated to have been from KASOCK with a range of harvests of 

harvests of this stock in the EEZ of 16 – 71K fish during this period. Total run size during the 2021 – 

2025 period ranged from 925K – 1.91M. 

Escapement goals:  The State’s Kasilof River sockeye salmon spawning escapement goals (2012–2019: 

160,000–340,000; 2020–present: 140,000–320,000) have been consistently achieved or exceeded during 

recent years (Munro and Gatt 2025). From 2021 – 2025, an average of approximately 933K sockeye 

salmon were estimated to have spawned in the Kasilof River system (range of 517K – 1.197M). The 

current upper bound of the escapement goal has been exceeded several times during recent years.  

Spawner-Recruitment and yield trends:  When examining data from the 1968–2012 brood years, the 

best fit model from the spawner-recruitment analyses (AR-1 Ricker model) conducted by ADF&G 

suggests that approximately 222,000 spawners would result in the point estimate of maximum 

sustainable yield for this stock (SMSY-POINT), with a range of 140,000–320,000 resulting in 90% of MSY 

(Figure 7). Similar to many sockeye salmon stocks with relatively high historical harvest rates, this stock 

has poorly defined density dependent spawner-recruitment characteristics at larger escapements, with 

only a single brood year (1985) having returns that were below replacement and no strong evidence for 

density dependent effects (Figure 7; EA/RIR Appendix 14). Returns from recent large escapements will 

provide additional information to better define density dependent effects and SMSY-POINT. 

4.3.4 Tier determination and resulting OFL and ABC determination for 2025 

Consistent with the 2024-2025 SAFE, the NMFS SAFE Team recommends a Tier 1 determination for 

KASOCK during 2026. This recommendation is based on the availability of a long history of escapement 

data believed to represent actual numbers of spawners (rather than an index), spawner-recruitment model 

estimates and yield analyses that inform the State’s escapement goal range, stock-specific harvest data, 

age composition data for all stock components, complete brood tables, and a preseason forecast of total 

run size that is informed by sibling model relationships. 

This SAFE uses the Bayesian AR-1 approach to predict the preseason OFL and the resulting ABC. An 

AR-1 model was fit to past (1979 – 2025) Kasilof River total run sizes, and a Beta distribution of 

historical (2015-2025) state harvest rates was estimated, the posterior predictive distribution of which 

was used to predict the preseason state harvest rate. Unless stated otherwise, predictions represent 

median posterior values. The AR-1 model forecasts a 2026 Kasilof River total run size of 1,391,412 

sockeye salmon (Figure 8A), and predicts a State harvest rate of 0.388. The forecasted run size and State 

harvest rate are used to estimate preseason values of SDC and potential yield (which is the OFLPRE for 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 70 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              46 

the coming fishing season). The NMFS SAFE Team recommendations for OFLPRE, buffer (the median 

symmetric accuracy buffer described previously in Section 3.3.2) and the resulting ABC are in Table 12). 

The recommended ABC incorporates the achievement of the biologically-based spawning escapement 

target, is reduced from a level that represents maximum potential yield for a single year, and is buffered 

to account for scientific uncertainty.  

  

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 71 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              47 

 
Figure 7. Ricker Spawner-recruit curve for Kasilof River sockeye salmon. From Mckinley et al. (2024), 

the most recent ADF&G stock assessment for Kasilof River sockeye salmon. Autoregressive lag-1 

(AR1) Ricker model of spawning escapements (x-axis) and recruits (y-axis) from brood years 1968–

2012 (dashed line) and 1968 – 2015 (solid line). The line represents the modeled recruits and the shaded 

area is the State’s current biological escapement goal (BEG) range of 140–320K spawners

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 72 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              48 

 

 
Figure 8. Kasilof River Late Run sockeye salmon preseason Bayesian AR-1 model output. Panel A 

shows historical model fits (red) to Kasilof River sockeye salmon run size data (black), with posterior 

median values indicated by the solid line, and 50% and 95% credible intervals indicated by dark and 

light shaded boundaries respectively. Panel B shows the retrospective forecast performance of the AR-1 

model (orange), relative to the state’s sibling model approach (teal), with realized run size levels shown 

in black. The mean absolute percentage error (MAPE) of both the AR-1 approach and the state’s sibling 

approach is also presented. Panel C shows retrospective model-based forecasts of preseason OFL (blue) 

relative to true postseason values (black). Panel D shows the historical time-series of EEZ catch relative 

to the recommended OFL and ABC for 2026. EEZ harvest estimates prior to 2024 are based on methods 

and assumptions are described in section 4.1 of this SAFE report. The Kasilof River late run sockeye 

salmon stock catch is estimated from the total CI EEZ catch using genetic mixed stock analysis. 

  

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 73 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              49 

 

 

 
 

Figure 9. 2025 Kasilof River sockeye salmon CI EEZ catch. Panel A depicts catch by day and panel B 

shows cumulative daily catch compared to the 2025 TAC. Note that the Kasilof River sockeye salmon 

catch is estimated from the total CI EEZ sockeye salmon catch using genetic mixed stock analysis

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 74 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              50 

 

Table 10. Status and catch specifications for Tier 1 Kasilof River sockeye salmon. For 2026, the NMFS 

SAFE Team recommends a buffer of 0.412 be used to reduce the preseason potential yield (“preseason 

OFL”) to the recommended single-year ABC of 363K sockeye salmon. Values for MSST, MFMT, 

OFL, and ABC have been presented to reflect the recommendation by the SSC to use SMSY-POINT 

(222,000 spawners) as the escapement target. An ovverfished determination is assessed postseason by 

comparing the minimum stock size threshold (MSST), one half of the sum of the stock’s spawning 

escapement target summed across a generation, with actual cumulative escapement summed across a 

generation (Cum. Escap.). For Tier 1 stocks, overfishing is assessed postseason by comparing the 

maximum fishing mortality threshold (MFMT), the largest potential harvest rate in the EEZ while still 

achieving the spawning escapement target and non-EEZ harvests, with the actual estimated harvest rate 

assessed over a generation (FEEZ). Rates are normalized to total run size. Shaded values are new 

estimates or projections based on the current assessment. Note that EEZ harvest estimates prior to 2024 

are estimated as described in section 4.1. Note that bold values were calculated using preliminary 

estimates of run size and escapement, which incorporate 2024 sport and personal use harvest, and will 

be updated in future CI SAFE reports when final estimates are available from ADF&G. 

Target Year MSST 
Cum. 

Escap. 
MFMT FEEZ 

Total 

Run 

EEZ 

Harvest 
OFLPRE ABC 

SMSY-POINT 2020 555 1,902 0.254 0.025 845 6 NA NA 

 2021 555 2,179 0.301 0.027 925 21 NA NA 

 2022 555 2,788 0.395 0.026 1,450 50 NA NA 

 2023 555 3,333 0.463 0.031 1,306 71 NA NA 

 2024 555 4,008 0.511 0.027 1,466 16 541 375.5 

 2025 555 4,664 0.531 0.027 1,905 31 664 286 

 2026 555      617 363 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 75 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              51 

Table 11. Historical data for Tier 1 Kasilof River sockeye salmon used to inform the SDC and harvest specifications. The table includes year of 

the salmon run, the estimates of total run size (000’s), the spawning escapement (000’s), the Federal spawning escapement target (SMSY-POINT; 

000’s), the total catch across all fisheries (000’s), the estimate State waters catch (000’s), the fraction of the catch estimated to have occurred in 

State waters, the estimated EEZ catch (000’s), the fraction of the total catch estimated to have occurred in the EEZ, the maximum fishing 

morality threshold, and the potential yield in the EEZ (000’s), cumulative escapement (000’s), and minimum stock size threshold (MSST; 000’s). 

For this SAFE, MFMT and Potential Yield in the EEZ reflect the 2024 SSC recommendation that these be based on a point estimate of SMSY-POINT 

for this stock of 222,000 spawners. The lower bound of the State’s escapement goal is 140K sockeye salmon (2020 – 2024). Note that EEZ 

harvest prior to 2024 is estimated as described in section 4.1. 

Year Run size Escap. 
Escap. 

target 

Total 

catch 

State 

catch 
FSTATE 

EEZ 

Catch 
FEEZ MFMT 

Potential 

Yield 

EEZ 

Cumulat

ive Esc. 
MSST 

1999 826 312 222 514 404 0.489 110 NA NA 201 NA NA 

2000 531 264 222 267 207 0.39 60 NA NA 101 NA NA 

2001 751 319 222 432 351 0.467 81 NA NA 177 NA NA 

2002 667 236 222 432 356 0.534 76 NA NA 90 NA NA 

2003 862 354 222 509 431 0.5 78 0.111 0.214 209 1484 555 

2004 1421 524 222 897 737 0.519 160 0.107 0.246 462 1695 555 

2005 1227 360 222 867 796 0.649 71 0.094 0.233 209 1792 555 

2006 1880 390 222 1490 1429 0.76 61 0.074 0.198 229 1863 555 

2007 1157 365 222 792 599 0.518 193 0.086 0.221 336 1992 555 

2008 1575 327 222 1248 1088 0.691 160 0.089 0.207 265 1966 555 

2009 1105 326 222 779 692 0.626 87 0.082 0.177 191 1768 555 

2010 819 295 222 523 450 0.549 73 0.088 0.179 147 1703 555 

2011 810 246 222 564 489 0.604 75 0.108 0.19 99 1559 555 

2012 632 375 222 258 193 0.305 65 0.093 0.186 218 1569 555 

2013 1003 490 222 513 462 0.461 51 0.08 0.223 319 1731 555 

2014 1103 440 222 663 589 0.534 74 0.077 0.246 292 1845 555 

2015 1175 471 222 704 686 0.584 18 0.06 0.253 266 2021 555 

2016 481 240 222 241 240 0.499 1 0.047 0.253 19 2015 555 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 76 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              52 

Year Run size Escap. 
Escap. 

target 

Total 

catch 

State 

catch 
FSTATE 

EEZ 

Catch 
FEEZ MFMT 

Potential 

Yield 

EEZ 

Cumulat

ive Esc. 
MSST 

2017 802 359 222 443 404 0.504 39 0.04 0.235 176 1999 555 

2018 717 388 222 329 299 0.417 30 0.038 0.222 196 1898 555 

2019 613 373 222 240 230 0.375 10 0.026 0.216 161 1831 555 

2020 845 542 222 303 297 0.352 6 0.025 0.254 326 1902 555 

2021 925 517 222 409 387 0.419 21 0.027 0.301 316 2179 555 

2022 1450 968 222 482 432 0.298 50 0.026 0.395 796 2788 555 

2023 1306 933 222 373 302 0.231 71 0.031 0.463 782 3333 555 

2024 1466 1048 222 418 402 0.274 16 0.027 0.511 842 4008 555 

2025 1905 1197 222 708 677 0.355 31 0.027 0.531 1006 4664 555 

*Note that run size, escapement (Esc.), total catch, FSTATE, MFMT, potential yield EEZ, and cumulative escapement (Cum. Esc.) calculations 

include preliminary estimates of total run size, escapement, and State harvest, derived using estimates of 2025 sport and personal use harvest. 

Final values will be presented in future CI SAFE reports pending finalized estimates from ADF&G.

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 77 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              53 

Table 12. Tier-1 Kasilof River sockeye salmon preseason SDC. Includes the 2026 AR-1 model 

forecasted run size, State harvest proportion ( 𝐹̂𝑆𝑇𝐴𝑇𝐸), and resulting OFL, buffer, ABC, forecasted FEEZ, 

and MFMT. Note that OFLPRE  and Potential yield are calculated using the full posterior distributions of 

run size (R̂) and state harvest (𝐹̂𝑆𝑇𝐴𝑇𝐸) rather than the point estimates (posterior medians) of these 

quantities presented here. 

  

Run 

Size (𝑅̂) 
𝐹̂𝑆𝑇𝐴𝑇𝐸 

Potential 

yield EEZ 
Buffer OFLPRE ABC 

Forecasted 

FEEZ 
MFMT 

1,391,412 0.388 617,006 0.412 617,006 362,866 0.104 0.538 

        

*Note that values presented in this table were calculated using preliminary 2024 run size and 

escapement estimates, which include estimated 2024 personal use and sport harvest. 

 

Table 13. Kasilof River sockeye salmon observed escapements and current escapement targets 

Year 
Federal escapement target (SMSY-POINT) 

(thousands) 
Escapement (thousands) 

2014  440 

2015  471 

2016  240 

2017  359 

2018  388 

2019  373 

2020  542 

2021  517 

2022  968 

2023 222 933 

2024 222 1,048 

2025 222 1197* 

*Calculated using estimates of 2024-2025 sport and personal use harvests. 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 78 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              54 

  

4.4 Aggregate “Other” Sockeye Salmon, stock complex 

 
Figure 10. Map showing the CI EEZ and AOSOCK watersheds located in Upper Cook Inlet. 

 

Definition:  As described in the Salmon FMP, the Aggregate “Other” sockeye salmon stock complex 

(AOSOCK) is defined as all sockeye salmon harvested in the CI EEZ except for Kenai Late Run and 

Kasilof River sockeye salmon, with Fish Creek, Chelatna Lake, Judd Lake, and Larson Lake as indicator 

stocks that may be used to assess applicable SDC. The Federal definition for this stock also includes 

spawning escapements of sockeye salmon throughout UCI necessary to produce sustainable yield in 

future years. 

4.4.1 Retrospective assessment of fishery information relative to status determination criteria, 

including overfishing and overfished designations 

The 2025 estimated harvests and spawning escapements of AOSOCK are still preliminary (Table 14 and 

Table 15). Based on data provided by ADF&G, approximately 24% of the sockeye salmon harvested in 

the CI EEZ were from AOSOCK. Using this mixed stock analysis, during 2025, an estimated 93K 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 79 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              55 

AOSOCK were harvested from the CI EEZ; which was less than the 2025 preseason OFL (181K), 

ABC/ACL (154K), and the AOSOCK proportion of the TAC (154K; Table 3). Because the estimated 

cumulative harvest for this stock across the most recent generation (537K; Table 15) is below the 2025 

OFL of 907K sockeye salmon and the combined cumulative spawning escapements (557K) for the most 

recent generation (five years) is larger than the MSST (100K), it is the recommendation of the NMFS 

SAFE Team that overfishing did not occur during 2025 and that the stock is not in or approaching an 

overfished condition (Table 15).  

4.4.2 Data and assessment methodology 

4.4.2.1 Data input changes for 2026 

The 2025 SAFE includes Federal catch data from the 2024-2025 federally managed CI EEZ salmon 

fishery. These data represent the second year of known catch occurring in the EEZ, as opposed to the 

catch estimates presented for years prior to 2024. 

4.4.2.2 Changes in assessment methodology for 2026 

Following the 2024 SSC recommendations, to calculate the OFL, the 2025-2026 assessments use the 

largest total EEZ harvest over a generation (five years for sockeye salmon); and, to calculate the 

preseason OFL (OFLPRE), the average harvest over that same period. Additionally, per the SSC’s 

guidance in 2025, the escapement goal for indicator stocks with missing weir counts for a given year is 

not counted towards the combined escapement target or MSST for those years. 

4.4.2.3 Changes in assessment results for 2026 

Given the new 2025-2026 methodology outlined above and in previous sections, relative to the 2024 

SAFE report, OFLPRE values in this 2026 SAFE are smaller and considered to be more representative of 

amounts that could reasonably be harvested in the EEZ during a single season (changed from the multi-

year methodology used in the 2024 SAFE). Additionally, using the largest sum of EEZ harvest across a 

generation (as opposed to the largest observed EEZ harvest multiplied by the generation time used in the 

2024 SAFE) results in a smaller OFL, which is used postseason to assess overfishing for Tier 3 stocks. 

Moreover, the change in how aggregate escapement targets are determined with respect to missing data 

from indicator stocks have changed the MSST values for this stock.  

4.4.2.4 Existing data and assessment 

The ADF&G data and stock assessment sources used for the Federal assessment of the AOSOCK are 

described in this section (Section 4.4), with the Mckinley et al. (2024) containing the most recent 

ADF&G stock assessment and escapement goal review. Recent escapement goals, estimates, and many 

additional references pertaining to assessments of this stock can be found in Munro and Gatt (2025). 

EEZ harvest estimates for AOSOCK are considered to be relatively complete, with the Federal 

definition for harvest of this stock in the EEZ generally meaning those sockeye salmon not attributable 

to either KNSOCK or KASOCK 

Spawning escapement data for stocks in the stock complex exists for several tributaries and drainages 

(described below). 

Age data and genetics data and associated stock composition estimates exist for commercial harvests 

(Barclay 2020; Barclay and Chenowith 2021). Age estimates also exist for several tributaries and 

drainages within the stock complex.  

Historically, the total run size for the Susitna River drainage portion of AOSOCK has been forecasted 

using mean values of productivity (recruit per spawner) and estimates of spawner abundance-based 

mark-recapture studies (DeCino 2022). However, beginning with ADF&G’s 2023 preseason forecast of 

total run size, the Susitna River and Fish Creek forecasts relied on the recent 5-year average estimated 

total run sizes to these systems rather than forecasts that incorporated productivity and spawner 

abundance (Donnellan and Munro 2023). 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 80 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              56 

4.4.2.5 Federal data and assessments 

After review by NMFS and unless otherwise stated, this SAFE incorporates ADF&G data and associated 

estimates of harvest (1999 – 2025) and escapement data (Table 14 and Table 15). However, because of 

the timeline necessary to produce this SAFE and implement the Federal salmon management in the CI 

EEZ in 2026, this SAFE estimated:  sportfish harvests in 2022-2023 and 2025; personal use harvests 

during 2025; subsistence harvests during 2025; and, education harvests in 2022-2025. Estimates for 

these values were made using 5-year averages and will be updated in future years as data become 

available. 

This SAFE relies on Federal estimates of harvest in the CI EEZ from 2024-2025. 

To inform SDC and harvest specifications, the Federal stock assessment relied on the method described 

previously for Tier 3 stocks.  

The Tier 3 OFL was calculated as the largest cumulative EEZ harvest in the timeseries (1999 - 2025) 

across the generation time (five years), while the OFLPRE was calculated as the largest average harvest 

across the same five years used to calculate the OFL. A range of buffers from 0.10 to 0.90 were 

considered to account for scientific uncertainty in reducing the OFLPRE to the resulting ABC.  

4.4.3 Stock size and recruitment trends 

Stock overview: During the most recent five-year period (2021-2025), an average of 24% of the drift 

gillnet sockeye salmon harvest is estimated to have been from AOSOCK, with a range of harvests from 

54-183K from the EEZ during this period. The estimated total run size (escapements from indicator 

stocks plus any sockeye salmon harvest not attributed to the Kenai or Kasilof sockeye salmon stocks) 

during the 2021 – 2025 period ranged from 348K – 1.135M, with the caveat, described below, that these 

estimates are likely missing substantial numbers of spawners due to unmonitored tributaries and 

drainages and incomplete escapement monitoring during some years. For example, based on 2025 

estimates provided in ADF&G’s UCI commercial salmon season summary report, the total run size of 

AOSOCK is estimated at approximately 1.519 million fish, which is slightly larger than the total run 

size of the KASOCK stock 1.24 million fish, (Lipka and Stumpf 2025b). Previously published reports 

by ADF&G also suggest that the federally defined AOSOCK stock complex is of similar or larger size 

than the KASOCK stock 

Escapement goals: The Federal definition of this stock complex includes four indicator stocks for 

which the State has spawning escapement goals (2026 goal ranges in parentheses):   

Fish Creek (15,000–45,000); Chelatna Lake (20,000–45,000); Judd Lake (15,000–40,000); and Larson 

Lake (15,000–35,000).  

Based on recommendations from the SSC in 2025, this SAFE only considers the goals of indicator 

stocks for which escapement monitoring is considered complete (Table 14). Escapement monitoring (via 

weirs) did not occur on the Chelatna River 2020-2024, or on Judd Lake from 2023-2025 (Munro and 

Gatt 2025, Lipka and Stumpf 2025b, Lipka and Stumpf 2024). As such, the sum of the lower bound of 

monitored indicator stocks was 30,000 in 2024 and 50,000 in 2025 and realized escapements were 

greater than these amounts during both years (Table 14).  

Escapement goals for some of the four indicator stocks in the stock complex have not been achieved 

during recent years (e.g., Larson Lake 2019-2020; Munro and Gatt 2025); however, none of these stocks 

are classified as “Stocks of Concern” by the State. As all escapement goals in the stock complex were 

developed based on the “Percentile Approach” (Clark et al. 2014); not achieving the lower bound of an 

escapement goal during some years is an expected product of that approach. For example, if the lower 

bound of an escapement goal is set at the 15th percentile of historical escapements, then escapements 

less than that level fall below the lower bound of the goal during approximately 15% of the years.  

There are many other tributaries and drainages in UCI where sockeye salmon are known to spawn, but 

which lack escapement goals and active monitoring. Notably, there was a State escapement goal on the 

Crescent River (west side of CI), but this goal no longer exists and the escapement monitoring no longer 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 81 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              57 

occurs. Other unmonitored systems where sockeye salmon are known to spawn in UCI include (Gatt and 

Erickson 2024): Big River, McArthur River, Chilligan River, Coal Creek, Cottonwood Creek, Wasilla 

Creek, and Eagle River. 

Spawner-Recruitment and yield trends: Spawner-recruitment trends for the four index systems in the 

stock complex were not presented in the most recent ADF&G stock assessment and escapement goal 

review (Mckinley et al. 2024). The NMFS SAFE Team did not further investigate historical records of 

spawner-recruitment relationships for the index systems and a full accounting of such relationships is 

likely to be hampered by the number of systems that are unmonitored and the inability to attribute 

harvests to specific streams. Thus, while genetic analyses are being used by ADF&G to actively monitor 

the stock contributions of commercial harvests, the lack of escapement data makes it difficult to attribute 

these harvests to a given number of spawners in order to estimate the productivity (recruit per spawner) 

of the stock complex with a level of precision that can be used to inform spawning escapement goals or 

preseason forecasts. However, the Clark et al. (2014) description of the Percentile Approach for 

informing the bounds of spawning escapement goals provides a variety of model results that justify the 

choice of percentiles based on the likelihood of maximizing future yield (proxy for SMSY-based goal 

range). As such, considerations for maximizing yield are inherent with the approach. 

4.4.4 Tier determination and resulting OFL and ABC determination for 2025 

For tier determination and the resulting method used to calculate SDC and harvest specifications, the 

NMFS SAFE Team considered the extent to which the stock complex has an estimate of escapement 

that it deems to be “reliable” and the extent to which the assigned tier level is precautionary with respect 

to protecting the stock from overfishing. The NMFS SAFE Team concluded that the indicator systems 

only estimated a small but unknown fraction of the overall spawning escapements, resulting in estimates 

of total run size that are not considered to be a reliable index of the actual total run size. As such, only a 

Tier 3 determination was considered for this 2026 assessment. However, as mentioned previously, there 

are State estimates which could be used to establish an approximate total run size, making the AOSOCK 

the most likely to be considered for a Tier 2 designation in the future if additional escapement estimates 

were available for unmonitored systems for the larger stock complex. 

Based on the considerations provided above and consistent with the 2024-2025 SSC 

recommendations, the NMFS SAFE Team recommends to the SSC a Tier 3 determination for 

AOSOCK. 

Status and catch specifications for AOSOCK based on a Tier 3 determination are provided in Table 15 

with a range of buffers from 0.1 to 0.9 to reduce the OFLPRE to ABC (Table 16). The 2025 OFLPRE is 

calculated as the largest average harvest over a generation time (five years; 2007 - 2011) in the 

timeseries (Table 15). 

For Tier 3 AOSOCK, the NMFS SAFE Team recommends that the 2026 OFLPRE (181,351) be reduced 

by a 15% buffer to the resulting ABC of 154.1K. A buffer range of 10 – 30% was considered, where a 

10% buffer would result in an ABC (163K) that is in the 75th percentile of past EEZ harvest and a 30% 

buffer would result in an ABC that is approximately equal to the mean historical EEZ harvest (128K) 

and slightly less than the median (130K) historic EEZ harvest. A relatively small 15% buffer compared 

the considered AOSOCK buffer range and to COHO 75%; Section 4.6.5) and ACHIN (30%; Section 

4.5.4) is recommended because: 

 

1.  The AOSOCK monitored indicator stocks escapement goals have been met in recent years (Table 

14).  

2. As discussed above (section 4.4.3), the approximate AOSOCK total run size is likely comparable in 

magnitude or larger than the KASOCK, suggesting that the overall harvest rate on this stock in the CI 

EEZ would be similar to the harvest rates for the Tier 1 stocks. 

3. There are no AOSOCK stocks that are listed as “Stocks of Concern” by the State of Alaska and the 

NMFS SAFE Team considers the AOSOCK stock to be healthy. 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 82 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              58 

4. However, as with other Tier 3 stocks, the total run size cannot be precisely determined and the NMFS 

SAFE Team recommends that a 15% buffer (as opposed to a 10%) accounts for uncertainty to ensure 

that the OFL is not exceeded.  

Given the above considerations, the NMFS SAFE Team recommends that a 15% buffer is sufficiently 

precautionary to ensure that the OFL is not exceeded, while still allowing for a level of harvest 

(ABC/ACL = 154.1K) that has only been exceeded eight times in the timeseries under consideration 

(1999 – 2025; Figure 11). 

While this stock can be declared overfished if cumulative spawning escapements of the indicator stocks 

are determined to be below MSST (similar to Tier 1 and 2), as total run size is not estimable in this tier, 

MFMT and FEEZ are not calculable and therefore overfishing will be assessed based on a comparison of 

the OFL with the cumulative harvest across the most recent generation (five years).

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 83 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              59 

 

 
 

 

Figure 11. Time-series of aggregate “other” sockeye salmon stock complex harvests in the CI EEZ 

for years 1999 – 2025 relative to proposed 2026 OFL and ABC. EEZ harvest estimates prior to 2024 are 

based on methods and assumptions described in section 4.1 of this SAFE report. Aggregate “Other” 

sockeye salmon stock complex catch is estimated from the total CI EEZ catch using genetic mixed stock 

analysis.

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 84 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              60 

 

 
Figure 12. 2025 aggregate “other” sockeye salmon CI EEZ catch. Panel A depicts catch by day and 

panel B shows cumulative daily catch compared to the 2025 TAC. Note that the catch of Aggregate 

“Other” sockeye salmon is estimated by subtracting the estimated Kenai Late Run and Kasilof sockeye 

salmon catch from the total sockeye salmon catch

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 85 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              61 

 

Table 14. Aggregate “Other” sockeye salmon indicator stocks escapement information. Includes the sum 

of observed escapements for indicator stocks and the and sum of the lower bound (L.B.) of current 

escapement index goals for years 2014 - 2024 in thousands of fish. Bolded values are escapements that 

did not meet the lower bound of the goal. Data from Munro 2023, Munro and Gatt, 2025 (ADF&G). 

 Chelatna Lk. Judd Lk. Larson Lk. Fish Ck.   

Year L.B Esc. L.B. Esc. L.B Esc. L.B. Esc. Sum of L.B. Sum Esc. 

2014 20 26 25 22 15 12 20 44 80 105 

2015 20 70 25 48 15 23 20 102 80 243 

2016 20 61 25 NA 15 14 20 46 55 121 

2017 20 27 15 36 15 32 15 61 65 156 

2018 20 20 15 31 15 24 15 71 65 146 

2019 20 26 15 44 15 10 15 75 65 156 

2020 20 NS 15 31 15 12 15 64 45 108a 

2021 20 NS 15 49 15 22 15 99 45 171a 

2022 20 NS 15 38 15 17 15 59 45 115a 

2023 20 NS 15 NS 15 38 15 45 30 83a,b 

2024 20 NS 15 NS 15 16 15 38 30 54a,b 

2025 20 59 15 NS 15 33 15 43 50 135b 

aChelatna Lake weir not operated in these years 
bJudd Lake counts not determined in these years 

NS = no survey

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 86 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              62 

 

Table 15. Status and catch specifications for Tier 3 Aggregate “Other” sockeye salmon stock complex. 

An overfished determination is assessed postseason by comparing the minimum stock size threshold 

(MSST; one half of the sum of the indicator stock’s spawning escapement goal summed across a 

generation, with actual cumulative escapement of the indicator stocks summed across a generation 

(Cum. Escap.). Overfishing is assessed postseason by comparing the actual harvest summed across a 

generation (EEZ Cum. Harvest) with the postseason overfishing limit (OFL). Unless otherwise noted, 

values are in the thousands of fish. Shaded values are new estimates or projections based on the current 

assessment, the projected EEZ Cum. Estimated cumulative harvest for the coming fishing season only 

includes the first four years (T-1) of the current generation. Bolded EEZ Harvest values are used to 

calculate OFL and OFLPRE. Note that EEZ harvest prior to 2024 is estimated as described in section 4.1. 

Year MSSTa Cum. 

Esc.a 

Total 

Harvest 

EEZ 

Harvest 

EEZ 

Cum. 

Harvest 

OFL OFLPRE 

1999 NA NA 649 157 NA NA NA 

2000 NA NA 435 119 NA NA NA 

2001 NA NA 456 109 NA NA NA 

2002 NA NA 634 144 NA NA NA 

2003 50 273 620 234 763 NA NA 

2004 50 268 759 218 824 NA NA 

2005 50 263 676 61 766 NA NA 

2006 50 252 256 39 695 NA NA 

2007 50 189 651 230 781 NA NA 

2008 50 116 424 85 633 NA NA 

2009 80 281 540 136 551 NA NA 

2010 110 470 637 202 691 NA NA 

2011 140 627 835 254 907 NA NA 

2012 170 689 473 166 843 NA NA 

2013 200 795 507 144 902 NA NA 

2014 200 714 469 136 902 NA NA 

2015 200 754 505 70 771 NA NA 

2016 187.5 686 308 49 566 NA NA 

2017 180 751 656 132 532 NA NA 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 87 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              63 

Year MSSTa Cum. 

Esc.a 

Total 

Harvest 

EEZ 

Harvest 

EEZ 

Cum. 

Harvest 

OFL OFLPRE 

2018 172.5 772 362 79 467 NA NA 

2019 165 822 449 73 404 NA NA 

2020 147.5 687 231 13 346 NA NA 

2021 142.5 736 367 54 352 NA NA 

2022 132.5 694 234 133 353 NA NA 

2023 115 631 547 183 456 NA NA 

2024 97.5 530 1081 75 458 1,271b 888b 

2025 100 557 393 93 537 907 181 

2026      907 181 

aCalculated based on escapements and escapement targets for indicator stocks (Fish Creek, Chelatna 

Lake, Judd Lake, and Larson Lake) 

bFor the 2024 SAFE, a different method was used to calculate the Tier 3 OFL and OFLPRE. See the 

Final 2024 CI EEZ SAFE for additional details.

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 88 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              64 

 

Table 16. 2026 recommended Tier 3 SDC for the aggregate “Other” sockeye salmon stock complex and 

a range of buffers to reduce the preseason OFL to ABC. 

Buffer OFLPRE ABC OFL 

10% 181,351 163,216 906,757 

20% 181,351 145,081 906,757 

30% 181,351 126,946 906,757 

40% 181,351 108,811 906,757 

50% 181,351 90,676 906,757 

60% 181,351 72,541 906,757 

70% 181,351 54,405 906,757 

80% 181,351 36,270 906,757 

90% 181,351 18,135 906,757 

 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 89 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              65 

4.5    Aggregate Chinook Salmon, stock complex 

 
Figure 13. Map showing the CI EEZ and watersheds with Chinook salmon in Upper Cook Inlet. 

 

Definition: As described in the Salmon FMP, the Aggregate Chinook salmon stock complex (ACHIN) is 

defined as all Chinook salmon harvested in the CI EEZ with Kenai Late Run Large Chinook salmon as 

an indicator stock that may be used to assess applicable SDC. The Federal definition for this stock also 

includes spawning escapements of Chinook salmon throughout UCI necessary to produce sustainable 

yield in future years. 

4.5.1 Retrospective assessment of fishery information relative to status determination criteria, 

including overfishing and overfished designations 

During the 2025 fishery, 46 Chinook salmon from ACHIN were harvested in the CI EEZ; which was 

less than the 2025 preseason OFL (373), ABC/ACL (261) and TAC (261; Table 3). Because the 

estimated postseason cumulative harvest across a generation (371) was less than the 2025 OFL (2,237) 

for this stock, and the indicator stock’s (Kenai River late run Chinook salmon) cumulative escapement 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 90 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              66 

(75K) was greater than the MSST (45K), it is the recommendation of the NMFS SAFE Team that 

overfishing did not occur during 2025 and that the stock is not in an overfished condition. 

4.5.2 Data and assessment methodology 

4.5.2.1 Data input changes for 2026 

The 2026 SAFE includes Federal catch data from the 2024-2025 federally managed CI EEZ salmon 

fishery. These data represent known catch occurring in the EEZ, as opposed to the catch estimates 

presented for years prior to 2024. 

4.5.2.2 Changes in assessment methodology for 2026 

Following the 2024 SSC recommendations to the NMFS SAFE Team, the 2025-2026 assessments use 

the largest total EEZ harvest over a generation (six years for Chinook salmon) to calculate the OFL, and 

the average harvest over that same period to calculate the preseason OFL (OFLPRE). 

4.5.2.3 Changes in assessment results for 2026 

Given the new 2025-2026 methodology outlined above and in previous sections, relative to the 2024 

SAFE report, preseason OFL values in the 2025-2026 SAFE reports are smaller and considered to be 

more representative of amounts that could reasonably be harvested in the EEZ during a single season 

(changed from the multi-year methodology used in the 2024 SAFE). Additionally, using the largest sum 

of EEZ harvest across a generation, as opposed to the largest observed EEZ harvest multiplied by the 

generation time used in the 2024 SAFE, results in a smaller OFL value used postseason to assess 

overfishing for Tier 3 stocks.  

4.5.2.4 Existing data and assessments 

The ADF&G data and stock assessment sources used for the Federal assessment of the ACHIN are 

described in this section (Section 4.5).  

Harvest in the CI EEZ occurring in 2024-2025 (the first federally managed fishery in UCI EEZ) is 

considered to be known and complete (rather than estimated as for pre-2024). 

The data used to assess the Chinook salmon stocks in this section include estimates of harvests in the CI 

drift gillnet fishery attributed to Kenai Late Run Chinook salmon and all other Chinook salmon, annual 

spawning escapements and associated escapement goals for 13 stocks that represent drainages and 

tributaries–as well as differential run timing for some tributaries (Munro 2023), and spawner-recruitment 

data for Kenai River, Deshka River, Eastside Susitna River, Talkeetna River, and Yentna River stocks. 

Spawner-recruitment (Ricker) models were used to inform the bounds of the State spawning escapement 

goals for the stocks with available spawner, recruitment, and age data. The Percentile Approach was 

used for escapement goal development for nine stocks and a Risk analysis was used for escapement goal 

development for a single stock. Additional details of these analyses are provided in Mckinley et al. 

(2024), Reimer and DeCovich (2020), and Fleischman and Reimer (2017). 

ADF&G produces preseason forecasts of total run size for Kenai River Early and Late Runs, and Deshka 

River Chinook salmon stocks. Sibling model relationships for the dominant age classes inform 

ADF&G’s pre-season estimates of total run size, with forecasted returns of minor age classes based on 

recent average returns. 

For UCI, there are five Chinook salmon “Stocks of Management Concern” listed by the State, four of 

which are in the far northern portion of CI, Chuitna River, Theodore River, Alexander Creek, and 

Eastside Susitna River (Munro 2023), as well as the Kenai River Late Large Chinook salmon stock 

(Munro and Gatt 2025, Miller 2024). 

  

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 91 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              67 

 

4.5.2.5 Federal data and assessments 

After review by NMFS and unless otherwise stated, this SAFE incorporates ADF&G data and 

associated estimates of harvest (2024-2025 harvest in State waters and 1999 – 2023 harvest), 

escapement, age, sex, and other data.  

This SAFE relies on Federal estimates of harvest in the CI EEZ from 2024-2025. 

To inform SDC and harvest specifications, the Federal stock assessment relied on the method described 

previously for Tier 3 stocks. 

4.5.3 Stock size and recruitment trends 

Stock overview: During the most recent five-year period (2021–2025) a range of 31–87 Chinook salmon 

were harvested in the EEZ (Table 17); however, there is not good information on which stocks of 

Chinook are harvested in the Federal fishery. Genetic sampling of Chinook salmon caught in UCI 

saltwater sport fisheries from June – September during 2014 – 2018 suggests that 77 – 92% of sampled 

Chinook salmon originated from outside the CI area (Schuster et al. 2021).  

Additionally, available data suggests that few of the Chinook salmon harvested in the CI EEZ can be 

attributed to the Kenai Late Run Large Chinook salmon stock, for which Chinook must be greater than 

75 cm mid-eye to tail fork length in order to be classified as “large.” For the 2024 CI EEZ fishery, of the 

31 Chinook salmon reported harvested, 21 were weighed, the average weight was 7.9 pounds, and only 

2 fish were estimated to be larger than 75 cm using a length-weight relationship from Jasper and 

Evenson (2006); though, whether these two fish were from the Kenai River Chinook salmon stock is 

unknown.  

Despite historically low overall Chinook salmon harvest rates across all fisheries during recent years 

(including the EEZ), spawning escapement and total run sizes have been at some of the lowest levels in 

the available timeseries. Total run size during the 2021 – 2025 period ranged from 7 – 15.7K Kenai 

River Late Run Large Chinook salmon.  

Escapement goals: Escapement goals pertinent to the ACHIN stock complex could include all UCI 

Chinook salmon spawning escapement goals. However, as Susitna River stocks of Chinook salmon are 

not thought to be harvested in significant quantities in the EEZ drift gillnet fishery (Reimer and 

DeCovich 2020), the only remaining substantial spawning escapement goal that might be pertinent to 

this ACHIN stock complex is the Kenai River Late Run Large Chinook salmon stock.  

The State’s Kenai River Late Run Chinook salmon large fish (>75 cm mid-eye to tail fork length) 

spawning escapement goals (2017–2019: 13,500–27,000; 2020–present: 15,000–30,000) was not 

achieved in 2019, 2020, 2021 and 2024 (Munro and Gatt 2025, Munro 2023). However, the stock 

appears to have met its escapement goal in 2025 (escapement of 15,641). 

As first implemented during 2017, the large fish goal was primarily justified in order to match the 

component of Chinook enumerated via sonar and, secondarily, to ensure that sufficient numbers of 

female Chinook salmon spawn (which tend to be larger) to maintain baseline levels of egg deposition 

and potential recruitment (Fleischman and Reimer 2017). 

For the ACHIN stock complex, despite uncertainty in whether Kenai Late Run Large Chinook are 

harvested in the EEZ, consistent with the 2024-2025 SSC recommendations, the NMFS SAFE Team 

recommends including the Kenai River Late Run Large Chinook salmon escapement goal (and 

associated escapements, as described in the previous section) to assess against MSST (overfished 

determination) using the Tier 3 approach; with reevaluation for future SAFE reports based on updated 

information. 

Spawner-Recruitment and yield trends: It is the recommendation of the NMFS SAFE Team that, 

since there is not currently a good basis for knowing which stocks of Chinook salmon are harvested in 

the CI EEZ, there are no applicable stocks to consider for spawner-recruitment and yield trends for the 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 92 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              68 

ACHIN stock complex. The spawner-recruitment and yield estimates for Kenai Late Run Large Chinook 

salmon stock might be applicable to the CI EEZ fishery, but this is unknown without genetic stock 

contribution information for the EEZ fishery. 

All UCI Chinook salmon stocks for which recruitment data are available are in a period of low 

productivity, recruitment, and abundance that began in the 2000s, with some of the lowest adult 

abundances observed since the 1970s. The extent of historical harvests of specific UCI Chinook salmon 

stocks in the EEZ is unknown. 

As an aggregate stock complex, several of the 14 State Chinook salmon spawning escapement goals in 

UCI are monitored and enumerated with a single aerial, foot survey, and other methods each year that 

may represent indices of escapements rather than actual numbers of spawners. As such, it is the 

recommendation of the NMFS SAFE Team that there is not a reliable estimate of spawners for the 

Federal ACHIN stock complexes as a whole and, as a result, that the overall run size (harvest + 

escapement) of the stock complexes is not known. However, spawning escapement estimates and 

indices, and available aggregate harvest data, all indicate that the stock complexes have declined 

substantially in size concomitant with the stocks defined by the State for which spawner-recruitment 

estimates are available. 

Kenai River Late Large Chinook salmon spawner-recruitment and yield trends: When examining 

data from 1985-2015 years, results from the state-space spawner-recruitment (Ricker) analyses 

(Fleischman and Reimer 2017) conducted by ADF&G suggest that approximately 18,477 spawners 

would result in maximum sustainable yield for the Kenai River Late Run Large Chinook salmon stock, 

with a range of 11,731–31,832 equating to the 0.05–0.95 percentiles of the posterior distribution. After 

controlling for density dependent effects, the ADF&G analyses showed evidence for time-varying 

productivity, with declining stock productivity after 1999, perhaps due to declining marine survival. 

4.5.4 Tier determination and resulting OFL and ABC determination for 2026 

Consistent with the 2024-2025 SSC recommendations, the NMFS SAFE Team recommends to the SSC 

that ACHIN be given a Tier 3 determination. As a stock complex with many different drainages and 

tributaries for which escapement estimates are likely indices of spawners rather than an actual number of 

fish, these estimates are unlikely to represent “reliable” estimate of spawners or a total run size that can 

be used to calculate MFMT and FEEZ for the overall stock complex. 

The precision of the Chinook salmon harvest rate estimates on component stocks in the CI EEZ is 

unknown as the drift gillnet fishery is not thought to have been sampled to obtain genetic stock 

composition estimates. In addition to the issues raised in the previous section regarding EEZ harvest 

estimates of Kenai River late run large Chinook salmon, as discussed by Reimer and DeCovich (2020) 

in their assessment of Chinook salmon stocks of the Susitna River drainage, there is also an absence of 

data to support EEZ harvest estimates of other major UCI Chinook salmon stocks:  “A drift gillnet 

fishery targeting sockeye salmon (O. nerka) in CI also harvests some Chinook salmon (1966–2016) 

annual average was 954 Chinook salmon; (Shields and Frothingham 2018); however, no stock 

composition information is available for Chinook salmon harvested in this fishery. We assume it is not 

significant for the purpose of this study because the fishery largely takes place after Susitna River 

Chinook salmon have migrated through the area.” 

Status and catch specifications for ACHIN based on a Tier 3 determination are provided in Table 17 and 

Table 18 with a range of buffers from 0.1 to 0.9 to reduce the OFLPRE to ABC (Table 19). The 2025 

OFLPRE is calculated as the largest average harvest over a generation time (six years; 2004 - 2009) in the 

timeseries (Table 17). 

For Tier 3 ACHIN, the NMFS SAFE Team recommends that the preseason OFL (373 fish) be reduced 

by a 30% buffer to result in the ABC of 261 fish. A range of buffers from 10 – 50% were considered 

given the following information: 

1. The ACHIN indicator stock, Kenai Late Run Large Chinook salmon, is not in or approaching an 

overfished state (Table 17). 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 93 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              69 

2. The 2025-2026 Tier 3 method for calculating the OFLPRE is more representative of a reasonable single 

season harvest amount compared to the 2024 OFLPRE (2024 buffer = 90%), thus resulting in a smaller, 

but still relatively conservative buffer. 

3. While susceptible to the drift gillnet fishery because of their size, historically, Chinook salmon have 

primarily been harvested in State waters, particularly in the East Side Set Net/Dip Net fishery. From 

1999 – 2024 Chinook salmon harvested in the CI EEZ accounted for an average of 7.8% of the total 

commercial catch (minimum of 0.7% in 2000, and a maximum of 47% in 2022; 18% in 2024).  

ADF&G closed the East Side Set Net fishery in 2024 as part of the Kenai River Late Large Chinook 

salmon recovery plan, recognizing that the vast majority of Chinook salmon appear to migrate closer 

to the shore in UCI (Lipka and Stumpf 2024b). The East Side Set Net fishery was largely closed during 

2025 (Lipka and Stumpf 2025b). 

4. Chinook salmon are not thought to be targeted in the CI EEZ fishery, and are caught incidentally. 

5. Genetic sampling of Chinook salmon harvested in saltwater sport fisheries of the State’s Central 

District of UCI in years 2014 – 2018 indicates that 77 – 92% of sampled Chinook salmon originated 

from outside the CI area (Schuster et al. 2021), and that Kenai River Chinook salmon made up 0.3 – 

12.7% of the total sampled sportfish harvest. 

6.  The average Chinook salmon weight caught in the Central District Driftnet fishery from 2018 – 2022 

(8.2, 9, 10.8, 7.8, 7.7 lbs. respectively) was much lower than the weight of Chinook salmon caught in 

the Central District Setnet fishery (15.2, 17, 14.1, 13.6, 13.7 lbs.) where Chinook salmon have 

historically been harvested in larger numbers and have been attributed to returning migrations of 

Chinook salmon to CI watersheds (Lipka and Stumpf 2024; Marston and Frothingham 2019, 2021, 

2022a, 2022b). The smaller average Chinook salmon size in the Central Driftnet fishery indicates that 

very few of the fish caught in the CI EEZ are from the Kenai Late Run Large Chinook salmon stock. 

7. ADF&G has five UCI Chinook salmon stocks listed as “Stocks of Management Concern”.  

8. Considering the timeseries of estimated Chinook salmon catch in the CI EEZ, an ABC of 261 Chinook 

salmon would not have been exceeded since 2009, and has only been exceeded in six (2003-2007, 

2009) of the 27 years in the timeseries under consideration (1999 – 2025; Figure 14).  

Considering the above points, the NMFS SAFE Team recommends that a 30% buffer properly balances 

the need for precautionary measures to conserve UCI Chinook salmon stocks (e.g., Kenai River late run 

large Chinook salmon and others listed as Stocks of Management Concern by the State) with indications 

that such stocks might not be present in the CI EEZ fishery in appreciable numbers.  

While this stock can be declared overfished if cumulative spawning escapements are determined to be 

below MSST (similar to Tier 1 and 2) for the Kenai River Late Run Large Chinook salmon indicator 

stock, as total run size is not estimable in this tier, MFMT and FEEZ are not calculable; overfishing would 

be assessed based on the OFL.

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 94 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              70 

 

 

Figure 14. Time-series of aggregate Chinook salmon harvest in the EEZ for years 1999 - 2025 relative 

to proposed 2026 OFL and ABC. CI EEZ harvest estimates prior to 2024 are based on methods and 

assumptions are described in section 4.1 of this SAFE report.

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 95 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              71 

 

 
 

Figure 15. 2025 aggregate Chinook salmon stock complex CI EEZ catch. Panel A depicts catch by day 

and panel B shows daily cumulative catch compared to the 2025 TAC.

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 96 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              72 

 

Table 17. Status and catch specifications for Tier 3 Aggregate Chinook salmon stock complex (ACHIN). 

 An overfished determination is assessed postseason by comparing the minimum stock size threshold 

(MSST; one half of the sum of the indicator stock’s spawning escapement goal summed across a 

generation), with actual cumulative escapement of the indicator stock (Kenai River Late Run Large 

Chinook salmon) summed across a generation (Cum. Escap.). Overfishing is assessed postseason by 

comparing the actual harvest of all Chinook salmon summed across a generation (EEZ Cum. Harvest) 

with the postseason overfishing limit (OFL). Shaded values are new estimates or projections based on 

the current assessment.  Bolded EEZ Harvest values are used to calculate OFL and OFLPRE. Note that 

EEZ harvest prior to 2024 is estimated as described in section 4.1. 

Year MSSTa  
Cum. 

Esc.a  

Total 

Runa 

(000’s) 

Total 

Kenai 

Late 

Harvesta 

State 

Drift 

Gillnet 

Harvest 

(all 

Chinook) 

EEZ 

Harvest 

(all 

Chinook) 

EEZ 

Cum. 

Harvest 

(all 

Chinook) 

OFL OFLPRE 

1999 NA NA 45.7 16557 420 155 NA NA NA 

2000 NA NA 41.7 16217 155 116 NA NA NA 

2001 NA NA 45.8 16223 409 211 NA NA NA 

2002 NA NA 55.9 15396      294 122 NA NA NA 

2003 NA NA 68.0 19523 812 428 NA NA NA 

2004 53400 238220 91.3 26200 799 306 1338 NA NA 

2005 53400 264808 84.2 28501 1447 512 1695 NA NA 

2006 53400 278611 57.1 17817 2372 410 1989 NA NA 

2007 53400 278744 44.4 14757 511 402 2180 NA NA 

2008 53400 266324 42.7 14586 5264 127 2185 NA NA 

2009 53400 236114 28.0 9793 379 480 2237 NA NA 

2010 53400 184039 22.2 9143 333 205 2136 NA NA 

2011 53400 144082 26.4 10650 389 204 1828 NA NA 

2012 53400 127230 23.2 753 124 94 1512 NA NA 

2013 52000 109871 14.4 2077 314 179 1289 NA NA 

2014 50600 93757 13.4 1423 251 131 1293 NA NA 

2015 49200 92331 22.8 5971 400 156 969 NA NA 

2016 47800 93970 25.1 10453 375 231 995 NA NA 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 97 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              73 

Year MSSTa  
Cum. 

Esc.a  

Total 

Runa 

(000’s) 

Total 

Kenai 

Late 

Harvesta 

State 

Drift 

Gillnet 

Harvest 

(all 

Chinook) 

EEZ 

Harvest 

(all 

Chinook) 

EEZ 

Cum. 

Harvest 

(all 

Chinook) 

OFL OFLPRE 

2017 45650 98822 31.3 10679 190 75 866 NA NA 

2018 43500 93774 18.5 1106 243 260 1032 NA NA 

2019 42750 93178 13.3 1562 98 81 934 NA NA 

2020 42750 93052 12.2 365 106 76 879 NA NA 

2021 42750 88465 12.7 427 130 87 810 NA NA 

2022 42750 87700 14.1 202 89 80 659 NA NA 

2023 43500 81619 14.7 240 57 51 635 NA NA 

2024 44250 71120 6.9 24 49 31 406 3,072b 2,697b 

2025 
45000 75052 

15.7 
38 65 

 

46 371 
2,237 373 

2026        2,237 373 
a Calculated based on escapements, escapement targets, and estimated harvests for the indicator stock 

(Kenai River Late-Run Large Chinook Salmon). 
bFor the 2024 SAFE, a different method was used to calculate the Tier 3 OFL and OFLPRE. See the 

Final 2024 CI EEZ SAFE for additional details.  

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 98 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              74 

 

Table 18.Kenai River late-run large Chinook salmon observed escapements and escapement goals. 

Year Lower Bound of Escapement Goal  Escapement 

2014 15,000 11,980 

2015 15,000 16,825 

2016 15,000 14,676 

2017 13,500 20,583 

2018 13,500 17,405 

2019 13,500 11,709 

2020 15,000 11,854 

2021 15,000 12,238 

2022 15,000 13,911 

2023 15,000 14,502 

2024 15,000 6,906 

2025 15,000 15,641* 

*Preliminary estimated escapement. 

 

 

Table 19. 2026 recommended Tier 3 SDC for the aggregate Chinook salmon stock complex and a range 

of buffers to reduce the preseason OFL to ABC. 

Buffer OFLPRE ABC OFL 

10% 373 336 2,237 

20% 373 298 2,237 

30% 373 261 2,237 

40% 373 224 2,237 

50% 373 186 2,237 

60% 373 149 2,237 

70% 373 112 2,237 

80% 373 75 2,237 

90% 373 37 2,237 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 99 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              75 

4.6 Aggregate Coho Salmon, stock complex 
 

 
Figure 16. Map showing the CI EEZ and the watersheds with coho salmon located in Upper Cook Inlet. 

 

Definition: As described in the Salmon FMP, the aggregate coho salmon stock complex (COHO) is 

defined as all coho salmon harvested in the CI EEZ with Deshka and Little Susitna rivers as indicator 

stocks that may be used to assess applicable SDC. The Federal definition for this stock also includes 

spawning escapements of coho salmon throughout UCI necessary to produce sustainable yield in future 

years. 

4.6.1 Retrospective assessment of fishery information relative to status determination criteria, 

including overfishing and overfished designations 

During the 2025 fishery, 15,444 coho salmon were harvested in the CI EEZ; which was less than the 

2025 Preseason OFL (67K), ABC/ACL (16.75K) and TAC (16.75K; Table 3). Because the estimated 

postseason cumulative harvest across a generation time (68K) was less than the 2025 OFL (268K) for 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 100 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              76 

this stock, it is the recommendation of the NMFS SAFE Team that overfishing did not occur during 

2025 (Table 20).  

Incomplete estimates of spawning escapements to the Deshka and Little Susitna River indicator stocks 

during recent years make it challenging to assess the overfished status of COHO. It is the 

recommendation of the NMFS SAFE Team to the SSC that 2025 postseason spawning escapements for 

the most recent generation do not represent a complete and reliable index of abundance for COHO and 

thus an overfished status cannot be assessed.  

 

4.6.2 Data and assessment methodology 

4.6.2.1 Data input changes for 2026 

The 2026 SAFE includes Federal catch data from the 2024-2025 federally managed CI EEZ salmon 

fishery. These data represent the first year of known catch occurring in the CI EEZ, as opposed to the 

catch estimates presented for years prior to 2024. 

4.6.2.2 Changes in assessment methodology for 2026 

Following the 2024 SSC recommendations to the NMFS SAFE Team, the 2025-2026 assessments use 

the largest total EEZ harvest over a generation (four years for coho salmon) to calculate the OFL, and 

the average harvest over that same period to calculate the preseason OFL (OFLPRE).  Additionally, per 

the SSC’s guidance in 2025, the escapement goal for indicator stocks with missing weir counts for a 

given year is not counted towards the combined escapement target or MSST for those years. 

4.6.2.3 Changes in assessment results for 2026 

Given the new 2025-2026 methodology outlined above and in previous sections, relative to the 2024 

SAFE report, preseason OFL values in this 2026 SAFE are smaller and considered to be more 

representative of amounts that could reasonably be harvested in the EEZ during a single season (changed 

from the multi-year methodology used in the 2024 SAFE).  Additionally, using the largest sum of EEZ 

harvest across a generation, as opposed to the largest observed EEZ harvest multiplied by the generation 

time used in the 2024 SAFE, results in a smaller OFL value used postseason to assess overfishing for 

Tier 3 stocks. Moreover, the change in how aggregate escapement targets are determined with respect to 

missing data from indicator stocks have changed the MSST values for this stock.  

4.6.2.4 Existing data and assessment 

The ADF&G data and stock assessment sources used for the Federal assessment of COHO are described 

in Section (4.6) with the most recent ADF&G stock assessment escapement goal review in Mckinley et 

al. (2024). Recent escapement goals, estimates, and many additional references pertaining to 

assessments of this stock can be found in Munro and Gatt (2025). 

Historical CI EEZ harvest estimates for COHO are considered to be complete, with the Federal 

definition of this stock in the EEZ generally meaning all coho salmon estimated to be harvested in the CI 

EEZ. Harvest in the CI EEZ occurring since 2024 (the first federally managed fishery in UCI EEZ) is 

considered to be known and complete (rather than estimated as for pre-2024). 

Genetics data and associated stock composition estimates exist for commercial harvests during the years 

2013 – 2016 (Barclay et al. 2019) 

ADF&G’s preseason commercial harvest estimates for UCI-wide coho salmon based on recent average 

harvests. 

4.6.3 Federal data and assessments 

After review by NMFS and unless otherwise stated, this SAFE incorporates ADF&G data and associated 

estimates of harvest (2024-2025 harvest in State waters and 1999 – 2023 EEZ and State harvest), 

escapement, age, sex, and other data. However, because of the timeline necessary to produce this SAFE 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 101 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              77 

and implement the Federal salmon management in the CI EEZ in 2026, this SAFE estimated: personal 

use harvests (2025); and sportfish harvests for saltwater and freshwater fisheries (2022-2023 and 2025). 

Estimates were made using five-year averages and will be updated in future years as data become 

available. 

This SAFE relies on Federal estimates of harvest in the CI EEZ from 2024-2025. 

To inform SDC and harvest specifications, the Federal stock assessment relied on the method described 

previously for Tier 3 stocks.  
 

4.6.4 Stock size and recruitment trends 

Stock overview: During the most recent five-year period (2021 – 2025), EEZ harvests ranged from 4.4 

–33K coho salmon (Table 20 and Figure 17). Since spawning escapement indices for this stock represent 

an unknown proportion of overall spawning escapement and such estimates are incomplete/missing 

during recent years, the NMFS SAFE Team did not estimate a total run size for this stock in this 2026 

SAFE. 

Escapement goals: The Federal definition of this stock complex includes 2 indicator stocks for which 

the State has spawning escapement goals (goal ranges in parentheses):   

Deshka River (10,200–24,100), and Little Susitna River (9,200–17,700). 

The current sum of the lower bounds of these escapement goals for the stock complex is 19,400; which, 

overall, has not been consistently achieved during recent years (Table 21) (Munro and Gatt 2025; Munro 

2023) due to incomplete weir data.  

Individual escapement goals for the two indicator stocks in the stock complex have not been achieved 

during recent years (Table 21; (Munro 2023); however, none of these stocks are classified as “Stocks of 

Concern” by the State (Munro and Gatt 2025; Munro 2023) and, as all escapement goals in the stock 

complex were developed based on the “Percentile Approach” (Clark et al. 2014); not achieving the 

lower bound of an escapement goal during some years is an expected product of this approach. 

In addition to the two indicator stocks, there are many other drainages and tributaries in UCI where coho 

salmon are known to spawn, but which lack escapement goals and escapement monitoring. 

Spawner-Recruitment and yield trends: The NMFS SAFE Team did not further investigate historical 

records of spawner-recruitment relationships for the index systems and a full accounting of such 

relationships is likely to be hampered by the large number of systems that are unmonitored and other 

data gaps. For example, while genetic analyses have been used by ADF&G to estimate the stock 

contributions of commercial harvests during some past years, the NMFS SAFE Team determined that 

the lack of annual estimates, combined by incomplete escapement data, makes it difficult to attribute 

these harvests to a given number of spawners in order to estimate the productivity (recruits per spawner) 

of the overall stock complex. 

4.6.5 Tier determination and resulting OFL and ABC determination for 2026 

Consistent with the 2024-2025 SAFE and 2024-2025 recommendations from the SSC, the NMFS SAFE 

Team recommends to the SSC a Tier 3 determination for COHO during 2026 due to the inability to 

verify estimates of total run size that are necessary for obtaining valid SDC estimates under Tier 2.  

In further consideration of the level of precaution that is warranted for COHO in this 2026 SAFE report, 

at the time of this publication, neither of the indicator stocks for the stock complex are listed as “Stocks 

of Concern” by the State of Alaska (Payton and Rabung 2023). The State of Alaska’s definition of a 

“Stock of Concern” as “escapements [that] chronically (4–5 years) fail to meet expectations for 

harvestable yield or spawning escapements” (Munro and Gatt 2025; Munro 2023). Under both State 

and Federal systems, a status designation of “overfished” (Federal) or a “Stock of Concern” (State) 

could result in accountability measures and a rebuilding plan. In the Federal system under the MSA, 

accountability measures and a rebuilding plan would be at the recommendation of the SSC and approved 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 102 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              78 

by the Council; under the State of Alaska, such measures would be reviewed and approved by the State 

of Alaska Board of Fisheries. 

The retrospective analysis in the amendment 16 EA/RIR did indicate coho salmon were subject to 

overfishing in 2013. As noted by ADF&G, reductions in drift gillnet fishing effort in the last several 

years may have contributed to improved coho salmon escapement and catches in Northern District 

fisheries (Marston and Frothingham 2019, 2021) 

Status and catch specifications for COHO based on a Tier 3 determination are provided with a range of 

buffers from 0.1 to 0.9 to reduce the preseason OFL to ABC (Table 22). The Tier 3 OFL for this stock 

(268,053) is equal to the largest cumulative EEZ harvest for a generation (4 years) in the 1999 – 2025 

timeseries, which occurred during 2004-2007 (Table 20). The 2026 preseason OFL (67,013) was 

calculated as the average harvest across the same years used to calculate the OFL. 

The NMFS SAFE Team recommends a buffer to reduce the preseason OFL for setting harvest 

specifications while exercising the necessary precaution to prevent overfishing. 

The 2025 Tier 3 COHO buffer was 75% and reduced the preseason OFL (67K) to an ABC of 16.75K 

fish. For 2026, the NMFS SAFE Team again recommends a precautionary buffer to reduce the OFLPRE 

to the resulting ABC given the following considerations:  

 

1. Indicator stocks have not consistently achieved spawning escapement goals during recent years 

(Munro and Gatt 2025; Munro 2023) (Table 21). 

2. From the State’s 2025 UCI commercial salmon fisheries season summary (Lipka and Stumpf 

2025b; omitted are the table numbers from that ADF&G report): “The Little Susitna weir was 

moved from its original location at river mile 32.5 to river mile 39.5 and began operating on July 

23. Low water conditions slowed the coho salmon passage through August. High water prevented 

counting from August 30 until September due to safety concerns, the last day of counts was on 

September 9. The weir count of 4,506 fish did not achieve the SEG of 9,200–17,700 fish…..”. 

“The Deshka River weir began operation on June 13, the first coho salmon was counted on July 

26. Low water conditions slowed the coho salmon passage into August. Flooding prevented 

counting fish at the Deshka River weir beginning August 29 ending the weir project. Visual 

assessments by department staff did not identify many fish in stream before or after the flood 

occurred. The count 4 of 3,869 coho salmon is considered a minimum count and incomplete, but 

it is unlikely the SEG of 10,200–24,100 fish was achieved…..” 

3. Based on their size, coho salmon are likely vulnerable to harvest in drift gillnets used target 

sockeye salmon during much of the fishing season and directly target coho salmon during some 

portion of the fishing season. 

4. Genetic evidence showing that significant proportions of the drift gillnet coho salmon harvested 

are likely bound for Northern CI drainages where the indicator stocks are located (note that the 

State’s commercial fishery management plan for UCI specifically calls for prioritization of coho 

salmon passing through Central and Northern Districts). 

5. Concerns about the prey available to endangered CI beluga whales that occupy Northern CI, 

including the far reaches of the Inlet when coho salmon are present (McHuron et al. 2023). Coho 

salmon are listed as one of the preferred prey items of CI belugas (Hobbs and Shelden 2008; 

Huntington 2000; Quakenbush et al. 2015). 

Given the considerations above, the NMFS SAFE Team considered a range of precautionary buffers 

and recommends that a buffer of 75% be applied to the preseason OFL, resulting in a recommended 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 103 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              79 

2026 preseason ABC of 16,753 fish. The NMFS SAFE Team may recommend smaller buffers in future 

years if spawning escapement objectives are achieved for the indicator stocks. 

The NMFS SAFE Team recommends prioritizing future research to better characterize the abundance, 

timing, spatial distribution, and genetic stock composition of the coho salmon harvested in the CI EEZ 

Area (Willette et al. 2003). 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 104 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              80 

 

 
 

Figure 17. Time-series of aggregate coho salmon stock complex harvest in the CI EEZ for years 1999 - 

2025 relative to the proposed 2026 OFL and ABC. CI EEZ harvest estimates prior to 2024 are based on 

methods and assumptions described in section 4.1 of this SAFE report.

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 105 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              81 

 

 
Figure 18. 2025 aggregate coho salmon CI EEZ catch. Panel A depicts catch by day and panel B shows 

cumulative daily catch compared to the 2025 TAC. 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 106 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              82 

Table 20. Status and catch specifications for Tier 3 Aggregate coho salmon stock complex. An 

overfished determination is assessed postseason by comparing the minimum stock size threshold 

(MSST; one half of the sum of the indicator stock’s spawning escapement goal summed across a 

generation, with actual cumulative escapement of the indicator stocks summed across a generation 

(Cum. Escap.). Overfishing is assessed postseason by comparing the actual harvest summed across a 

generation (EEZ Cum. Harvest) with the postseason overfishing limit (OFL). Unless otherwise noted, 

values are in the thousands of fish. Shaded values are new estimates or projections based on the current 

assessment. Bolded EEZ Harvest values are used to calculate OFL and OFLPRE. Note that EEZ harvest 

prior to 2024 is estimated as described in section 4.1. 

Year MSSTa,c Cum. 
Escap.a 

Total. 
Harvest 

State Drift 
Gillnet 

Harvest 

EEZ 
Harvest 

EEZ Cum. 
Harvest 

OFL OFLPRE 

1999 NA NA 258 36 
29 NA NA NA 

2000 NA NA 444 63 
69 NA NA NA 

2001 NA NA 321 20 
19 NA NA NA 

2002 40.6 182.5 465 60 
66 184 NA NA 

2003 40.6 203.1 262 26 
26 180 NA NA 

2004 40.6 264.4 510 107 
93 205 NA NA 

2005 40.6 268.6 392 80 
65 250 NA NA 

2006 40.6 264.3 360 54 
45 228 NA NA 

2007 40.6 264.2 317 43 
66 268 NA NA 

2008 40.6 192.3 357 51 38 214 NA NA 

2009 40.6 164.4 316 45 
37 186 NA NA 

2010 40.6 115.8 354 51 
59 201 NA NA 

2011 40.6 99.8 204 22 
19 154 NA NA 

2012 40.6 82.2 198 38 36 152 NA NA 

2013 40.6 81.1 383 75 
110 224 NA NA 

2014 40.6 97.3 280 44 
33 198 NA NA 

2015 40.6 108.6 378 76 
54 234 NA NA 

2016 40.6 111.9 231 56 35 232 NA NA 

2017 40.6 130.8 416 115 
76 199 NA NA 

2018 35.55d 108.1d 363 48 
60 226 NA NA 

2019 30.50d 95.0d 273 49 
39 211 NA NA 

2020 24.95d 88.9d 227 47 2 178 NA NA 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 107 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              83 

2021 19.4d 45.2d 277 48 
33 134 NA NA 

2022 NAe NAe 215 27 
24 98 NA NA 

2023 NAe NAe 167 25 
25 83 NA NA 

2024 NAe NAe 97 
7 

4 86 
439b 358b 

2025 NAe NAe 213 70 15 68 268 67 

2026       268 67 

a Calculated based on escapements and escapement targets for indicator stocks (Deshka and Little 

Susitna rivers). Note that in years where an escapement index was missing or incomplete, it is not 

counted towards total/cumulative escapement and the escapement target for that stock is not counted 

towards MSST 

b For the 2024 SAFE, a different method was used to calculate the Tier 3 OFL and OFLPRE. See the Final 

2024 CI EEZ SAFE for additional details.  

c No escapement goal for the Deshka River prior to 2017. 

d At least one index stock’s escapement count was missing or incomplete in this year. Cumulative 

escapement and MSST should be interpreted cautiously. 

e Both index stock’s escapement count was missing or incomplete in this year and thus escapement and 

MSST cannot be reliably be determined 

 

 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 108 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              84 

 

Table 21. Coho salmon escapement goals and observed escapements in the Deshka and Little Susitna 

rivers. These rivers are indicator stocks for the UCI Aggregate coho salmon stock complex. The lower 

bound of the escapement goal (L.B.) and escapement (Esc.) are presented for both indicator stocks. The 

total escapement is the sum of escapements for both rivers in each year. The minimum stock size 

threshold (MSST) is the sum of escapement targets for both rivers over the previous generation time (4 

years) and the cumulative escapement (Cum. Esc) is the sum of total escapement over the previous four 

years. When cumulative escapement is less than MSST, the stock may be considered overfished. Total 

catch is the sum of all coho harvest in UCI and total run is the sum of total catch and total escapement 

(Total Esc.). Escapement estimates from the ADF&G “Fish Counts” website 

(https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/sf/FishCounts/index.cfm?ADFG=main.home) 

 Deshka River Little Susitna River     

Year L.B.  Esc. L.B. Esc. 
Total 

Esc. 
MSST 

Cum. 

Esc. 

Total 

Catch 

2020 10,200 5,368a 9,200 10,765 10,765 24,950d 88,932d 226,730 

2021 10,200 3,338a 9,200 10,923 10,923 19,400d 45,205d 277,235 

2022 10,200 3,168a 9,200 3,162a,b NAa NAe NAe 214,742 

2023 10,200 1,817a,c 9,200 3,726a,c NAa NA NAe 166,669 

2024 10,200 642a,c 9,200 964a,c NA NAe NAe 97,450 

2025 10,200 3,869a,c 9,200 4,506a,c NA NAe NAe 213,317 

aIncomplete weir count. Note that incomplete weir counts are not counted towards total escapement 

(Esc.), cumulative escapement (Cum.Esc), or MSST. In years where both indices were missing or 

incomplete, escapement, cumulative escapement and MSST are treated as NAs 
bADF&G considers the escapement goal met 
cADF&G estimates the escapement goal was not met 

d At least one index stock’s escapement count was missing or incomplete in this year. Cumulative 

escapement and MSST should be interpreted cautiously. 

e Both index stock’s escapement count was missing or incomplete in this year and thus escapement and 

MSST cannot be reliably be determined

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 109 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              85 

 

Table 22. 2026 Tier 3 SDC for aggregate Coho salmon stock complex with a range of buffers to reduce 

the preseason OFL to ABC. 

Buffer OFLPRE ABC OFL 

10% 67,013 60,312 268,053 

20% 67,013 53,611 268,053 

30% 67,013 46,909 268,053 

40% 67,013 40,208 268,053 

50% 67,013 33,507 268,053 

60% 67,013 26,805 268,053 

70% 67,013 20,104 268,053 

80% 67,013 13,403 268,053 

90% 67,013 6,701 268,053 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 110 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              86 

4.7 Aggregate Chum Salmon, stock complex 

 
Figure 19. Map showing the CI EEZ and the watersheds with chum salmon located in Upper Cook Inlet. 

 

Definition: As described in the Salmon FMP, the Aggregate chum salmon stock complex (CHUM) is 

defined as all chum salmon harvested in the CI EEZ. The Federal definition for this stock also includes 

spawning escapements of chum salmon throughout UCI necessary to produce sustainable yield in future 

years. 

4.7.1 Retrospective assessment of fishery information relative to status determination criteria, 

including overfishing and overfished designations 

During the 2025 fishery, 27,236 chum salmon were harvested from the CHUM in the CI EEZ; which 

was less than the 2025 preseason OFL (97.5K), ABC/ACL (78K), and TAC (78K; Table 3). Because the 

estimated postseason cumulative harvest across the most recent generation (146K) was less than the 

2025 OFL (390K) for this stock, it is the recommendation of the NMFS SAFE Team that overfishing did 

not occur during 2025. 

 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 111 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              87 

4.7.2 Data and assessment methodology 

4.7.2.1 Data input changes for 2026 

The 2026 SAFE includes Federal catch data from the 2024-2025 federally managed CI EEZ salmon 

fishery. These data represent the first years of known catch occurring in the EEZ, as opposed to the 

catch estimates presented for years prior to 2024. 

4.7.2.2 Changes in assessment methodology for 2026 

Following the 2024 SSC recommendations, the 2025-2026 assessments used the largest total EEZ 

harvest over a generation (four years for chum salmon) to calculate the OFL, and the average harvest 

over that same period to calculate the preseason OFL (OFLPRE).   

4.7.2.3 Changes in assessment results for 2026 

Given the new 2025-2026 methodology outlined above and in previous sections, relative to the 2024 

SAFE report, preseason OFL values in this 2025 SAFE are smaller and considered to be more 

representative of amounts that could reasonably be harvested in the EEZ during a single season (changed 

from the multi-year methodology used in the 2024 SAFE). Additionally, using the largest sum of EEZ 

harvest across a generation, as opposed to the largest observed EEZ harvest multiplied by the generation 

time used in the 2024 SAFE, results in a smaller OFL value used postseason to assess overfishing for 

Tier 3 stocks.  

4.7.2.4 Existing data and assessment 

The ADF&G data and stock assessment sources used for the Federal assessment of the CHUM are 

described in Section 4.7. 

Clearwater Creek is the only State escapement goal for chum salmon in UCI. Recent escapement indices 

for this stock are provided in Munro (2023) and Munro and Gatt (2025) and in the 2023 UCI 

commercial salmon fishery season summary (Lipka and Stumpf 2023).  

Harvest estimates from this stock includes commercial, personal use, and recreational fisheries, most of 

which are available from ADF&G reports and through the ADF&G website. Harvest in the CI EEZ 

occurring in 2024-2025 is considered to be known (rather than estimated as for pre-2024) and complete. 

The extent to which escapement indices represent actual numbers of spawners for all freshwater systems 

is unknown given that a single drainage is monitored. Therefore, estimates of total run size are 

unavailable. 

For UCI, there are no chum salmon “Stocks of Concern” listed by the State. 

4.7.2.5 Federal data and assessments 

After review by NMFS and unless otherwise stated, this SAFE incorporates ADF&G data and associated 

estimates of harvest (2024-2025 harvest in State waters and 1999 – 2023 total harvest), escapement, and 

other data. However, because of the timeline necessary to produce this SAFE in time to implement the 

Federal drift gillnet fishery in the CI EEZ, NMFS estimated the following quantities during recent years: 

2024-205 personal use harvests (based on a 5-year 2018–2022 average); 2022–2025 sportfish harvests, 

with these estimates considered to be minor portions of overall harvests. 

To inform SDC and harvest specifications, the Federal stock assessment relied on the method described 

previously for Tier 3 stocks. 

4.7.3 Stock size and recruitment trends 

Stock overview: During the most recent five-year period (2021–2025), a range of 27,236–50,773 chum 

salmon harvested in the EEZ during this period. No estimates of total run size are available for CHUM. 

Escapement Goal: Chinitna River/Clearwater Creek is the only State escapement goal for chum salmon 

in UCI. For that system, escapement is monitored by aerial survey with the annual escapements set by 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 112 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              88 

the peak aerial survey count for the year, with an escapement goal range of 3,500-8,000 chum salmon 

that was informed by the Percentile Approach (Clark et al. 2014). For the ten years from 2016–2025, 

escapements at Chinitna River/Clearwater Creek have met or exceeded the lower bound of the spawning 

escapement goal range during all but two years (2018 and 2024; Munro and Gatt 2025, Lipka and 

Stumpf 2025b). 

Spawner-Recruitment and yield trends: There are no available spawner-recruitment or yield trends 

for this stock due to the lack of reliable estimates of spawning escapements across all areas in UCI and 

lack of age data for harvests or escapements. 

While escapement indices are available for 1 system managed by the State, it is the recommendation of 

the NMFS SAFE Team that the single spawning escapement goal and associated index of annual 

escapements do not provide a representative estimate of spawning abundance for all tributaries in UCI. 

4.7.4 Tier determination and resulting OFL and ABC determination for 2026 

Consistent with the 2025 SAFE and SSC recommendation, the NMFS SAFE Team again recommends 

to the SSC that CHUM be designated as Tier 3. The lack of reliable estimates of spawning abundance or 

total run size for the stock preclude a Tier 2 determination. 

Status and catch specifications for CHUM based on a Tier 3 determination are provided in Table 23. 

Based on the Tier 3 methods described in the Salmon FMP and this SAFE, the NMFS SAFE Team 

recommends an OFL of 390,030 chum salmon that reflects the maximum cumulative CI EEZ harvest 

across a generation time of four years in the timeseries under consideration (1999 – 2025; Table 23). 

The 2025 preseason OFL is calculated as the largest average harvest over the same generation used to 

calculate the OFL, resulting in a preseason OFL of 97,508 chum salmon (Table 24). 

In recommending values of OFL and ABC, the NMFS SAFE Team notes that there are no known 

conservation concerns for UCI chum salmon and they are not listed by the State as a “Stock of Concern” 

in UCI. It assumed that chum salmon are incidentally harvested (not targeted) in the CI EEZ, with the 

majority of harvest estimated to occur outside the EEZ. The NMFS SAFE Team also assumes that 

CHUM in UCI is healthy and harvested at a low exploitation rate in the EEZ fishery. Generally, it is 

understood that conservation and management considerations related to occurring sockeye and coho 

salmon stocks constrain the total harvest of chum salmon in UCI, including for the CI EEZ fishery. The 

NMFS SAFE Team welcomes input and additional information on this and other assumptions. 

Given the considerations above, the NMFS SAFE Team recommends that a 20% buffer be applied to the 

preseason OFL (97,508), resulting in an ABC of 78,006 chum salmon (Table 24). 

Recommending a 20% buffer for this stock compared to recommended buffers for ACHIN (30%) and 

PINK (10%; see discussion in Section 4.8.4 below) reflects the NMFS SAFE Team’s judgment that 

CHUM is less of a conservation concern than ACHIN but, based on their size, are more likely to be 

caught in the gillnet fishery than PINK and that available evidence suggests that there are fewer, perhaps 

even substantially fewer, chum salmon spawning streams and overall spawning area relative to the other 

four species of salmon in UCI (see maps at the start of each salmon stock assessment in this SAFE for a 

qualitative overview of salmon spawning locations throughout UCI based on State data (Giefer 2024)) 

NMFS has not conducted a formal, quantitative review or assessment of available spawning habitat for 

chum salmon throughout UCI). As with other stocks for which there is a paucity of available 

information, the NMFS SAFE Team recommends research to estimate overall escapement and total run 

size for this stock.

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 113 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              89 

 

 
Figure 20. Time-series of aggregate chum salmon harvest in the CI EEZ for years 1999 - 2025 relative 

to the proposed 2026 OFL and ABC. CI EEZ harvest estimates prior to 2024 are based on methods and 

assumptions described in section 4.1 of this SAFE report.

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 114 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              90 

 

 
Figure 21. 2025 aggregate Chum salmon CI EEZ catch. Panel A depicts catch by day and panel B shows 

cumulative daily catch compared to the 2025 TAC.

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 115 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              91 

Table 23. Status and catch specifications for Tier 3 Aggregate chum salmon stock complex. Overfishing 

is assessed postseason by comparing the actual harvest summed across a generation (EEZ Cum. Harvest) 

with the postseason overfishing limit (OFL). Unless otherwise noted, values are in the thousands of fish. 

Shaded values are new estimates or projections based on the current assessment. Bolded EEZ Harvest 

values are used to calculate OFL and OFLPRE. Note that EEZ harvest prior to 2024 is estimated as 

described in section 4.1. 

Year 
Total 

Harvest 

State Drift 

Gillnet 

Harvest 

EEZ 

Harvest 

EEZ Cum. 

Harvest 
OFL OFLPRE 

1999 180 86 81 NA NA NA 

2000 133 56 62 NA NA NA 

2001 91 39 37 NA NA NA 

2002 246 108 116 296 NA NA 

2003 126 53 53 268 NA NA 

2004 151 73 65 271 NA NA 

2005 74 32 34 268 NA NA 

2006 68      27 33 185 NA NA 

2007 80 29 46 178 NA NA 

2008 54 23 23 137 NA NA 

2009 87 36 41 144 NA NA 

2010 233      94 123 233 NA NA 

2011 134      62 49 236 NA NA 

2012 274 124 140 353 NA NA 

2013 145 56 76 388 NA NA 

2014 123 51 57 323 NA NA 

2015 282 136 116 390 NA NA 

2016 128 73 40 289 NA NA 

2017 249 129 104 317 NA NA 

2018 119 44 65 324 NA NA 

2019 133 59 54 262 NA NA 

2020 33 18 8 230 NA NA 

2021 73 36 29 155 NA NA 

2022 103 53 39 130 NA NA 

2023 131 62 51 126 NA NA 

2024 78 40 29 148 561* 442* 

2025 120 82 27 146 390 97.5 

2026     390 97.5 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 116 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              92 

* For the 2024 SAFE, a different method was used to calculate the Tier 3 OFL and OFLPRE. See the Final 2024 

CI EEZ SAFE for additional details. 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 117 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              93 

 

Table 24. 2026 recommended Tier 3 SDC for the Aggregate chum salmon stock complex and a range of 

buffers to reduce the preseason OFL to ABC. 

Buffer 
OFLPR

E 
ABC OFL 

10% 97,508 87,757 390,030 

20% 97,508 78,006 390,030 

30% 97,508 68,255 390,030 

40% 97,508 58,504 390,030 

50% 97,508 48,754 390,030 

60% 97,508 39,003 390,030 

70% 97,508 29,252 390,030 

80% 97,508 19,501 390,030 

90% 97,508 9,751 390,030 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 118 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              94 

4.8    Aggregate Pink Salmon, stock complex 

 
Figure 22. Map showing the CI EEZ and the watersheds with pink salmon located in Upper Cook Inlet. 

 

Definition: As described in the Salmon FMP, the Aggregate pink salmon stock complex (PINK) is 

defined as all pink salmon harvested in the CI EEZ. The Federal definition for this stock also includes 

spawning escapements of pink salmon throughout UCI necessary to produce sustainable yield in future 

years. 

This stock definition is applicable to both even- and odd-year broodlines of UCI pink salmon, which are 

assessed separately. 

4.8.1 Retrospective assessment of fishery information relative to status determination criteria, 

including overfishing and overfished designations  

4.8.1.1 Even-Year broodline 

During the 2024 fishery (most recent even year run), 6,250 pink salmon were harvested in the CI EEZ; 

which was less than the 2024 OFL (300K), preseason OFL (270K), ABC/ACL (135K), and TAC 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 119 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              95 

(122K). Because the estimated postseason cumulative harvest across a generation time (36K) was less 

than the 2024 OFL (300K) for this stock, it is the recommendation of the NMFS SAFE Team that 

overfishing did not occur during 2024 (Table 25). 

4.8.1.2 Odd-Year Broodline 

During the 2025 fishery (most recent odd-year run), it is estimated that 6,080 pink salmon were 

harvested in the CI EEZ. Because the total catch mortality for this stock across the most recent 

generation (~30K) was well below the 2025 OFL of 116K, it is the NMFS SAFE Team’s assessment 

that overfishing did not occur. 

4.8.2 Data and assessment methodology 

4.8.2.1 Data input changes for 2026 

The 2026 SAFE includes Federal catch data from the 2024-2025 federally managed CI EEZ salmon 

fishery. These data represent the first years of known catch occurring in the EEZ, as opposed to the 

catch estimates presented for years prior to 2024. 

4.8.2.2 Changes in assessment methodology for 2026  

Following the 2024 SSC recommendations to the NMFS SAFE Team, the 2025-2026 assessments 

used the largest total EEZ harvest over a generation (two years for pink salmon) to calculate the OFL, 

and the average harvest over that same period to calculate the preseason OFL (OFLPRE). For odd-year 

PINK, the highest cumulative generational harvest in the time-series were the years 2007 and 2009; 

therefore, harvests during those years are used to calculate the OFL (sum of harvests across those years) 

and OFLPRE (average harvest across those years). 

4.8.2.3 Changes in assessment results for 2026 

Given the new 2025-2026 methodology outlined above, relative to the 2024 SAFE report, recommended 

preseason OFL values in this 2026 SAFE are smaller and considered to be more representative of 

amounts that could reasonably be harvested in the EEZ during a single season (changed from the multi-

year methodology described in the 2024 SAFE). Additionally, using the largest sum of EEZ harvest 

across a generation, as opposed to the largest observed EEZ harvest multiplied by the generation time 

used in the 2024 SAFE, results in a smaller OFL value used postseason to assess overfishing for Tier 3 

stocks.  

4.8.2.4 Existing data and assessment 

The ADF&G data and stock assessment sources used for the Federal assessment of the PINK are 

described in Section 4.8.  

There are no escapement goals or known and reliable estimates of pink salmon escapement in UCI. 

Harvest estimates from this stock includes commercial, personal use, and recreational fisheries, most of 

which are available from ADF&G reports and through the ADF&G website. Harvest in the CI EEZ 

occurring in 2024-2025 (the first and second years of a federally managed fishery in UCI EEZ) is 

considered to be known (rather than estimated as for pre-2024) and complete. 

4.8.2.5 Federal data and assessments 

After review by NMFS and unless otherwise stated, in addition to the 2024-2025 Federal harvest data 

for pink salmon from the CI EEZ, this SAFE also incorporates ADF&G data and associated estimates of 

harvest (2024-2025 harvest in State waters and 1999 – 2023 total harvest). 

To inform SDC and harvest specifications, the Federal stock assessment relied on the method described 

previously for Tier 3 stocks. 

Pink salmon have discrete even- and odd-year broodlines that do not interact and SDC are calculated 

separately for each brood-year. As per the recommended Tier 3 methodology, the 2026 even-year 

broodline OFL is the maximum cumulative historical harvest (283K) over a generation (2 years; 2012; 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 120 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              96 

2014) in the time series under consideration. The preseason OFL is the largest average catch (141K) 

over the same generation (two years) used to calculate the OFL and represents an amount that could 

reasonably be harvested in a year.  

4.8.3 Stock size and recruitment trends 

Stock overview:  

Even-year: During the most recent five year even-year return (2016, 2018, 2020, 2022, 2024), a range of 

approximately 6–110K pink salmon harvested in the CI EEZ during this period. No estimates of total run 

size are available. 

Odd-year: During the most recent five year odd-year return period (2017, 2019, 2021, 2023, 2025), a 

range of 6–26K pink salmon harvested in the CI EEZ during this period.  

Escapement Goal: There are no State spawning escapement goals for pink salmon in UCI. 

Spawner-Recruitment and yield trends: There are no available spawner-recruitment or yield trends for 

this stock due to the lack of reliable estimates of spawning escapements across all areas in UCI. 

4.8.4 Tier determination and resulting OFL and ABC determination for 2026 

Consistent with the 2024-2025 SSC recommendations, the NMFS SAFE Team recommends to the SSC 

that PINK be designated as Tier 3 stock. 

Similar to chum salmon, it is the assumption of the NMFS SAFE Team that the CI EEZ pink salmon 

stock complex is healthy, is not subject to overfishing and that past estimates of EEZ harvests represent 

incidental (not targeted) harvests that are not impactful to the overall spawning population. Given the 

small size of pink salmon relative to other salmon, it is also assumed that many pink salmon would get 

through the gillnets used in the CI EEZ, which primarily target sockeye salmon. As such, while 

spawning estimates are not available, it is the judgment of the NMFS SAFE Team that even- and odd-

year pink salmon represent a particularly low conservation concern with respect to harm to the stock that 

could come as a result of fishing activity in the CI EEZ. The NMFS SAFE Team welcomes feedback, 

data, and additional information pertaining to the assumptions and analyses presented in this SAFE. 

Given the considerations above, the NMFS Safe Team recommends a preseason OFL of 141,406 pink 

salmon and that a 10% buffer be applied to this, resulting in an ABC of 127,266 pink salmon (Table 26). 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 121 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              97 

 

 

 
 

Figure 23. Time-series of pink salmon harvest in the CI EEZ for years 1999 - 2025 relative to the 

proposed 2026 OFL and ABC. The CI EEZ harvest estimates prior to 2024 are based on methods and 

assumptions described in Section 4.1 of this SAFE report.

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 122 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              98 

 

 
Figure 24. 2025 aggregate odd-year pink salmon CI EEZ catch. Panel A depicts catch by day and panel 

B shows cumulative daily catch compared to the 2025 TAC.

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 123 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              99 

 

Table 25. Tier 3 status and catch specifications for the Aggregate pink salmon stock complex. 

Overfishing is assessed postseason by comparing the actual harvest summed across a generation (EEZ 

Cum. Harvest) with the postseason overfishing limit (OFL). Unless otherwise noted, values are in the 

thousands of fish. Shaded values are new estimates or projections based on the current assessment. 

Bolded EEZ Harvest values are used to calculate OFL and OFLPRE. Note that EEZ harvest prior to 2024 

is estimated as described in section 4.1. 

Brood 

Year 
Year 

Total 

Harvest 

State Drift 

Gillnet 

Harvest 

EEZ 

Harvest 

EEZ Cum. 

Harvest 
OFL OFLPRE 

Even 2000 190 48 43 NA NA NA 

 2002 490 109 115 157 NA NA 

 2004 394 132 103 218 NA NA 

 2006 442 122 91 194 NA NA 

 2008 208 54 50 140 NA NA 

 2010 321 74 90 139 NA NA 

 2012 499 170 133 223 NA NA 

 2014 703 267 150 283 NA NA 

 2016 425 159 109 260 NA NA 

 2018 173 45 39 148 NA NA 

 2020 395 282 12 51 NA NA 

 2022 134 60 30 41 NA NA 

 2024 70 31 6 36 300* 270* 

 2026     283 141 

Odd 1999 26 2 1 NA NA NA 

 2001 85 17 15 16 NA NA 

 2003 60 17 13 28 NA NA 

 2005 63 15 16 29 NA NA 

 2007 163 26 42 58 NA NA 

 2009 245 65 75 116 NA NA 

 2011 48 9 6 81 NA NA 

 2013 64 18 13 19 NA NA 

 2015 71 12 10 22 NA NA 

 2017 196 67 23 33 NA NA 

 2019 100 12 16 39 NA NA 

 2021 112 40 26 41 NA NA 

 2023 86 34 24 50 NA NA 

 2025 70 31 6 30 116 58 

*For the 2024 SAFE, a different method was used to calculate the Tier 3 OFL and OFLPRE. See the Final 

2024 CI EEZ SAFE for additional details.

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 124 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              100 

 

Table 26. 2026 recommended Tier 3 SDC for the Aggregate even-year pink salmon stock complex and a 

range of buffers to reduce the preseason OFL to ABC. 

Buffer OFLPRE ABC OFL 

10% 141,406 127,266 282,813 

20% 141,406 113,125 282,813 

30% 141,406 98,985 282,813 

40% 141,406 84,844 282,813 

50% 141,406 70,703 282,813 

60% 141,406 56,563 282,813 

70% 141,406 42,422 282,813 

80% 141,406 28,281 282,813 

90% 141,406 14,141 282,813 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 125 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              101 

 

5 Summary of NMFS SAFE Team Recommendations to the 
SSC for the 2026 CI EEZ Stock Assessment cycle. 

Recommended 2026 Tiers, SDC, and buffer to reduce the preseason OFL to the ABC.  

Table 1 contains 2026 NMFS SAFE Team recommendations for stock tiers, SDC, and buffers to reduce 

the preseason OFL to the ABC. 

Recommended 2025 Preliminary Postseason Stock Status in Relation to SDC 

Table 2 contains preliminary 2025 postseason stock status in relation to SDC. Values in Table 2 are 

likely to be updated in future years as estimates of harvests and escapement become finalized. For 

example, this 2026 SAFE report estimated 2025 sportfish and personal use harvests because they were 

not available in time for this report. 

Recommended 2025 Preliminary Postseason Harvests in Relation to Final Preseason Harvest 

Specifications 

Table 3 contains preliminary 2025 postseason harvests for each stock in comparison to the 2025 final 

harvest specifications. 

Additional Recommendations  

● The NMFS SAFE Team recommends research projects to measure spawning escapements of salmon 

harvested in the CI EEZ salmon fishery. Given that the number of escapement monitoring projects 

has declined in recent years, which restricts the ability to assess SDC, increasing the number of 

monitored systems would greatly assist the assessment of salmon stocks harvested in the CI EEZ. 

● The NMFS SAFE Team recommends a genetic mixed stock analysis study of salmon caught in the 

CI EEZ fishery. At present, the origin of Chinook salmon harvested in the EEZ and the proportion of 

sockeye attributed to KNSOCK, KASOCK, and AOSOCK are unknown. These data would allow for 

more accurate Tier 1 SDC and recommended AOSOCK and ACHIN buffers. 

● The NMFS SAFE Team greatly appreciated long-format feedback of the workshop held during May 

2025, and would support continuation of these workshops in future years, or the creation of a Salmon 

Plan Team. 

● The NMFS SAFE Team recommends an assessment of alternative fishery methods for the CI EEZ 

(e.g., purse seines) that could be used to harvest available yield for stocks with a high abundance 

while enabling species that are in a low state of abundance to be released.  

● The NMFS SAFE Team recommends using the Bayesian AR approach to predict run size and State 

harvest levels for Tier 1 stocks, and the resulting buffers to account for scientific uncertainty in 

reducing the preseason OFL to the recommended ABC 

● The NMFS SAFE Team recommends prioritizing future research to better characterize the 

abundance, timing, spatial distribution, and genetic stock composition of the coho salmon harvested 

in the CI EEZ fishery (Willette et al. 2003). 

● As with other stocks for which there is a paucity of available information, the NMFS SAFE Team 

recommends research to estimate overall escapement and total run size for CHUM

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 126 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              102 

 

6 References 

ADF&G 2026a. Management & Research Publications and Reports. Available from 

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/index.cfm?ADFG=research.publications [accessed 15 January 2026]. 

ADF&G 2026b. Alaska Board of Fisheries Meeting Information. Available from 

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/index.cfm?adfg=fisheriesboard.meetinginfo&date=02-23-

2024&meeting=anchorage [accessed 15 January 2026]. 

ADF&G 2026c. Alaska Sport Fishing Survey. Available from 

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/sf/sportfishingsurvey/ [accessed 15 January 2026]. 

ADF&G 2026d. Commercial Fisheries Regulations. Available from 

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/index.cfm?adfg=fishregulations.commercial [accessed 15 January 

2026]. 

Arimitsu, M., Drummond, B., Whelan, S., Hatch, S., and Piatt, J. 2024. Seabird-Derived Forage Fish 

Indicators from Middleton Island. In Ferriss, B., 2024. Ecosystem Status Report 2024: Gulf of 

Alaska, Stock Assessment and Fishery Evaluation Report. North Pacific Fishery Management 

Council, 1007 West Third, Suite 400, Anchorage, Alaska 99501. 

Barclay, A.W. 2020. Compilation of Genetic Stock Identification Estimates of Sockeye Harvest from 

Sampled Upper Cook Inlet Commercial Fisheries; Susitna River Components Reported both 

Separately and Combined. Alaska Department of Fish & Game RIR.5J20-02, Anchorage, AK. 

Available from https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/RIR.5J.2020.02.pdf. 

Barclay, A.W. 2024. Genetic Stock Composition Estimates for the Upper Cook Inlet Sockeye Salmon 

Commercial Fishery, 2021–2023. Alaska Department of Fish and Game RIR-5J24-02, Anchorage, 

AK. Available from https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/RIR.5J.2024.02.pdf. 

Barclay, A.W., and Chenowith, E.L. 2021. Genetic Stock Composition Estimates for the Upper Cook 

Inlet Sockeye Salmon Commercial Fishery, 2020. Alaska Department of Fish & Game RIR.5J21-

04, Anchorage, AK. Available from https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/RIR.5J.2021.04.pdf. 

Barclay, A.W., Chenowith, E.L., and Habicht, C. 2019. Reanalysis of Upper Cook Inlet Coho Salmon 

Harvest 2013 to 2016 Using an Updated Genetic Baseline. Alaska Department of Fish & Game 

RIR.5J19-06, Anchorage, AK. Available from 

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/RIR.5J.2019.06.pdf. 

Clark, R.A., Eggers, D.M., Munro, A.R., Fleischman, S.J., Bue, B.G., and Hasbrouck, J.J. 2014. 

Evaluation of the Percentile Approach for Establishing Sustainable Escapement Goals in lieu of 

Stock Productivity Information. Alaska Department of Fish & Game FMS 14-06, Anchorage, AK. 

Available from https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidpdfs/FMS14-06.pdf. 

DeCino, B. 2022. 2022 Upper Cook Inlet Sockeye Salmon Forecast [Advisory Announcement]. Alaska 

Department of Fish & Game, Anchorage, AK. Available from 

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/applications/dcfnewsrelease/1355244301.pdf. 

Donnellan, S.J., and Munro, A.R. 2023. Run Forecasts and Harvest Projections for 2023 Alaska Salmon 

Fisheries and Review of the 2022 Season. Alaska Department of Fish & Game SP 23-10, 

Anchorage, AK. Available from https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/SP23-10.pdf. 

Drummond, B., and Renner, H. 2024. Seabird Synthesis: Alaska Maritime National Wildlife Refuge 

Data. In Ferriss, B., and Zador, S., 2024. Ecosystem Status Report 2024: Gulf of Alaska, Stock 

Assessment and Fishery Evaluation Report. North Pacific Fishery Management Council, 1007 West 

Third, Suite 400, Anchorage, Alaska 99501. 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 127 of 154

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/index.cfm?ADFG=research.publications
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/index.cfm?adfg=fisheriesboard.meetinginfo&date=02-23-2024&meeting=anchorage
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/index.cfm?adfg=fisheriesboard.meetinginfo&date=02-23-2024&meeting=anchorage
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/sf/sportfishingsurvey/
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/index.cfm?adfg=fishregulations.commercial
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/RIR.5J.2020.02.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/RIR.5J.2024.02.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/RIR.5J.2021.04.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/RIR.5J.2019.06.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidpdfs/FMS14-06.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/applications/dcfnewsrelease/1355244301.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/SP23-10.pdf


Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              103 

Erickson, J.W., and Lipka, C. 2023. 2023 Upper Cook Inlet Sockeye Salmon Forecast [Advisory 

Announcement]. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Anchorage, AK. Available from 

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/applications/dcfnewsrelease/1456866430.pdf. 

Ferriss, B.E. 2026. Abbreviated Ecosystem Status Report 2026: Gulf of Alaska, Stock Assessment and 

Fishery Evaluation Report for the Groundfish Resources of the Gulf of Alaska, North Pacific 

Fishery Management Council, 1007 West Third, Suite 400, Anchorage, Alaska 99501 

Ferriss, B., 2024. Ecosystem Status Report 2024: Gulf of Alaska, Stock Assessment and Fishery 

Evaluation Report. North Pacific Fishery Management Council, 1007 West Third, Suite 400, 

Anchorage, Alaska 99501. 

Fleischman, S.J., and Reimer, A.M. 2017. Spawner-Recruit Analyses and Escapement Goal for Kenai 

River Chinook Salmon. Alaska Department of Fish & Game FMS 17-02, Anchorage, AK. 

Available from https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/FMS17-02.pdf. 

Gatt, K., and Erickson, J.W. 2024. 2024 Upper Cook Inlet Sockeye Salmon Forecast [Advisory 

Announcement]. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Anchorage, AK. Available from 

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/applications/dcfnewsrelease/1556886474.pdf. 

Giefer, J.G., Scott. 2024. Catalog of Waters Important for Spawning, Rearing, or Migration of 

Anadromous Fishes – Southcentral Region, Effective June 2024. Alaska Department of Fish & 

Game, Anchorage, AK. Available from https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static-

sf/AWC/PDFs/2024scn_CATALOG.pdf. 

Hasbrouck, J.J., Templin, W.D., Munro, A.R., Howard, K.G., and Hamazaki, T. 2022. Spawner-Recruit 

Analyses and Escapement Goal for Kenai River Late-Run Sockeye Salmon. Alaska Department of 

Fish & Game FMS 22-01, Anchorage, AK. Available from 

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/FMS22-01.pdf. 

Hebert, K., and Dressel, S. 2024. Southeast Alaska herring. In Ferriss, B. and Zador, S., 2024. 

Ecosystem Status Report 2024: Gulf of Alaska, Stock Assessment and Fishery Evaluation Report. 

North Pacific Fishery Management Council, 1007 West Third, Suite 400, Anchorage, Alaska 

99501. 

Hobbs, R.C., and Shelden, K.E.W. 2008. Supplemental status review and extinction assessment of Cook 

Inlet belugas (Delphinapterus leucas). Alaska Fisheries Science Center, NOAA, National Marine 

Fisheries Sevice, AFSC Processed Rep. 2008-08AFSC, NMFS. Available from 

https://repository.library.noaa.gov/view/noaa/9027. 

Huntington, H.P. 2000. Traditional Knowledge of the Ecology of Belugas, Delphinapterus leucas, in 

Cook Inlet, Alaska. Marine Fisheries Review 62(3). 

Hyndman, R., Athanasopoulos , G., Bergmeir, C., Caceres, G., Chhay , L., O'Hara-Wild, M., 

Petropoulos , F., Razbash, S., Wang, E., and Yasmeen, F. 2024. forecast: Forecasting functions for 

time series and linear models. R package version 8.23.0.9000, 

https://pkg.robjhyndman.com/forecast/. 

Jasper, J., and Evenson, D.F. 2006. Length-Girth, Length-Weight, and Fecundity of Yukon River 

Chinook Salmon Oncorhynchus tshawytscha. Alaska Department of Fish & Game FDS 06-70, 

Anchorage, AK. Available from https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/fds06-70.pdf. 

Jones, D., Levine, M., and Patrick, R. 2024. Ocean Temperature Synthesis: NOAA Acoustic-Trawl 

Survey. In Ferriss, B., 2024. Ecosystem Status Report 2024: Gulf of Alaska, Stock Assessment and 

Fishery Evaluation Report. North Pacific Fishery Management Council, 1007 West Third, Suite 

400, Anchorage, Alaska 99501. 

Lemagie, E., and Bell, S. 2024. Seasonal Projections from the National Multi-Model Ensemble. In 

Ferriss, B., 2024. Ecosystem Status Report 2024: Gulf of Alaska, Stock Assessment and Fishery 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 128 of 154

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/applications/dcfnewsrelease/1456866430.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/FMS17-02.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/applications/dcfnewsrelease/1556886474.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static-sf/AWC/PDFs/2024scn_CATALOG.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static-sf/AWC/PDFs/2024scn_CATALOG.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/FMS22-01.pdf
https://repository.library.noaa.gov/view/noaa/9027
https://pkg.robjhyndman.com/forecast/
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/fds06-70.pdf


Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              104 

Evaluation Report. North Pacific Fishery Management Council, 1007 West Third, Suite 400, 

Anchorage, Alaska 99501. 

Lemagie, E., and Callahan, M.W. 2024. Seasonal Projections from the National Multi-Model Ensemble. 

In Ferriss, B., 2024. Ecosystem Status Report 2024: Gulf of Alaska, Stock Assessment and Fishery 

Evaluation Report. North Pacific Fishery Management Council, 1007 West Third, Suite 400, 

Anchorage, Alaska 99501. 

Lipka, C. and Stumpf, L. 2023. 2023 Upper Cook Inlet Commercial Salmon Fishery Season Summary 

[Advisory Announcement]. Alaska Department of Fish & Game, Anchorage, AK. Available from 

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/applications/dcfnewsrelease/1546815985.pdf. 

Lipka, C., and Stumpf, L. 2024. Upper Cook Inlet Commercial Fisheries Annual Management Report, 

2022. Alaska Department of Fish & Game FMR 24-04, Anchorage Alaska. Available from 

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-

2024/uci/fmr_24-04.pdf. 

Lipka, C., and Stumpf, L. 2024. 2024 Upper Cook Inlet Commercial Salmon Fishery Season Summary 

[Advisory Announcement]. Alaska Department of Fish & Game, Anchorage, AK. Available from 

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/applications/dcfnewsrelease/1643887199.pdf. 

Lipka, C., and L. Stumpf. 2025a. Upper Cook Inlet commercial fisheries annual management report, 

2023. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Fishery Management Report No. 25-05, Anchorage. 

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/FMR25-05.pdf 

Lipka, C., and Stumpf, L. 2025b. 2025 Upper Cook Inlet Commercial Salmon Fishery Season Summary 

[Advisory Announcement]. Alaska Department of Fish & Game, Anchorage, AK. Available from 

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/applications/dcfnewsrelease/1743510146.pdf 

Litzow, M.A., Malick, M.J., Bond, N.A., Cunningham, C.J., Gosselin, J.L., and Ward, E.J. 2020. 

Quantifying a Novel Climate Through Changes in PDO‐Climate and PDO‐Salmon Relationships. 

Geophysical Research Letters 47(16). doi:10.1029/2020gl087972. 

Marston, B., and Frothingham, A. 2019. Upper Cook Inlet Commercial Fisheries Annual Management 

Report, 2018. Alaska Department of Fish & Game, Anchorage, AK FMR 19-25. Available from 

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/FMR19-25.pdf. 

Marston, B., and Frothingham, A. 2021. Upper Cook Inlet Commercial Fisheries Annual Management 

Report, 2019. Alaska Department of Fish & Game, Anchorage, AK FMR 21-26. Available from 

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/FMR21-26.pdf. 

Marston, B., and A. Frothingham. 2022. Upper Cook Inlet commercial fisheries annual management 

report, 2021. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Fishery Management Report No. 22-16, 

Anchorage. https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/FMR22-16.pdf Marston, B., and 

Frothingham, A. 2022b. Upper Cook Inlet Commercial Fisheries Annual Management Report, 

2020. Alaska Department of Fish & Game, Anchorage, AK. Available from 

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/FMR22-12.pdf. 

McGowan, D.W., Jones, D., Levine, M., and Williams, K. 2024. Fisheries-independent Survey-based 

Indices of Capelin Relative Abundance. In Ferriss, B., 2024. Ecosystem Status Report 2024: Gulf 

of Alaska, Stock Assessment and Fishery Evaluation Report. North Pacific Fishery Management 

Council, 1007 West Third, Suite 400, Anchorage, Alaska 99501. 

McHuron, E.A., Castellote, M., Himes Boor, G.K., Shelden, K.E.W., Warlick, A.J., McGuire, T.L., 

Wade, P.R., and Goetz, K.T. 2023. Modeling the impacts of a changing and disturbed environment 

on an endangered beluga whale population. Ecological Modelling 483. 

doi:10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2023.110417. 

Mckinley, T.R., Erickson, J.W., Eskelin, T., DeCovich, N., and Hamazaki, H. 2024. Review of Salmon 

Escapement Goals in Upper Cook Inlet, Alaska, 2023. Alaska Department of Fish & Game FMS 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 129 of 154

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/applications/dcfnewsrelease/1546815985.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-2024/uci/fmr_24-04.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-2024/uci/fmr_24-04.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/applications/dcfnewsrelease/1643887199.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/FMR19-25.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/FMR21-26.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/FMR22-16.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/FMR22-12.pdf


Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              105 

24-01, Anchorage, AK. Available from 

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-

2024/uci/fms24-01.pdf. 

Mckinley, T.R., DeCovich, N., Erickson, J.W., Hamazaki, T., Begich, R., and Vincent, T.L. 2020. 

Review of Salmon Escapement Goals in Upper Cook Inlet, Alaska, 2019. Alaska Department of 

Fish & Game, Anchorage, AK FMS 20-02. Available from 

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/FMS20-02.pdf. 

Miller, M.G. 2024. Cook Inlet Sport Fishing Regulation Changes. Alaska Department of Fish & Game, 

Anchorage. Available from 

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/sf/EONR/index.cfm?ADFG=region.NR&NRID=3658. 

Monnahan, C.C., Ferriss, B., Shotwell, S.K., Oyafuso, Z., Levine, M., Thorson, J.T., Rogers, L., 

Sullivan, J., and Champagnat, J. 2024. Assessment of the Walleye Pollock Stock in the Gulf of 

Alaska. North Pacific Fishery Management Council, Anchorage, AK. Available from 

https://www.npfmc.org/library/safe-reports/. 

Morley, S.K., Brito, T.V., and Welling, D.T. 2018. Measures of Model Performance Based On the Log 

Accuracy Ratio. Space Weather 16(1): 69-88. doi:10.1002/2017sw001669. 

Munro, A.R. 2023. Summary of Pacific Salmon Escapement Goals in Alaska with a Review of 

Escapements from 2014 to 2022. Alaska Department of Fish & Game, Anchorage, AK FMS 23-01. 

Available from https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/FMS23-01.pdf. 

Munro, A.R. and Gatt K.P. 2025. Summary of Pacific Salmon Escapement Goals in Alaska with a 

Review of Escapements from 2016 to 2022. Alaska Department of Fish & Game, Anchorage, AK 

FMS 25-05. Available from http://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/FMS25-05.pdf. 

NOAA Fisheries. 2024. Amendment 16 to the FMP for the Salmon Fisheries Off Alaska. Available from 

https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/action/amendment-16-fmp-salmon-fisheries-alaska [accessed 

December 10 2024]. 

North Pacific Fisheries Management Council (NPFMC). 2024. Scientific and Statistical Committee 

February 5-7, 2024 Renaissance Hotel Seattle Washington. Available from 

https://meetings.npfmc.org/Meeting/Details/3030 [accessed December 16 2024]. 

Payton, I., and Rabung, S. 2023. Upper Cook inlet Stock of Concern Recommendations [Memorandum]. 

ADF&G, Anchorage, AK. Available from 

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-2024/uci/2023-

soc-memo-uci.pdf. 

Quakenbush, L.T., Suydam, R.S., Brown, A.L., Lowry, L.F., Frost, K.J., and Mahoney, B.A. 2015. Diet 

of beluga whales, Delphinapterus leucas, in Alaska from stomach contents, March-November. 

Marine Fisheries Review 77(1): 70-84. doi:10.7755/mfr.77.1.7. 

Reimer, A.M., and DeCovich, N. 2020. Susitna River Chinook Salmon Run Reconstruction and 

Escapement Goal Analysis. Alaska Department of Fish & Game, Anchorage, AK FMS 20-01. 

Available from https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/FMS20-01.pdf. 

Schuster, M., Booz, M.D., and Barclay, A.W. 2021. Chinook Salmon Sport Harvest Genetic Stock and 

Biological Compositions in Cook Inlet Salt Waters, 2014–2018. Alaska Department of Fish & 

Game FMS 21-04, Anchorage, AK. Available from 

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/FMS21-04.pdf. 

Shaul, L., and Geiger, H. 2016. Effects of Climate and Competition for Offshore Prey on Growth, 

Survival, and Reproductive Potential of Coho Salmon in Southeast Alaska. North Pacific 

Anadromous Fish Commission Bulletin 6(1): 329-347. doi:10.23849/npafcb6/329.347. 

Shedd, K.R., Foster, M.B., Dann, T.H., Hoyt, H.A., Wattum, M.L., and Habicht, C. 2016. Genetic Stock 

Composition of the Commercial Harvest of Sockeye Salmon in Kodaik Management Area, 2014-

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 130 of 154

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-2024/uci/fms24-01.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-2024/uci/fms24-01.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/FMS20-02.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/sf/EONR/index.cfm?ADFG=region.NR&NRID=3658
https://www.npfmc.org/library/safe-reports/
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/FMS23-01.pdf
file:///C:/Users/lukas.defilippo/Downloads/Available%20from%20http:/www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/FMS25-05.pdf
https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/action/amendment-16-fmp-salmon-fisheries-alaska
https://meetings.npfmc.org/Meeting/Details/3030
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-2024/uci/2023-soc-memo-uci.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-2024/uci/2023-soc-memo-uci.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/FMS20-01.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/FMS21-04.pdf


Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              106 

2016. Alaska Department of Fish & Game, Anchorage, AK. Available from 

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/FMS16-10.pdf. 

Shields, P., and Frothingham, A. 2018. Upper Cook Inlet Commercial Fisheries Annual Management 

Report, 2017. Alaska Department of Fish & Game, Anchorage, AK FMR 18-10. Available from 

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/FMR18-10.pdf. 

Stan Development Team. 2024. RStan: the R interface to Stan. R package version 2.32.6, https://mc-

stan.org/. 

Vulstek, S.C., Russell, J.R., and New, M.P. 2024. Survival of Coho, Sockeye, and Pink Salmon from 

Auke Creek, Southeast Alaska. In Ferriss, B., 2024. Ecosystem Status Report 2024: Gulf of Alaska, 

Stock Assessment and Fishery Evaluation Report. North Pacific Fishery Management Council, 

1007 West Third, Suite 400, Anchorage, Alaska 99501. 

Willette, T.M., DeCino, B., and Gove, N. 2003. Mark-Recapture Population Estimates of Coho, Pink, 

and Chum Salmon Runs to Upper Cook Inlet in 2002. Alaska Department of Fish & Game, 

Anchorage, AK RIR 2A03-20. Available from 

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-

2024/uci/rcs/RC008_UCIDA_Population_Estimates_of_Coho_Pink_and_Chum_Runs_2002.pdf.

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 131 of 154

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/FMS16-10.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/FMR18-10.pdf
https://mc-stan.org/
https://mc-stan.org/
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-2024/uci/rcs/RC008_UCIDA_Population_Estimates_of_Coho_Pink_and_Chum_Runs_2002.pdf
https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/regulations/regprocess/fisheriesboard/pdfs/2023-2024/uci/rcs/RC008_UCIDA_Population_Estimates_of_Coho_Pink_and_Chum_Runs_2002.pdf


Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              107 

 

Appendix A.  Preliminary Draft COHO Risk Table 

 

Table A 1. Aggregate coho salmon stock complex risk table assessment. 

Assessment-related Population dynamics Ecosystem Fishery-informed stock 

Level 1 - Normal 

Concern 

Level 1 – Normal 

Concern 

Level 2 – Increased 

Concern 

Level 2 – Increased 

Concern 

 

o Assessment-related 

Recommended Level 1 concern: The Aggregate coho salmon stock complex is assessed as a Tier 3 

stock using historical EEZ harvest information to derive status determination criteria. While Tier 3 

assessments are inherently data-limited, the methodology applied in this SAFE is transparent, internally 

consistent, and explicitly precautionary. The use of the largest total EEZ harvest over a generation to 

determine the postseason OFL, and the average harvest over that same period to determine the preseason 

OFL, follows SSC guidance and represents a conservative approach that is robust to uncertainty in run 

size and escapement. 

Uncertainty associated with historical EEZ harvest estimates is explicitly addressed through the 

application of precautionary buffers ranging from 0.1 to 0.9, allowing risk to be managed directly 

through harvest specifications rather than through model-based assumptions. Importantly, post-2024 

EEZ harvests are now directly observed rather than estimated, reducing uncertainty moving forward. 

Although escapement data for indicator stocks remain incomplete in recent years, this limitation does 

not compromise the assessment framework itself. Instead, it appropriately constrains the assessment to 

Tier 3 and precludes over-interpretation of overfished status. Given the conservative nature of the 

harvest control rule, the lack of retrospective patterns, and the absence of severe assessment 

performance issues, overall assessment-related risk is considered normal rather than elevated. 

 

o Population Dynamics  

Recommended Level 1 concern: The population dynamics of coho salmon in Upper Cook Inlet are 

data-limited but not demonstrably anomalous. The life history of coho salmon is well characterized, and 

there is no evidence indicating extreme deviations in recruitment, growth, or survival relative to 

historical expectations for Alaska coho salmon stocks. 

While total run size for the Aggregate coho salmon stock complex is not known, available indicators do 

not suggest abrupt or unprecedented changes in population dynamics. Indicator stock escapements in the 

Deshka and Little Susitna rivers have not consistently met lower-bound escapement goals in recent 

years; however, these goals were developed using the percentile approach, under which periodic 

underachievement is expected. Neither indicator stock is currently classified as a Stock of Concern by 

the State of Alaska, and cumulative escapement information is insufficient to support an overfished 

determination under Federal criteria. 

The absence of comprehensive escapement monitoring across Upper Cook Inlet limits inference 

regarding absolute abundance, but this limitation represents a lack of resolution, not evidence of unusual 

or extreme biological behavior. Given the absence of rapid declines, extreme recruitment failure, or 

atypical age or size structure signals, population dynamics risk is considered within the normal range for 

a data-limited stock complex.  

 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 132 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              108 

o Ecosystem   

The most recent data available suggest an ecosystem risk Level 2 Concern: “Multiple indicators 

showing consistent adverse signals a) across the same trophic level, and/or b) up or down trophic levels 

(i.e., predators and prey of stock)”. This elevated risk score is informed by warmer ocean temperatures 

in 2025 offshore in the gyre and on the shelf, and the ongoing reduced marine freshwater and marine 

survival of coho as monitored in SE Alaska. CPUE of juvenile coho salmon in Icy Strait, SE Alaska, in 

the summer continued an 8 year below-average trend (Strasburger et al., 2025 in Ferriss 2026). 

Preliminary coho ocean age-0 marine survival (percentage of ocean age-0 coho per smolt (escapement 

only) by smolt year) in Auke Bay, SE Alaska, continued a declining trend and was below average for a 

3rd year (Vulstek and Russell, 2024). Preliminary marine survival indices of 2025 coho salmon (ocean 

age-0 and age-1 harvest plus escapement) in Auke Bay continued an 11 year below-average trend 

(Vulstek and Russell, 2024). The mechanisms driving continued low coho survival may include juvenile 

growth rate and size, smolt age, and smolt ocean entry timing. Coho salmon returning in 2026 were in 

freshwater in the fall of 2023 through 2024, the nearshore marine environment in spring 2025, and the 

central Gulf of Alaska 2025-2026. The freshwater conditions for early stage coho are not represented in 

this risk table. This risk table section is informed by cited contributions to the 2024 and 2026 Gulf of 

Alaska Ecosystem Status Report (Ferriss 2024 and 2026).  

 

Environmental Processes: The GOA shelf and gyre experienced prolonged periods of above average 

temperatures (including periods in marine heatwave status) through the winter, spring, and fall, at 

surface and at depth (Lemagie and Bell, Lemagie and Callahan, Jones, and Ocean Temperature 

Synthesis, in Ferriss 2026). Previous warm years in the Gulf of Alaska (2014-2016 and 2019) have 

resulted in poor coho salmon returns. However, temperature thresholds for dynamics leading to these 

poor returns are not well known, and cannot be used to interpret the impacts of the warmer 2025 

temperatures. Ecological responses associated with warm years in the GOA were observed at lower 

(more responsive) trophic levels (e.g., increased frequency of harmful algal blooms, Farrugia et al., in 

Ferriss 2026), indicating ecological implications that might persist into 2026. Upcoming 2026 winter 

and spring surface temperatures are predicted to be cooler than average, in alignment with weak La Niña 

conditions (Lemagie and Bell, Bond and Ortiz, in Ferriss 2026), however this relationship has not been 

reliable the past 2 years and above-average surface temperatures persist through the fall 2025. The 

Pacific Decadal Oscillation and the North Pacific Gyre Oscillation continue a multi-year negative trend, 

which historically was associated with reduced survival of Alaska salmon, however these relationships 

should be questioned as they have weakened since 1988, and then became inverse from 2014-2019 

(Litzow 2020).   

 

Prey: Prey for juvenile coho salmon in the marine environment was approximately average in 2025. 

Spring zooplankton populations observed closest to Cook Inlet (Shelikof Str. and Seward Line) had 

mixed trends in biomass of small copepods, lower biomass of large copepods, and above-average 

biomass of euphausiids (Hopcroft, Kimmel et al., in Ferriss 2026). Age-0 pollock were observed at 

record low abundance in western GOA in spring 2025 (Rogers et al., in Ferriss 2026), but with good 

body condition index (Porter et al., in Ferriss 2026). Forage fish were available in aggregate, in 2024. 

Capelin biomass was approximately average to above average (Siple et al., Whelan et al., in Ferriss 

2026), and herring Sitka and Craig stocks continue to have relatively elevated populations supported by 

the strong 2016 and 2020 year classes (Siple et al., Dressel et al., in Ferriss 2026). Forage species that 

are relatively lower in abundance include Pacific sandfish, sandlance, and prickleback (Siple et al., 

Whelan et al., in Ferriss 2026). The reproductive success of piscivorous, diving and planktivorous 

seabirds (with an overlapping prey base with coho salmon), were above average in the western GOA and 

breeding timing was average to early in the spring (Drummond et al., Whelan et al., in Ferriss 2026), 

indicating adequate prey availability. The status of deepwater squids (e.g., armhook squid, Berryteuthis 

anonychus) as prey for adult coho in the winter is unknown. Summer fork-length of juvenile coho 

salmon in Icy Strait increased from below average in 2024 to near average in 2025, but their energy 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 133 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              109 

density continued a 5-year trend of below average. Length and energy density indicate approximately 

average to below-average foraging success and predation risk (Fergusson and Strasburger, in Ferriss 

2026). 

Predators and Competitors: Predation pressure from key predators in the marine environment on 

juveniles (seals) and adults (killer whales and salmon sharks) is expected to not have changed in recent 

years, although these populations are not well monitored. Competitors for marine juvenile and adult 

coho salmon include hatchery-released pink and chum salmon. Adult coho salmon had higher, but not 

extremely high, competition with pink salmon for deepwater squid in 2025, relative to 2024, due to the 

odd year increases in pink salmon returns (Whitehouse, in Ferriss 2026). Competition for returning coho 

salmon in 2026 is expected to be lower due to the lower even year returns of pink salmon (Shaul and 

Geiger, 2016). 

 

o Fishery Performance   

Recommended Level 2 concern: The CI EEZ drift gillnet fishery primarily targets sockeye salmon; 

however, coho salmon are vulnerable to harvest due to overlap in size and migration timing, and may be 

directly targeted during some portion of the fishing season. This interaction represents a consistent and 

biologically plausible pathway for fishery-related risk, particularly during periods when sockeye-

directed effort overlaps temporally and spatially with coho migration. 

Despite this vulnerability, realized EEZ coho harvests in recent years have remained well below 

preseason ABC and postseason OFL values, indicating that existing management measures and effort 

levels have effectively constrained coho removals. However, because coho salmon cannot be selectively 

avoided once encountered in gillnets, fishery performance risk remains elevated relative to stocks that 

are either directly targeted or spatially segregated. 

Additional considerations supporting increased concern include genetic evidence indicating that a 

substantial proportion of coho salmon harvested in the EEZ originate from northern Cook Inlet 

drainages, where escapement monitoring is limited, and ecological considerations related to prey 

availability for endangered Cook Inlet beluga whales. 

Given these factors, fishery-related risk is best characterized as increased concern, but not extreme, as 

there is no evidence of uncontrolled harvest, chronic overages, or fishery-driven population decline. 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 134 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              110 

Table A 2. Risk table scoring criteria. 

 

Risk table considerations/levels of concern 

 Assessment-related Population  
dynamics 

Ecosystem Fishery-
informed stock 

Level 1: Normal Typical to moderately 

increased uncertainty/minor 

unresolved issues in 

assessment. 

Stock population 

dynamics (e.g., 

recruitment, growth, 

natural mortality) are 

typical for the stock 

and recent trends are 

within normal range. 

No apparent ecosystem 

concerns related to 

biological status (e.g., 

environment, prey, 

competition, predation), or 

minor concerns with 

uncertain impacts on the 

stock. 

No apparent 

concerns related 

to biological 

status (e.g., stock 

abundance, 

distribution, fish 

condition), or 

few minor 

concerns with 

uncertain impacts 

on the stock. 

Level 2: Increased 

concern 

Substantially increased 

assessment uncertainty/ 

unresolved issues, such as 

residual patterns and 

substantial retrospective 

patterns, especially positive 

ones. 

Stock population 

dynamics (e.g., 

recruitment, growth, 

natural mortality) are 

unusual; trends 

increasing or 

decreasing faster than 

has been seen recently, 

or patterns are 

atypical. 

Indicator(s) with adverse 

signals related to biological 

status (e.g., environment, 

prey, competition, 

predation). 

Several 

indicators with 

adverse signals 

related to 

biological status 

(e.g., stock 

abundance, 

distribution, fish 

condition). 

Level 3: Extreme 

Concern 

Severe assessment problems; 

very poor fits to important 

data; high level of 

uncertainty; very strong 

retrospective patterns, 

especially positive ones. 

Stock population 

dynamics (e.g., 

recruitment, growth, 

natural mortality) are 

extremely unusual; 

very rapid changes in 

trends, or highly 

atypical patterns 

compared to previous 

patterns. 

Indicator(s) showing a 

combined frequency 

(low/high) and 

magnitude(low/high) to 

cause severe adverse 

signals a) across the same 

trophic level as the stock, 

and/or b) up or down 

trophic levels (i.e., 

predators and prey of the 

stock) that are likely to 

impact the stock. 

Multiple 

indicators with 

strong adverse 

signals related to 

biological status 

(e.g., stock 

abundance, 

distribution, fish 

condition), a) 

across different 

sectors, and/or b) 

different gear 

types. 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 135 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              111 

 

Appendix B.  Bayesian AR-1 Models  
 

This appendix provides the SSC with details on the Bayesian autoregressive Tier 1 method for 

calculating a preseason OFL and the corresponding ABC. The development of this approach stems from 

requests by the SSC to incorporate the probability of over-forecasting when calculating and selecting 

Tier 1 buffers to reduce the preseason OFL to the ABC. This Bayesian approach is similar to the 2024-

2025 Tier 1 method of calculating a preseason OFL, except that AR forecasts are fit using RStan (Stan 

Development Team 2024), a Bayesian probabilistic programming language. Note that the time-series 

model structure used is identical to that of previous assessments (i.e., AR-1). However, with the 

Bayesian approach used here, the preseason run size forecast is fit using an AR-1 model, and the 

preseason forecasted State harvest (𝐹̂𝑠𝑡𝑎𝑡𝑒) is generated based on the posterior predictive distribution of 

a Beta distribution conditioned on historical state harvest rates. This change reflects the lack of temporal 

structure in historical state harvest, and uncertainty in such values which can be propagated into 

preseason forecasts of OFL. In addition to producing OFLPRE to ABC buffers based on a 25-year 

retrospective assessment of over-forecasting errors (similar to the approached used in previous 

assessments, but using a 25-year instead of 10-year retrospective window), a range of buffers based on a 

given target probability (1-49%) that the true OFL may be below a given ABC value is also generated 

from the posterior distribution of OFLPRE. Posterior distributions of OFLPRE (𝑝(𝑂𝐹𝐿̂𝑦)) are constructed 

using the posterior distributions of run size forecasts (𝑝(𝑅̂𝑦)) and predicted State harvest rates 

(𝑝(𝐹̂𝑠𝑡𝑎𝑡𝑒,𝑦)) in year 𝑦, as:  

𝑝(𝑂𝐹𝐿̂𝑦) = 𝑝(𝑅̂𝑦) − 𝐺𝑦 − [𝑝(𝐹̂𝑠𝑡𝑎𝑡𝑒,𝑦) ∗ 𝑝(𝑅̂𝑦)] 

resulting in a distribution of OFLPRE values and their associated relative probabilities of occurring given 

the uncertainty associated with the aforementioned forecasts. 

o Preseason run size forecast 

An AR-1 model was fit to the natural log of historic total run sizes as,  

𝑙𝑛 (𝑅̂𝑡) = 𝛼 + 𝛽𝑙𝑛 (𝑅𝑡−1) 

𝑙𝑛 𝑙𝑛 (𝑅𝑡) ~𝑛𝑜𝑟𝑚𝑎𝑙(𝑅̂𝑦, 𝜎) 

Where 𝑅𝑡 is the total run size in year t, 𝑅̂𝑡 is the predicted run size, 𝛼 is the intercept, 𝛽 is the slope, and 

𝜎 is the log-normal standard error. Vague priors were specified as: 

𝛼~𝑛𝑜𝑟𝑚𝑎𝑙(0,1010) 

𝛽~(0, 1010) 

𝜎~𝑛𝑜𝑟𝑚𝑎𝑙(0,5)[0, ∞). 

 

o Preseason state harvest (𝑭𝒔𝒕𝒂𝒕𝒆) forecast 

 Data on historical (2015-2015) State-waters harvest rates were assumed to follow a Beta distributed 

likelihood, with shape parameters 𝑎 and 𝑏: 

 

𝐹𝑠𝑡𝑎𝑡𝑒~𝐵𝑒𝑡𝑎(𝑎, 𝑏) 

 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 136 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              112 

The predicted state harvest rate for the upcoming year (𝐹̂𝑠𝑡𝑎𝑡𝑒,𝑦) is then generated via the 

posterior predictive distribution of the estimated Beta distribution, thereby propagating 
uncertainty in the estimated distribution of historical state harvest rates.  

 

o OFL to ABC buffers 

The primary method for determining the OFL to ABC buffers relies, as in previous assessments, on 

retrospective estimates of positive forecast errors based on median symmetric accuracy (Morley et al., 

2018). For the 2026 SAFE, retrospective estimates of forecast error are estimated over a 25-year (as 

opposed to 10-years used previously) historical period. In addition, for the 2026 SAFE, we also present 

an alternative method for buffer determination based on the probability of a given ABC value exceeding 

the true OFL using the estimated posterior distribution of preseason OFL. For instance, in the scenario 

where ABC is equal to the median (i.e., point estimate) of the posterior distribution of OFLPRE, one 

would expect a 50% probability that the true OFL could be below that ABC value. Thus, using a range 

of percentile values of the posterior distribution of preseason OFL to determine ABC allows selection of 

ABC values (and associated buffers) associated with a given probability that the true OFL would be 

below the ABC. For instance, a buffer that results in an ABC value representing the 35th percentile of 

the posterior distribution of OFLpre would be expected to result in a 35% chance of the true OFL being 

below this value. We considered a range of buffers representing risk levels ranging from 1-49%. These 

values (1) provide a means of interpreting the retrospective buffer in terms of risk associated with 

exceeding the OFL as has been requested by the SSC in 2024 and 2025, and (2) provides a potential 

alternative option for the SSC/NPFMC to consider in setting buffers based on a target risk tolerance of 

exceeding the OFL at a given ABC value in this or future assessment cycles. Tables of ABC values (and 

associated buffers) based on a given target probability of exceeding the true OFL are presented in Tables 

B1 and B2 for Kenai sockeye and Kasilof sockeye respectively 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 137 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              113 

Table B 1. Buffers and associated ABC values associated with a given target probability of the true OFL 

being below a given ABC value for Kenai sockeye salmon. 

 

p (ABC>true OFL) (p*) buffer ABC 

0.1 0.928 92,779 

0.11 0.898 131,648 

0.12 0.866 171,947 

0.13 0.837 209,157 

0.14 0.811 242,540 

0.15 0.784 276,895 

0.16 0.76 308,414 

0.17 0.735 339,998 

0.18 0.712 369,560 

0.19 0.691 397,016 

0.2 0.667 427,969 

0.21 0.643 458,600 

0.22 0.621 486,945 

0.23 0.6 513,718 

0.24 0.577 543,809 

0.25 0.555 571,445 

0.26 0.532 600,730 

0.27 0.512 627,327 

0.28 0.492 652,120 

0.29 0.471 680,028 

0.3 0.448 709,636 

0.31 0.426 737,883 

0.32 0.405 763,990 

0.33 0.383 792,065 

0.34 0.363 818,320 

0.35 0.34 848,100 

0.36 0.317 877,550 

0.37 0.296 904,156 

0.38 0.274 932,396 

0.39 0.252 961,008 

0.4 0.231 987,780 

0.41 0.208 1,017,853 

0.42 0.186 1,045,726 

0.43 0.166 1,071,198 

0.44 0.142 1,102,051 

0.45 0.118 1,133,338 

0.46 0.095 1,162,537 

0.47 0.073 1,190,257 

0.48 0.049 1,221,372 

0.49 0.024 1,253,162 

 

  

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 138 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              114 

Table B 2. Buffers and associated ABC values associated with a given target probability of the true OFL 

being below a given ABC value for Kasilof sockeye salmon. 

 

p (ABC>true OFL) (p*) buffer ABC 

0.1 0.542 282,483 

0.11 0.522 295,072 

0.12 0.505 305,569 

0.13 0.487 316,359 

0.14 0.471 326,352 

0.15 0.454 337,010 

0.16 0.437 347,298 

0.17 0.422 356,903 

0.18 0.408 365,522 

0.19 0.394 373,693 

0.2 0.379 382,866 

0.21 0.365 391,614 

0.22 0.351 400,362 

0.23 0.337 409,138 

0.24 0.325 416,620 

0.25 0.313 423,773 

0.26 0.3 431,961 

0.27 0.288 439,243 

0.28 0.275 447,235 

0.29 0.263 454,477 

0.3 0.252 461,279 

0.31 0.24 468,707 

0.32 0.227 477,119 

0.33 0.213 485,311 

0.34 0.2 493,353 

0.35 0.188 500,802 

0.36 0.176 508,212 

0.37 0.164 515,658 

0.38 0.152 523,174 

0.39 0.139 531,189 

0.4 0.128 538,284 

0.41 0.115 546,164 

0.42 0.102 554,108 

0.43 0.089 562,284 

0.44 0.076 570,121 

0.45 0.064 577,740 

0.46 0.05 586,202 

0.47 0.038 593,812 

0.48 0.024 602,229 

0.49 0.012 609,600 

 

 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 139 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              115 

 

Appendix C. Equations from the Salmon FMP 

o Tier 1: Salmon stocks with escapement goals and stock-specific harvest estimates 

Each year, salmon stocks that have escapement goals and stock-specific harvest and escapement estimates would 

be considered for placement in Tier 1.  

The assessment authors and SSC would identify the Tier 1 stocks each year during the annual harvest 

specification process. 

For the Tier 1 stocks, the following calculations would be conducted each year to determine the status of the 

managed salmon stocks and set the appropriate biological reference points:  

▪ Overfishing 

Overfishing occurs whenever a stock or stock complex is subjected to a level of fishing mortality or total catch 

that jeopardizes the capacity of a stock or stock complex to produce MSY on a continuing basis. The realized 

fishing mortality rate in the EEZ for a stock (FEEZ) is expressed as an exploitation rate (harvest/total run size), 

which is calculated for the stock over one generation (the average length of time between when a salmon egg is 

fertilized and when it spawns as an adult) in years (T), weighted as informed by available data, where t = run 

year, R = annual run size of a stock, and CEEZ = annual EEZ catch of a stock in year t: 

(1)  𝐹𝐸𝐸𝑍,𝑡 =
∑ 𝐶𝐸𝐸𝑍,𝑖

𝑡
𝑖=𝑡−𝑇+1

∑ 𝑅𝑖
𝑡
𝑖=𝑡−𝑇+1

 

The level of fishing mortality in the EEZ above which overfishing occurs (MFMT) for a stock is based on an 

exploitation rate assessed over one generation and is defined as:  

(2)  𝑀𝐹𝑀𝑇𝑡 =
∑ 𝑌𝐸𝐸𝑍,𝑖

𝑡
𝑖=𝑡−𝑇+1

∑ 𝑅𝑖
𝑡
𝑖=𝑡−𝑇+1

; where 

(3)  𝑌𝐸𝐸𝑍,𝑖 = 𝑚𝑎𝑥(0, 𝑅𝑡 − 𝐺𝑡 − 𝐶𝑠𝑡𝑎𝑡𝑒,𝑡) 

and Cstate,t is the harvest that occurred in state waters in year t and YEEZ is the potential yield in the EEZ and G = 

escapement goal or target for a stock. The lower bound of the established escapement goal range is the default 

used in this tier system; however, NMFS, or the SSC may recommend a different value during the annual stock 

status determination process based on the best scientific information available (e.g., the point estimate of the 

spawners necessary to result in maximum sustainable yield in future years, SMSY-POINT). NMFS or the SSC may 

also recommend additional buffers to account for uncertainty in harvests and escapement estimates. Due to 

uncertainty inherent to management, the realized yields are unlikely to be equal to the potential yields.  

Should FEEZ exceed the MFMT in any year, it will be determined that a stock is subject to overfishing; this 

definition corresponds to the FOFL control rule. 

MFMT for a stock would be assessed postseason each year with the most current T years of data. 

▪ Overfished 

Should a stock’s realized spawning escapements summed across a generation fall below the MSST in any year, 

the stock would be declared overfished. The MSST is defined as one half of the sum of the stock’s spawning 

escapement goal summed across a generation: 

(4) 𝑀𝑆𝑆𝑇𝑡 =  
∑ 𝐺𝑖

𝑡
𝑖=𝑡−𝑇+1

2
, evaluated by comparing  ∑ 𝑆𝑖

𝑡
𝑖=𝑡−𝑇+1   with MSST, where S is spawning escapement in 

year i. 

MSST for a stock would be assessed postseason each year with the most current T years of data used to estimate 

MSST and S. NMFS or the SSC may recommend buffers to account for uncertainty in escapement estimates or 

spawning escapement goals. 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 140 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              116 

▪ Overfishing Limit (OFL), Acceptable Biological Catch (ABC), and Annual Catch Limit (ACL) 

Specification for OFL, ABC, and ACL will occur as follows:  

The preseason estimates of MFMT would be calculated from the sum of potential yield in the EEZ from the 

previous T-1 years and the preseason estimate of potential yield in the EEZ based on the preseason forecast of run 

size, projected harvest in other fisheries, and the escapement goal or target in a given year, Gt using the following 

equation: 

(5)  𝑀𝐹𝑀𝑇𝑝𝑟𝑒,𝑡 =
∑ 𝑌𝐸𝐸𝑍,𝑖+𝑌̂𝐸𝐸𝑍,𝑡

𝑡−1
𝑖=𝑡−𝑇+1

∑ 𝑅𝑖+𝑅̂,𝑡
𝑡−1
𝑖=𝑡−𝑇+1

 

where 𝑌̂𝐸𝐸𝑍,𝑡 is the preseason estimate of potential yield in the EEZ for year t used to establish annual harvest 

specifications and is calculated based on: 

(6) 𝑌̂𝐸𝐸𝑍,𝑡 = 𝑚𝑎𝑥(0, 𝑅̂𝑡 − 𝐺𝑡 − (𝐹̂𝑠𝑡𝑎𝑡𝑒,𝑡 ∗ 𝑅̂𝑡)), where 𝑅̂𝑡 is the predicted run size in year t based on a vetted 

preseason forecast method and  𝐹̂𝑠𝑡𝑎𝑡𝑒,𝑡 is the estimated harvest rate in State waters over the average generation 

time (T) for the species and stock, or, as recommended by the SSC, an estimated or modeled harvest rate. 

The preseason estimates of FEEZ (𝐹̂𝐸𝐸𝑍) is the is calculated from the sum of actual harvests in the EEZ from the 

previous T-1 years and the preseason estimate of potential yield in the EEZ based on the preseason forecast of 

run size: 

(7) 𝐹̂𝐸𝐸𝑍,𝑝𝑟𝑒,𝑡 =
∑ 𝐶𝐸𝐸𝑍,𝑖+𝑌̂𝐸𝐸𝑍,𝑡

𝑡−1
𝑖=𝑡−𝑇+1

∑ 𝑅𝑖+𝑅̂,𝑡
𝑡−1
𝑖=𝑡−𝑇+1

 

The preseason OFL (OFLPRE) would be equivalent to the estimate of potential yield for a stock as described in 

Equation 6.  

The ABC control rule:  ABC must be less than or equal to OFL. The SSC may recommend reducing ABC from 

OFL to account for scientific uncertainty, including uncertainty associated with the assessment of spawning 

escapement goals, forecasts, harvests, and other sources of uncertainty. 

The ACL will be established equal to or less than the ABC.  

o Tier 2: Salmon stocks managed as a complex 

Tier 2 stocks are salmon stocks managed as a complex, with specific salmon stocks designated as indicator 

stocks. An indicator stock is a stock for which sufficient data exists to allow for the development of measurable 

and objective SDC and can be used as a proxy to manage and evaluate data poor stocks within the stock 

complex. Further, an indicator stock is thought to be representative of the typical vulnerabilities of stocks within 

the stock complex. The assessment authors and SSC would identify the Tier 2 stocks each year during the annual 

harvest specification process. In general, management of Tier 2 stocks is based on aggregate abundance as 

previously described. Information on the individual indicator stock is used to inform management actions for the 

stock complex. 

For the Tier 2 stocks, the following calculations would be conducted each year to determine the status of the 

salmon stocks and set the appropriate biological reference points.  

▪ Overfishing 

The Tier 1 formulas for F and MFMT would be used for Tier 2 indicator stocks. Whenever estimates of F or 

MFMT, as defined under Tier 1, are unavailable for each stock in a stock complex managed under this FMP, a 

list of indicator salmon stocks for a given stock complex will be established.  

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 141 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              117 

Using the same definitions and criteria described under Tier 1, a determination that one or more indicator salmon 

stocks is subject to overfishing will constitute a determination that the respective stock complex is subject to 

overfishing, except as provided in the paragraph below. 

Overfishing of one or more stocks in a stock complex may be permitted, and may not result in a determination 

that the entire stock complex is subject to overfishing, under the following conditions established under the 

National Standard 1 guidelines (50 CFR §600.310(l)):  
a) it is demonstrated by analysis that such action will result in long-term net benefits to the Nation; 

b) it is demonstrated by analysis that mitigating measures have been considered and that a similar level of long-

term net benefits cannot be achieved by modifying fleet behavior, gear selection/configuration, or other 

technical characteristics in a manner such that no overfishing would occur; and 

c) the resulting rate or level of fishing mortality will not cause any stock or stock complex to fall below its MSST 

more than 50% of the time in the long term. 

▪ Overfished 

The MSST for a stock complex is equal to one-half the sum of the escapement goals (G) for the indicator 

salmon stocks from the most recent T years. 

Should a stock complex’s cumulative escapements for a generation fall below the MSST in any year, it will be 

determined that the stock complex is overfished. 

Specification for OFL, ABC, and ACL will occur as follows: 

The OFL, ACL, and ABC will be set for the indicator stock using the Tier 1 methodology. 

o Tier 3: Salmon stocks with no reliable estimates of escapement 

Tier 3 salmon stocks or stock complexes have no reliable estimates of escapement or total run size, therefore 

OFL and ABC are based on catch history. Tier 3 stocks may have escapement goals, but, relative to Tier 2 

stocks, the goals and associated inseason assessment of escapement represent a coarse and/or unknown index of 

abundance rather than a true number of fish. The assessment author and SSC would identify the Tier 3 stocks 

each year during the annual harvest specification process.  

For Tier 3 stocks, the following calculations would be conducted each year to determine the status of the salmon 

stocks and set the appropriate biological reference points.  

▪ Overfishing  

For Tier 3 stocks or stock complexes, should the sum of harvest for the most recent generation (T years) be 

greater than the OFL, then it will be determined that the stock is subject to overfishing. Overfishing for Tier 3 

stocks is assessed postseason after stock-specific harvest data become available; NMFS or the SSC may 

recommend additional buffers to account for uncertainty of estimates. 

▪ Overfished 

For Tier 3 stocks or stock complexes with escapement goals for suitable indicator stock(s), MSST is calculated 

the same as for Tier 1 stocks. Should a stock or stock complex’s cumulative escapements for a generation fall 

below the MSST in any year, it will be determined that the stock complex is overfished. When calculating 

MSST and comparing spawning escapements summed across the most recent generation, NMFS or the SSC 

may recommend buffers to account for uncertainty in estimates. 

For Tier 3 stocks or stock complexes without escapement goals, it is not possible to calculate MSST. 

Specification for OFL, ABC, and ACL will occur as follows:  

OFL = the largest cumulative annual EEZ catch summed across a generation time (T years) in the timeseries 

under consideration (rolling sum). Postseason, this value of OFL will be the basis for assessing if overfishing of 

the stock has occurred. 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 142 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              118 

The preseason OFL (OFLPRE) is the basis for defining harvest specifications and is the single season 

manifestation of the OFL. Unless another value is recommended by the SSC, OFLPRE is equal to the largest 

average annual catch across a generation in the timeseries under consideration. 

ABC = the OFLPRE reduced by a buffer to account for uncertainty. As recommended by the SSC, the ABC could 

be set higher or lower by applying a more liberal or conservative buffer to the OFL to account for less or greater 

uncertainty. Potential sources of uncertainty could include but are not limited to:  uncertainty associated with the 

achievement of escapement targets; uncertainty associated with whether the OFL, ABC, or ACL will be 

achieved or exceeded; uncertainty associated with the level of harvest in fisheries outside the EEZ; uncertainty 

associated with interannual run size; uncertainty associated with run timing; uncertainty associated with 

inseason metrics of run size or timing; other sources of uncertainty identified during the annual stock assessment 

process. ABC would be set each year during the annual stock status determination process based on the best 

available information. 

 

The ACL is equal to or less than ABC.  

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 143 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              119 

Appendix D. SSC Comments from February 2025 Council Meeting  

 

o General Comments 

The SSC highlights its appreciation for the extensive efforts of the NMFS Cook Inlet Salmon SAFE Team 

(SAFE team) in drafting the 2025 Cook Inlet EEZ Salmon SAFE report and responding to the SSC 

recommendations from February 2024. The SSC reiterates the challenge of providing a basis for status 

determination and harvest specifications for this salmon fishery that requires adapting the escapement-based 

management policy used by the State of Alaska to comply with the Magnuson Stevens Act (MSA) framework. As 

noted last year, this is an iterative process and there are opportunities to benefit from lessons learned in MSA 

salmon management on the West coast by the Pacific Fishery Management Council (PFMC). 

Reviewing the SAFE methodology for the first time at the same meeting where harvest specifications are 

set - without the benefit of independent review - poses a significant challenge. Last year, the SSC highlighted the 

value of long-format Plan Team meetings for reviewing groundfish and crab stock assessments. These meetings 

serve as a critical forum for in-depth discussions, allowing for substantive progress in improving processes and 

models that support management decisions, as well as reviewing proposed methodological changes prior to harvest 

specifications. The SSC reiterates its recommendation from last year that a workshop, or series of workshops, 

focused on further developing Cook Inlet Salmon harvest specification and status determination methods in the 

context of continued in-season EEZ management be held in the coming year. This workshop could include 

members of the SAFE team, ADF&G, SSC, and experts from the PFMC where issues related to federal 

management of salmon fisheries have been extensively considered. The SSC also recommends evaluating the 

establishment of a Plan Team for federally managed salmon stocks in the Cook Inlet EEZ, recognizing that costs, 

timing of data availability, and determining membership of a plan team need to be considered carefully. 

With regards to the annual assessment and specifications cycle, the SAFE team suggested providing an 

early draft of the SAFE by December for review by the SSC. The SSC discussed the benefits of previewing newly 

proposed analyses and methods in response to requests and recommendations from the previous harvest 

specifications cycle, whether originating from the SSC, workshops or a plan team. The timing of presenting an 

early preview would be dependent on how soon the SAFE team could prepare a report and when the SSC could 

accommodate it in their schedule. This would allow for the SSC to provide feedback and recommendations prior to 

the meeting at which specifications are set. 

The SSC also discussed the need for continued research and data collection, especially genetics and age-

sex-length data of the salmon harvested in the EEZ fishery. Priorities include genetic sampling of sockeye to 

identify the stock structure and timing of the different sockeye runs in the EEZ fishery, and Chinook sampling to 

assess the importance of Kenai large late run Chinook in EEZ fishery, and to evaluate the prevalence of non-Cook 

Inlet Chinook in the fishery. Given the number of Chinook salmon reported to be harvested, it would be reasonable 

to obtain a census sample from the fishery. The SSC acknowledges the value of in-season information that could be 

provided by a test fishery, as noted during public testimony. A test fishery could help characterize the timing, 

magnitude, and distribution of returning salmon, as well as support stock composition estimates if in-season genetic 

stock composition analysis are feasible. 

The SSC reiterates its February 2024 report comment that as the Cook Inlet EEZ management process 

matures and consistent with National Standard (NS) 2, the SSC looks forward to the SAFE incorporating a 

summary of scientific information on the most recent social and economic condition of the relevant fishing 

interests, fishing communities, and the fish processing industries. The SSC recognizes the capacity challenges 

facing the analysts in the absence of a plan team. However, it is important in the context of NS8 to capture the 

differential distribution of impacts associated with the change to federal management in the early years, especially 

if there are substantial changes in patterns of engagement or dependency for fishing communities, fishery sectors, 

and/or fishery support sectors. It is difficult in general to capture information on correlation or causation of changes 

seen in retrospect, especially with respect to those who exit the fishery. Further, it is important to capture changes in 

participation across commercial, sport, personal use, and subsistence fisheries, as well as the potential for new or 

returning entrants, including those represented in evolving Tribal fishery initiatives. 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 144 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              120 

The drainage maps provided at the beginning of each SAFE chapter for the aggregate salmon stock 

complexes do not align with the Federal definition of these Upper Cook Inlet aggregates provided below each map. 

The SSC requests that the authors correct these maps for the final SAFE. 

The SSC appreciates the SAFE team providing the GitHub repository with data used for the assessment and 

requests that this practice continue for future salmon SAFEs. 

The SSC reviewed status determination criteria for 2024. Aggregate salmon stock complexes were not 

apparently subject to overfishing, pending final harvest data. Aggregate salmon stock complexes, with the 

exception of aggregate chum and pink stocks, were not apparently overfished, pending final harvest and 

escapement data. For aggregate chum and pink stocks, an overfished status determination is not possible. 

 

o Tier 1 General Topics 

▪ SMSY vs Lower Bound of the State’s Scientifically-based Escapement Goals 

The Salmon fishery management plan (FMP) specifies the lower bound of the escapement goal range as the 

default for calculating status determination criteria (SDC) and harvest specifications, unless the SSC recommends 

otherwise. In its 2024 review of the first Cook Inlet EEZ SAFE, the SSC recommended that the SMSY should be 

used for Tier 1 stocks to provide sufficient precaution for setting the preseason OFL and SDCs and to be consistent 

with the interpretation of this reference point. For the 2025 preliminary Cook Inlet EEZ SAFE, the SAFE team 

recommended using the lower bound of the State’s escapement goal range for Tier 1 stocks with the rationale that 

this represents the best scientific information available for maximizing yield and preventing overfishing over the 

long term, in fulfillment of NS1 Guidelines. The SAFE team provided a reasonable rationale for considering using 

the lower bound of the escapement goal. The SSC appreciates the flexibility in determining the value used to 

estimate the productive capacity of the stock. For example, in the East Area, the MSST for coho uses the lower 

bound of the escapement goal range, but Chinook uses the mid-point. Both public testimony and the authors noted 

the PFMC Salmon FMP includes several examples of reference points that are equal to the lower bound of MSY 

escapement ranges or other lower bound escapement targets. Part of the challenge with determining the correct 

approach is the unique nature of the harvest specifications for the Cook Inlet EEZ salmon fishery, including the 

challenge of using escapement-based management with federal reference point requirements under the MSA. For 

the 2025 specifications, the SSC recommends that OFL and MFMT used in SDC calculations for Tier 1 stocks be 

based on the best available estimate for the spawning biomass that produces maximum sustainable yield over the 

long-term (SMSY). Likewise, the SSC recommends that an escapement target equal to SMSY also be used in 

defining the preseason OFL and ABC specifications for the 2025 season. The SSC also recommends further 

consideration of this issue, such as by the proposed workshop(s) discussed under General Comments. The SSC 

recommends this issue be considered on a stock-by-stock basis based on data availability. 

 

▪ MSST scaling 

In 2024, the SSC recommended using SMSY as the escapement target for calculating MSST for Tier 1 

stocks for consistency with how the MSST is defined in the crab and groundfish FMPs. Under this approach, the 

MSST is 0.5*SMSY (summed over a generation) or half of the spawning abundance expected to produce MSY 

over the long term. The SAFE team requested input from the SSC on the potential for changing the scalar used to 

adjust the escapement target in the calculation of MSST to values other than 0.5. The authors noted that this 

approach is used for select West coast salmon stocks. The SAFE team suggested that the SSC might consider 

scaling factors from 0.5 to 0.75 and provided examples using 0.6 of the lower bound of the escapement goal as 

footnotes in Tables 7 and 12 of the preliminary SAFE report. The SSC acknowledges flexibility in the MSST 

definition but recommends continuing to use 0.5*SMSY (summed over a generation) for the 2025 specifications. 

The SSC also recommends that the SAFE team provide a more detailed rationale for selecting appropriate scalars 

for different stocks as necessary. 

 

▪ SDC and Harvest Specifications Methods/Buffer Calculations 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 145 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              121 

The SAFE team presented three options to calculate components of the preseason OFL for the Tier 1 

stocks: 

● Using the State-produced preseason forecast of run size 

Autoregressive modeling of historical total run size estimates to project next year’s run size as well as the harvest 

rate in state waters (Fstate). This was the same method used in 2024 and included calculation of buffers for 

reducing OFL to ABC based on the probability of over forecasting. 

● A new Bayesian approach, which is similar to the autoregressive model framework currently used, except that the 

preseason run size forecast is fit using an AR1 model and the state harvest model fixed to the best models for the 

current year. As with the current method, buffers for reducing OFL to ABC are based on the magnitude of positive 

errors in preseason OFL estimates. 

The SSC supports the SAFE team’s recommendation to use autoregressive models for both Tier 1 stocks (Kenai 

River late run sockeye and Kasilof River sockeye) to forecast run size and the state waters harvest rates component 

of the preseason OFL. Details associated with these models are provided for each stock. The SSC notes that the 

State-produced preseason forecast sibling models had lower forecast error but are currently unavailable due to the 

timing of when those estimates are produced relative to when they are needed for harvest specifications. The SAFE 

team also provided a Bayesian approach that retrospectively evaluated the probability that an ABC exceeded the 

post-season OFL under different buffers on the preseason OFL. The SSC appreciates the SAFE team’s work on this 

analysis, and supports further efforts to develop this model, including consideration of a longer time series where 

available. The SSC further recommends the SAFE team consider whether the magnitude of the buffer could be 

scaled relative to the cumulative probability of a preseason OFL<0 under the posterior distribution for this quantity, 

rather than the proportion of years in which the ABC was over forecasted. 

 

o Kenai River Sockeye 

The SAFE team recommended designating Kenai River late-run sockeye as a Tier 1 stock. An 

autoregressive model approach was used to predict the 2025 run size (AR1) and state waters harvest (AR model - 

zero mean white noise) based on historical data, similar to the 2024 methods. Based on these results, the preseason 

OFL was determined. Buffers for reducing the preseason OFL to the ABC were based on the retrospective median 

symmetric accuracy of preseason OFL relative to post-season OFL, for those years where the OFL was over-

predicted between 2015 and 2024. Harvest specifications based on using SMSY for the stock and the lower bound 

of the escapement goal were both presented. The SSC concurs with the SAFE team’s recommendation of a Tier 1 

designation for Kenai River late run sockeye in 2025. The SSC accepts the methods used by the SAFE team to 

forecast the 2025 run size estimate and the estimated harvest rate in state waters given the numerous constraints and 

data availability at this time. The SSC discussed the appropriate buffer for setting the ABC below the preseason 

OFL. The buffer recommended in the preliminary SAFE using SMSY as a basis for calculating the preseason OFL 

based on the retrospective accuracy of preseason OFLs was considered conservative by the SSC. The SSC 

recommends setting an ABC buffer of 30% (rounded from the buffer calculated using the lower bound of the 

escapement goal). This recommendation recognizes that the SMSY estimate for this stock is near the upper end of 

the MSY escapement goal range based on the stock-recruit relationships presented in the SAFE. Additionally, there 

are no conservation concerns for this stock. 

Finally, the SSC noted a number of minor editorial comments that will be communicated directly to the 

SAFE team for the final 2025 SAFE, including correcting the pre-2020 estimates of SMSY and the lower bound of 

the escapement goal in Table 10. The SSC recommends that the SAFE team provide additional detail (e.g., a table) 

in the assessment that lists components of the harvest (commercial, sport, personal use, subsistence) and 

escapement information such that the reader can more easily identify what are final versus preliminary estimates. In 

addition, the SAFE team should clearly state whether the status determination recommendations (i.e., overfishing 

and overfished status) include preliminary information. 

 

o Kasilof River Sockeye 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 146 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              122 

The SAFE team recommended designating Kasilof River sockeye a Tier 1 stock. An Autoregressive model 

approach was used to predict the 2025 run size (AR1) and State waters harvest (autoregressive moving average 

model) based on historical data, similar to the methods used in 2024. Based on these results, the preseason OFL was 

determined. Buffers for setting an appropriate ABC below the preseason OFL based on the retrospective accuracy 

of preseason relative to post-season OFL estimates were proposed similar to Kenai River late-run sockeye salmon. 

Harvest specifications based on using either SMSY or the lower bound of the escapement goal were both presented. 

The SSC concurs with the SAFE team’s recommendation of a Tier 1 designation for Kasilof River sockeye in 2025. 

The SSC accepts the methods used by the SAFE team to forecast the 2025 run size estimate and the estimated 

harvest rate in State waters, given the numerous constraints and data availability at this time. The buffer 

recommended in the preliminary SAFE using SMSY as a basis for calculating the preseason OFL based on the 

retrospective accuracy of preseason OFL estimates was considered conservative by the SSC. The SSC recommends 

setting an ABC buffer of 57% (the buffer based on the same analysis, but using the lower bound of the escapement 

goal). 

Finally, the SSC noted several minor editorial comments that will be communicated directly to the SAFE 

team for the final SAFE, including correcting the pre-2020 estimates of SMSY in Table 15. Similar to Kenai River 

late-run sockeye, the SSC suggests that the authors provide additional detail for the components of the State harvest 

(commercial, sport, personal use, subsistence) and clearly distinguish final estimates from preliminary estimates. 

 

o Tier 3 Stocks 

The SAFE team recommended that aggregate “other” sockeye salmon, aggregate Chinook salmon, 

aggregate coho salmon, aggregate chum salmon, and the aggregate pink salmon stock complexes be specified as 

Tier 3 stocks, where harvest specifications are based on historical catch statistics. The SSC supports the designation 

of these stock complexes as Tier 3. 

In its February 2024 minutes, the SSC made several recommendations regarding the Tier 3 aggregate 

stocks for the 2025 SAFE. The OFLs should be based on limiting harvest in the current year, rather than the multi-

year approach that was used in 2024. The SSC recommended that ABC buffers be expressed as a percent reduction 

from OFL, consistent with groundfish and crab. Finally, the SSC suggested that a starting point might be the 25% 

default buffer used for Tier 6 average-catch stocks in the groundfish FMPs, though alternatives should be 

considered on a stock-by-stock basis. 

In response, the SAFE team developed a new Tier 3 approach in which the preseason OFL is based on the 

maximum average catch over a generation during the period 1999-2024. The maximum average over a generation 

tends to be 40-60% higher than the overall average but will always be lower than the maximum catch over the 

equivalent period. Overfishing is determined by comparing the cumulative catch over the previous generation to the 

maximum cumulative catch. The SSC supports this more transparent approach and considers it a substantial 

improvement over last year. However, it should be acknowledged that this will be less precautionary than the 

groundfish Tier 6 average-catch approach. Although not articulated in the SAFE, a potential rationale is that for 

most salmon stocks, a single brood year will return to spawn over several years, so that not all of the stock is 

exposed to harvest in any single year. This may result in additional resilience to harvest compared to groundfish, 

where all of the exploitable stock is exposed to harvest. 

The SAFE team recommended ABC buffers for each Tier 3 stock, starting with a 15% default ABC buffer. 

Recommended buffers were 15% for other sockeye, 30% for Chinook, 90% for coho, 20% for chum, and 10% for 

pinks. In general, proposed departures from the default 15% buffer were well justified. The SSC raised concerns 

about the recommended buffer for aggregate coho as noted below, but otherwise concurs with the recommended 

SAFE team buffers for this year. 

Overall, the SSC is concerned that a 15% default buffer does not adequately recognize the severe 

limitations of basing harvest specifications on historical catch statistics. These specifications do not respond to 

changes in the stock abundance due to varying environment conditions, and their relationship to sustainable yield is 

highly uncertain. In some cases, there is no adequate basis for determining overfished status. These limitations are 

the same as for Tier 6 groundfish, implying that the default 25% buffer to obtain the ABC for these stocks would be 

applicable to Tier 3 salmon stocks to maintain a consistent approach to uncertainty across FMPs. The SSC therefore 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 147 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              123 

requests the SAFE team adopt a default 25% buffer for developing harvest recommendations next year. Departures 

from the 25% buffer (both higher and lower) should be justified based on specific issues for each aggregate stock 

complex such as data availability and quality. 

The SSC agrees with the SAFE team’s concern with low coho abundance. Harvest in the EEZ and 

escapement counts from coho index stocks are at all-time lows. Complete weir counts are not available for either 

coho indicator stock in the last three years. The SAFE team-recommended buffer of 90% is very large and the 

resulting ABC would have led to an early fishery closure in 24 of the last 26 years. Instead, the SSC recommends a 

large, but less extreme buffer of 75% for aggregate coho. This magnitude is comparable to the largest buffer used 

for BSAI crab stocks of 75% for West Aleutian Islands red king crab, which is at very low abundance and has been 

closed to directed fishing since 2003. 

The SAFE team evaluated aggregate “other” sockeye salmon, aggregate Chinook salmon, aggregate coho 

salmon, aggregate chum salmon and aggregate pink salmon stock complexes with respect to overfishing by 

comparing cumulative catch over the previous generation to the maximum cumulative catch. Due to limited 

availability of indicator stock information, only aggregate “other” sockeye, aggregate Chinook, and aggregate coho 

could be evaluated for overfished status. While none of these stocks were below the MSST, escapement data to 

compare to the respective MSST are very limited for aggregate coho. In addition, Kenai large late run Chinook may 

not be a suitable indicator stock since it is likely not well represented in the EEZ salmon fishery. 

The SAFE team requested input from the SSC on how to treat overfished determinations with missing or 

incomplete weir data. The SSC recommends that the calculation of the cumulative escapement goal omit the 

indicator goal in years when the index is missing or incomplete. For example, when a weir count is missing, the 

escapement goal for that site in that year is not counted towards the cumulative escapement target over a 

generation. 

The 2025 SAFE document highlighted some sources of uncertainty that were not considered in the 

assessment, including the unconfirmed historical estimates of salmon harvests in the Cook Inlet EEZ prior to 2024. 

However, for Tier 3 stocks, these estimates are the basis for the 2024 and 2025 SDC and harvest specifications 

recommendations. The SSC recommends that, to the extent possible, the SAFE team explore the uncertainty in the 

historical estimates of salmon harvests in the Cook Inlet EEZ prior to 2024 for all the Tier 3 stock complexes in 

future assessments. 

The SSC appreciates the draft risk table for the aggregate coho salmon complex. While the risk table served 

to highlight the serious concerns regarding the status of Cook Inlet coho, the scoring was elevated compared to how 

the risk table has been used for groundfish. Attributes that are typical of Tier 3 stocks should not result in an 

elevated risk score as they are reflected in the default buffer. The SSC looks forward to further refinement of risk 

tables for the aggregate salmon stocks in the Cook Inlet EEZ. 

The SSC identified the following data needs that would provide an immediate benefit to Tier 3 salmon assessments: 

● There should be ongoing genetic sampling of EEZ salmon landings. Priorities include genetic sampling of 

sockeye to identify the stock structure and timing of the different sockeye runs in the EEZ fishery, and 

Chinook sampling to assess the importance of Kenai large late run Chinook in EEZ fishery and to evaluate 

the prevalence of non-Cook Inlet Chinook in the fishery. 

●  It is a concern that monitoring of salmon escapement in Cook Inlet has decreased over time. Ideally, each 

Tier 3 aggregate stock complex should have several monitored indicator stocks. Increased support for the 

existing coho indicator stocks is the highest priority. 

There were a number of minor errors in the SAFE document that were communicated to the SAFE team. 

  

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 148 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              124 

Appendix E. Social and Economic Considerations 
The following is a preliminary excerpt from Section 4 of the 2026 environmental assessment (EA) for Cook Inlet 

salmon harvest specifications, a draft of which will be submitted to the Council prior to the February 2026 Council 

meeting. The harvest specs EA addresses the statutory requirements of the National Environmental Policy Act 

(NEPA) to provide the analytical background for decision-making. This section of the EA is being included in the 

SAFE report for the purpose of providing the SSC and Council with social and economic information pertinent to 

the CI EEZ salmon fishery. A draft EA will be published with the proposed harvest specifications; and, after 

considering public comments, NMFS will publish the final EA along with the final rule that establishes harvest 

specifications for the upcoming fishing season. The draft harvest specifications EA analyzes a range of alternative 

harvest strategies: 

●      Alternative 1 – The no action alternative. Harvest specifications are not established, total allowable catch 

(TAC) is not set for any salmon species, and salmon fishing would not be permitted in the CI EEZ. 

●      Alternative 2 – Status quo and the preferred alternative. Harvest specifications are established following 

the methods and procedures in the Salmon FMP. To account for uncertainty, TACs are set less than the 

preseason overfishing limit (OFLPRE) and less than or equal to the combined acceptable biological catch (ABC) 

of the salmon stocks and stock complexes for each salmon species. 

●      Alternative 3 – The alternative that represents the highest allowable harvest under the Salmon FMP. 

Harvest specifications are established with TACs set equal to the OFLPRE. This would remove any buffer to 

account for scientific or management uncertainty such that OFLPRE = ABC = TAC. 

 

● Economic and Community Considerations 

The preferred alternative would establish TACs in the annual harvest specifications for the CI EEZ salmon 

fishery. The action would thus allow fishery participants to harvest salmon within the Federal waters of the CI 

EEZ, with ADF&G management of the fishery inside of three nautical miles of shore. The action does not 

materially affect other aspects of the fishery such as gear, vessel restrictions, processing, buying, sport and 

personal use fisheries, or any related community effects of the overall fishery. Such potential impacts of the CI 

EEZ salmon fishery were fully explored within the A16 EA/RIR, and that analysis has been fully incorporated 

into this document by reference. 

The economic baseline condition for the Federal CI EEZ salmon fishery began with regulations implementing 

amendment 16 to the Salmon FMP and with harvest specifications, set by regulation, for the first year of this 

fishery in 2024. Thus, participation, harvest, and value data for 2024 and 2025 are the only economic data 

available under present management with which the action alternatives can be compared.  

o Cook Inlet EEZ Estimates of Salmon Fisheries Revenue in 2024 and 2025 

▪ Harvest and Participation in 2024 and 2025 

A summary of UCI harvests and economic data can be found in the ADF&G season summary reports for 2024 

(Lipka and Stumpf 2024) and 2025 (Lipka and Stumpf 2025b), and in the NMFS catch and landings reports3. 

Table E1 summarizes CI EEZ harvests for 2024-2025. Estimated ex-vessel values for the CI EEZ fishery (Table 

E2) use Federal harvest estimates and State estimates of ex-vessel prices ($/lb.) (Lipka and Stumpf 2025b) for 

each species.  

The data provided in Tables E1 and E2 below summarize data from 2024 - 2025 harvests in the CI EEZ, which 

provide a comparison of harvest (number of fish), total value ($), and the proportional value for each salmon 

species harvested by drift gillnet Federal waters. Note that value by species uses an ADF&G preliminary price 

per pound (Lipka and Stumpf 2025b), which reports harvest in numbers of fish not pounds. These data have 

                                                      
3 https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/alaska/commercial-fishing/fisheries-catch-and-landings-reports-alaska#cook-inlet-salmon 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 149 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              125 

been used to calculate a value per fish that has been applied to the number of fish harvested in Federal waters. 

This value may differ from the estimated price per pound if weights per fish vary considerably between 

subdistricts.  

For the 2025 CI EEZ drift gillnet fishery, total salmon harvests were; 46 Chinook, 385,905 sockeye, 15,444 

coho, 6,080 pink, and 27,236 chum salmon; for a total harvest of 434,711 salmon caught (Table E1). 

For the State’s UCI drift gillnet fishery, total 2025 salmon harvests were: 67 Chinook, 3,135,793 sockeye, 

73,613 coho, 79,008 chum, and 31,843 pink salmon for a total harvest of 3,320,324 salmon, and 404 permits 

(Lipka and Stumpf 2025b, Table E2).  

The total estimated value of the CI EEZ drift gillnet fishery in 2025 was $3.9 M and sockeye salmon was the 

dominant species harvested, accounting for 94% ($3.6 M) of that value (Table 4). In comparison, the total 

estimated value of the State’s UCI drift gillnet fishery was $36 M with sockeye salmon contributing 98% of that 

value (Lipka and Stumpf 2025b).  

The following summaries are for salmon species harvested in the CI EEZ drift gillnet fishery during the 2025 

season. These data should be considered preliminary with updates provided in future analyses as the data are 

further analyzed. The A16 EA/RIR provided historical estimates of harvests in the CI EEZ Area (prior to the 

advent of the Federal CI EEZ salmon fishery); however, the methodology used for the historical estimates are 

not directly comparable to the Federal fish ticket data that are available since the implementation of the CI EEZ 

fishery in 2024.  

Chinook salmon: A total of 46 Chinook salmon were harvested, and using an estimated average price of $3.92 

per pound for Chinook salmon, the estimated ex-vessel value of the harvest was $1,643. 

Sockeye salmon: A total of 385,905 sockeye salmon were harvested, and using an estimated average price of 

$1.73 per pound, the estimated total ex-vessel value of the harvest was $3.6 M. 

Coho salmon: A total of 15,444 coho salmon were harvested, and using an estimated average price of $0.77 per 

pound, the estimated total ex-vessel value of the harvest was $99,587. 

Pink salmon: A total of 6,080 pink salmon were harvested, and using an estimated average price of $0.35 per 

pound, the estimated total ex-vessel value of the harvest was $23,646. 

Chum salmon: A total of 27,236 chum salmon were harvested, and using an estimated average price of $0.38 

per pound, the estimated total  

  

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 150 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              126 

 

Table E 1. 2024-2025 CI EEZ commercial drift gillnet salmon harvests (number of fish). Data should be considered 

preliminary. 

Year Sockeye Chinook Coho Pink Chum 

2024 324,837 31 4,439 6,250 28,805 

2025 385,905 46 15,444 6,080 27,236 

Total 710,742 77 19,883 12,330 56,041 

  

Table E 2. CI EEZ commercial drift gillnet salmon harvests value (U.S. $) and the proportional value (%) of drift 

gillnet harvests that occurred in Federal CI EEZ Area waters. Data from ADF&G season summaries (Lipka and 

Stumpf 2024; Lipka and Stumpf 2025b) and the NMFS catch and landings reports. 

Year Sockeye Chinook Coho Pink Chum 

2024 $3,250,835 95.43% $1,275 0.04% $12,374 0.36% $4,797 0.14% $137,069 4.02% 

2025 $3,645,181 93.56% $1,643 0.04% $99,587 2.56% $23,646 0.61% $126,170 3.24% 

Total $6,896,016 94.43% $2,918 0.04% $111,961 1.53% $28,443 0.39% $263,239 3.60% 

 

▪ Impacts of the Alternatives on Fishery Revenues 

The harvest and revenue data for 2024 and 2025 (Tables E1-E2) represents the only years of available Federal 

management data for the CI EEZ salmon fishery with which to compare potential effects of the alternatives. That being 

said, one can assume that if the no action alternative were chosen some of the Federal waters harvest and value would be 

forgone and that would create “revenue at risk” of an unknown amount. The actual revenue loss that may occur could be 

partially mitigated by larger harvests inside State waters, however, as a result, this could also reduce the efficiency of the 

fishery due to crowding on the grounds and greater competition. This scenario could cause potential cost increases due 

to these inefficiencies and could have negative effects on vessel safety if a race for fish scenario develops. 

Alternative 2 would set TAC specifications using the best scientific information available, including accounting for 

fishery run cycles. It is anticipated that the 2026 inseason management will be similar to the previous two years, with 

respect to the overall number of open periods. The proposed harvest specifications are being developed on a parallel 

track and it is anticipated that, barring unforeseen circumstances such as market shocks, the 2026 Federal fishery harvest 

and value will not differ significantly from the past two years. 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 151 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              127 

Alternative 3 represents the upper bounds of potential fishery harvests, in that it relaxes biological stock assessment 

constraints to their upper limits (i.e., no buffer of the OFLPRE to account for scientific uncertainty) and relaxes 

management constraints (i.e., no buffer applied to the ABC to account for management uncertainty) to increase potential 

harvest and the value of the CI EEZ salmon fishery. While harvests and fishery value would be maximized under this 

alternative relative to the other alternatives considered, such gains would also come with the possibility of increased 

conservation risk to future returns of salmon across UCI and risks to their future sustainability. 

o  Number and Description of Small Entities Regulated by This Proposed Rule (Regulatory Flexibility 

Act Considerations) 

For Regulatory Flexibility Act purposes only, NMFS has established a small business size standard for 

businesses, including their affiliates, whose primary industry is commercial fishing (see 50 CFR 200.2). A 

business primarily engaged in commercial fishing (North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) 

code 11411) is classified as a small business if it is independently owned and operated, is not dominant in its 

field of operation (including its affiliates) and has combined annual gross receipts not in excess of $11 million 

for all its affiliated operations worldwide. In addition, the Small Business Administration has established a small 

business size standard applicable to charter fishing vessels (NAICS code 713990) of $9 million. 

This action would directly regulate commercial salmon fishing vessels, charter guides, and charter businesses 

operating in and fishing for salmon in the CI EEZ salmon fishery. Because NMFS expects the State to maintain 

current requirements for commercial salmon fishing vessels landing salmon in UCI to hold a Commercial 

Fisheries Entry Commission (CFEC) S03H permit, NMFS does not expect participation from non-S03H permit 

holders in the federally managed CI EEZ salmon fishery. Therefore, the number of S03H permit holders 

represents the maximum number of directly regulated entities for the commercial CI EEZ salmon fishery. 

Therefore, the number of S03H permit holders represents the maximum number of directly regulated entities for 

the commercial CI EEZ salmon fishery. From 2020 to 2024, there were an average of 544 S03H permits in 

circulation, with an average of 292 active permit holders, all of which are considered small entities based on the 

$11 million threshold. The evaluation of the number of directly regulated small entities and their revenue was 

conducted via custom query by staff of the Alaska Fish Information Network utilizing both ADF&G and fish 

ticket revenue data and the Alaska CFEC permits database. A total of 244 Federal waters permits were issued in 

2024 with 206 fishing in Federal waters. A total of 247 permits were issued in 2025, with 218 permits fishing in 

Federal waters. These permit counts represent the first two years of the program and the only years for which we 

have Salmon Federal Fishing Permits (SFFP) permit data. Revenue data is not yet available for SFFP permit 

holders. 

The commercial charter fishing entities directly regulated by the salmon harvest specifications are the entities 

that hold commercial charter licenses and that choose to fish for salmon in the CI EEZ where these harvest 

specifications will apply. Salmon charter operators are required to register with the State of Alaska annually and 

the numbers of registered charter operators in the CI varies. Available data indicates that from 2019 to 2023 the 

total number of directly regulated charter vessel small entities that have participated in the CI EEZ was 209. 

From 2019 to 2023, there was an annual average of 92 charter guides that fished for salmon at least once in the 

CI EEZ. All of these entities, if they choose to fish in the CI EEZ, are directly regulated by this action and all 

are considered small entities based on the $9 million threshold. Updated charter vessel counts for 2024 to 

present have not yet been published.  

  

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 152 of 154

https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-50/section-200.2
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-50/section-200.2


Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              128 

o Impacts of the Alternatives on Communities 

This EA analyzes alternative harvest specification scenarios and harvest specifications do not implement any 

regulatory actions, such as community landings and permit and vessel ownership or location within the CI EEZ 

salmon fishery. This proposed action would implement harvest specifications for the federally-managed salmon 

fishery in the CI EEZ that are consistent with the goals and objectives of the Salmon FMP; provide for the 

sustained participation of fishing communities, harvesters, and processors; and balance the allowable harvest of 

target salmon stocks with ecosystem needs. This proposed action is necessary for the continued implementation 

of the Salmon FMP and for NMFS to manage a viable salmon fishery in the CI EEZ while preventing 

overfishing. A detailed assessment on fishing communities in UCI is provided in the A16 EA/RIR section 

4.5.1.5 Fishing Communities. 

 

During the 2025 the CI EEZ salmon fishery landings (by weight) were distributed among six Alaska home 

ports; Cordova (2%), Homer (39%), Kasilof (23%), Kenai (35%), Ninilchik (1%), and the other landing port is 

excluded due to confidentiality. Sockeye contributed 88% or about 1.9 M lbs to the total landings, all other 

species combined contributed the remaining 12% of total landed weight. There were a total of 218 participants 

out of the 247 federally registered permits for the CI EEZ salmon fishery and a total of 7 federally registered 

processing permits, see Section 1.4 and 1.6 of this EA for additional fisheries descriptions. Due to 

confidentiality not all landings and processing data was able to be provided, but the presented data include the 

majority of available landings data. 

Under Alternative 1, salmon fishing in the CI EEZ would not be permitted for any gear. This would result in a 

loss of revenue to individuals, processors, fishing communities (landing tax), and tribal communities (which 

could lose revenue if tribal citizens who commercial fish and reside in those communities are unable to 

participate in the CI EEZ salmon fishery). Presumably harvest opportunity within State waters would maintain 

the status quo for salmon management unless additional compensatory harvest opportunities were provided. If 

there were not compensatory harvest opportunities in State waters then spawning escapements for Kenai and 

Kasilof sockeye salmon and other stocks may greatly exceed their goals. As a result, there could be substantial 

declines in productivity for the impacted brood years, leading to potentially reduced returns during future years, 

and reduced revenue for individuals, processors, and communities. 

In 2025, 434,711 salmon were landed from the CI EEZ, or approximately 12% of the total salmon harvest in the 

UCI commercial drift gillnet fishery. During a year of low returns to UCI prohibiting fishing in the CI EEZ may 

not pose substantial harm to communities. However, if returns were average or above then potential lost 

opportunity and revenue could cause greater economic harm to individuals, processors, and communities. 

Alternative 1 is the no action alternative and is not preferred. 

Under Alternative 2, it is expected that CI EEZ salmon harvests will be near historic harvest levels, including 

harvests under Federal management in 2024 and 2025, such that the CI drift gillnet fleet would still be expected 

to maintain a significant portion of its historical catch in the CI EEZ Area. The available yield (abundance of a 

salmon stock in excess of escapement needs) would be harvested in the CI EEZ and in State waters to the extent 

practicable. For 2026, The proposed action would implement harvest limits that allow for harvests consistent 

with historical levels for most species (other than coho) and are expected to maintain existing opportunities for 

fishery participants. Therefore, the impacts of Alternative 2 on individuals, processors, and communities are not 

likely to be significant. 

Alternative 3 would set the TACs equal to the OFLPRE; this represents the highest allowable harvest under the 

Salmon FMP and would remove any buffer to account for scientific or management uncertainty such that 

OFLPRE = ABC = TAC. This alternative would substantially increase harvests on Tier 3 salmon stocks relative to 

recent historical harvests. Based on the methods recommended by the SSC and described in the 2026 CI EEZ 

SAFE report, harvest under Alternative 3 (at the level of the OFLPRE) would equate to the highest average 

historical harvest across a generation for the years 1999-2025 (Appendix 1 Section 4). Also, due to the mixed 

stock and multi-species nature of harvests in the CI EEZ salmon fishery, harvest at the OFLPRE level for the Tier 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 153 of 154



Preliminary 2026 Cook Inlet EEZ Area Salmon SAFE Report, January 2026              129 

1 stocks could result in harvest above the OFLPRE level for the Tier 3 stocks. Thus, the deleterious impacts to 

Tier 3 stocks could include overfishing these stocks and some stocks entering or approaching an overfished 

condition.  

This alternative could potentially lead to an initial increase in revenue to individuals, processors, and 

communities relative to Alternative 2. However, given the lack of buffers to account for scientific and 

management uncertainty, it’s possible that some escapement goals would not be achieved, potentially resulting 

in a future of diminished fish returns and overall revenue, similar to Alternative 1. Additionally, Alternative 3 

results in a greater risk of overfishing, where OFLPRE = ABC = TAC, thereby affecting future yield and harvest 

opportunity. The long-term impacts of Alternative 3 could include spawning escapement targets not being 

achieved for some stocks during some years and some stocks approaching an overfished condition or becoming 

overfished. Therefore, it has the risk of negative community level harm both economically and biologically and 

is not the preferred alternative. 

 

 

[1] https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/alaska/commercial-fishing/fisheries-catch-and-landings-reports-alaska#cook-inlet-

salmon 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MSB Fish and Wildlife Commission 1.29.26 Page 154 of 154


	FWC Jan 29 Meeting Cover Page.pdf
	Planning and Land Use Department - Planning Division

	Binder1.pdf
	MSB FWC Special Meeting Agenda 1.29.26.pdf
	BOF Proposal 186.pdf
	PROPOSAL 186
	5 AAC 21.353 Central District Drift Gillnet Fishery Management Plan.
	Reduce commercial salmon fishing opportunity with drift gillnet gear in the Central District of the Cook Inlet Area, as follows:


	Mayor DeVries Draft Letter.pdf
	2026-27 FWC Board of Fisheries Strategy.pdf
	Board of Fisheries 2024 - After Action Report 2024 final.pdf
	2026 Cook Inlet SAFE Report.pdf




